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FABIAN 
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 
WESTERN DIVISION 

(UNDER SEAL) 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Cr. No. 12-2.017 3 ~ 

18 U.S.C. § 2 
Plaintiff, 18 U.S.C. § 371 

v. 

CLARENCE MUMFORD, 

18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(1) 
18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(2) 
18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(5) 
18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(7) 
18 U.S.C. § 1028A(a)(1) 
18 U.S.C. § 1341 Defendant. 
18 U.S.C. § 1343 
42 U.S.C. § 408(a)(7)(8) 

INDICTMENT 

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: 
INTRODUCTION 

1. At all times material herein: 

a. Educational Testing Service (<lETS") was a private nonprofit educational testing 

and assessment organization with headquarters in Princeton, New Jersey. One series of 

tests written and administered by ETS was the PRAXIS series, components of which are 

required by many states for individuals entering the teaching profession or for teachers 

obtaining subject-specific endorsements on their teaching licenses. 

b. Arkansas, Mississippi and Tennessee were among the states that required 

individuals entering the teaching profession and teachers obtaining subject-specific 

endorsements on their teaching licenses to take and pass PRAXIS examinations. 

c. In Arkansas, other than certain out-of-state teachers obtaining reciprocal 

licenses, participants in a temporary non-traditional licensure program, and professionals 

teaching a limited number of classes per day, teachers were required to take and pass 

PRAXIS examinations to be licensed. 
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d. In Mississippi, other than certain out-of-state teachers obtaining reciprocal 

licenses, teachers were required to take and pass PRAXIS examinations to be licensed. 

In the past, Mississippi has issued temporary transitional/emergency licenses that did 

not require passage of PRAXIS examinations. 

e. In Tennessee, other than teachers who obtained their licenses prior to 1984, 

certain out-of-state teachers obtaining reciprocal licenses, and teachers using 

transitional licenses, teachers were required to take and pass PRAXIS examinations to 

be licensed. 

f. ETS charged fees to individuals who took the PRAXIS examinations. The results 

of the examination were relied upon by the Departments of Education in Arkansas, 

Mississippi and Tennessee for the issuance of licenses. 

g. Because Tennessee and Mississippi required an individual's social security 

number to process educator certification paperwork, individuals taking PRAXIS 

examinations were required to provide their social security numbers to ETS as part of 

the PRAXIS registration process. Because Arkansas required the last four digits of an 

individual's social security number to process educator certification paperwork, 

individuals taking PRAXIS examinations were required to provide the last four digits of 

their social security numbers to ETS as part of the PRAXIS registration process. 

h. ETS owned copyrights in the PRAXIS examinations and questions, and the 

registered trademark, "PRAXIS," as used on the examinations and score reports. ETS 

also developed specialized test administration and scoring services for the PRAXIS 

examinations. To keep its PRAXIS product exclusive, secure and confidential, ETS 

restricted access to and use of its copyrighted PRAXIS examinations and questions and 

trademarked PRAXIS score reports, as well as its PRAXIS test administration and 
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scoring services. 

i. Individuals taking the PRAXIS examination tests registered for the tests online. 

The registration process therefore involved wire communications from the computers at 

which registrants registered with ETS in Princeton, New Jersey. 

j. Individuals taking the PRAXIS examination tests signed confidentiality 

statements certifying that the person taking the test was the person whose name and 

address was used in the application process. In addition, those taking the test agreed to 

maintain the full confidentiality of all test questions and agreed not to reproduce and/or 

disclose any test question to anyone. Individuals unwilling to agree to these conditions 

would not be permitted to take an examination. Each individual taking a PRAXIS was 

also required to present his or her driver's license at the test-taking center. 

k. Once an exam was completed, exam results were wired from the test location in 

Arkansas, Mississippi or Tennessee to ETS in Princeton, New Jersey for processing. 

The individuals in whose name the exams were registered obtained their scores either 

via a score report mailed to them by ETS or via interstate wire communication through 

use of the internet. 

I. ETS developed substantial goodwill from development and administration of the 

PRAXIS examinations, some of which was based on the integrity of the testing 

processes. ETS had property interests in the PRAXIS product, including (i) materials 

bearing its trademarks, such as the PRAXIS examinations and score reports, (ii) its 

copyrighted materials, such as the PRAXIS examinations and their questions, and (iii) 

the ETS-specified test administration and scoring services for the PRAXIS examinations. 

ETS also had property interests in the value of its goodwill, which is an asset of ETS and 

is based, in part, on maintaining the integrity of the testing and security process. 
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m. Tennessee teachers' licenses, issued by the Tennessee Department of 

Education, provided licensees with access to substantial economic benefits. In addition 

to their salaries, Tennessee teachers obtained coverage under the Tennessee 

Consolidated Retirement System, which provided retirement, disability and survivor 

benefits. 

n. Arkansas teachers' licenses, issued by the Arkansas Department of Education, 

provided licensees with access to substantial economic benefits. In addition to their 

salaries, Arkansas teachers obtained coverage under the Arkansas Teacher Retirement 

System, which provided retirement, age and service, disability, survivor and purchasing 

service credit benefits. 

o. Mississippi teachers' licenses, issued by the Mississippi Department of 

Education, provided licensees with access to SUbstantial economic benefits. In addition 

to their salaries, Mississippi teachers obtained coverage under the Public Employees' 

Retirement System of Mississippi, which provides retirement, disability, and survivor 

benefits. 

p. Possession of a teacher's license enabled licensees to contract with school 

districts. The school districts' contracts had economic value to the contracting districts 

and to the teachers who contracted with them. 

COUNT 1 

THE CONSPIRACY 

2. Beginning in or about January 1995, the exact date being unknown to the Grand Jury, 

and continuing until at least on or about March 13, 2010, in the Western District of Tennessee, 

and elsewhere, the defendant, 

------------------------------------------------ CLARE N C EMU M FORO --------------------------------------------
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did unlawfully, willfully and knowingly combine, conspire, confederate and agree with Memphis 

City Schools employees and/or former employees hereinafter identified as "J8", "FK", "CS" and 

"SS", and with other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury to commit offenses against 

the United States, that is: 

a. To use and cause to be used the United States mail in furtherance of a scheme 

and artifice to defraud and for obtaining money and property by means of false and 

fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, in violation of Title 18, United 

States Code, Section 1341; 

b. To use and cause to be used interstate wire communications in furtherance of a 

scheme and artifice to defraud and for obtaining money or property by means of false or 

fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, in violation of Title 18, United 

States Code, Section 1343; 

c. Producing an identification document, authentication feature, or false. 

identification document without lawful authority, in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 1028(a)(1); 

d. Transferring an identification document, authentication feature, or a false 

identification document knowing that the document or feature was produced without 

lawful authority, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(2); 

e. Producing, transferring or possessing a document-making implement or 

authentication feature with the intent such document-making implement or authentication 

feature will be used in the production of a false identification document, in violation of 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(5); 

f. Transferring, possessing or using, without lawful authority, a means of 

identification of another person with the intent to commit, or to aid or abet, or in 
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connection with, any unlawful activity that constitutes a violation of Federal law, or that 

constitutes a felony under any applicable State or local law; in violation of Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 1028(a)(7); 

g. During and in relation to the commission of violations of Title 18, United States 

Code, Sections 1341, 1343, 1028(a)(1), 1028(a)(2) and 1028(a)(5); knowingly 

transferring, possessing, and using, without lawful authority, a means of identification of 

another person, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1 028A(a)(1); and 

h. Falsely representing a Social Security number to be assigned to a person other 

than the person to whom the number is truly assigned, with intent to deceive, for the 

purpose of obtaining any payment or any other purpose, in violation of Title 42, United 

States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(8). 

OBJECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY 

3. The objects of the conspiracy are set forth as follows: 

a. It was an object of the conspiracy to defraud ETS of property by obtaining access 

to and use of ETS's trademarked materials, copyrighted materials and services, by 

obtaining ETS's official score report, and by obtaining the benefit of, and undermining, 

ETS's goodwill and the value of its trademark and copyright. 

b. It was an object of the conspiracy to defraud the Arkansas, Mississippi and 

Tennessee Departments of Education of licensing materials by falsely representing to 

the said Departments of Education that teachers and aspiring teachers seeking licenses 

and endorsements on teaching licenses had, in fact, passed required PRAXIS 

examinations when, as DEFENDANT MUMFORD then well knew, the teachers and 

aspiring teachers had not passed the required examinations. 

c. It was an object of the conspiracy to defraud local school districts in Arkansas, 
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Mississippi and Tennessee by falsely representing to the school districts that teachers 

using DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S services had passed PRAXIS examinations and were 

properly licensed and thereby causing school districts to enter into contractual 

relationships with individuals who had not, in fact, passed PRAXIS examinations and 

were not, in fact, properly licensed. 

d. It was an object of the conspiracy to produce false identification documents 

without lawful authority; and to transfer identification documents, authentication features 

and false identification documents knowing they were produced without lawful authority; 

and to transfer and possess authentication features knowing they would be used in 

production of a false identification document; and to transfer, possess and use means of 

identification of other persons, knowingly and with intent to commit, and to aid and abet, 

and in connection with activities constituting violations of federal law. 

e. It was an object of the conspiracy for test-takers to use the social security 

numbers of individuals who had negotiated with DEFENDANT MUMFORD to have 

tests taken as part of the PRAXIS registration process to register for the PRAXIS 

examinations. 

f. It was a principle object and purpose of the conspiracy to carry out and to 

execute the above-listed objects of the conspiracy for the ultimate personal gain, 

benefit, profit, advantage, and accommodation of DEFENDANT MUMFORD and his co-

conspirators. 

MANNER AND MEANS OF THE 
CONSPIRACY AND SCHEME TO DEFRAUD 

4. The manner and means by which the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud 

functioned is more particularly set forth as follows: 

a. It was part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 
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DEFENDANT MUMFORD was an individual to whom teachers or individuals aspiring to 

be teachers who were - and/or believed they were - unable to pass PRAXIS 

examinations could go to arrange for another individual to take PRAXIS examinations on 

behalf of each teacher or aspiring teacher. Teachers and aspiring teachers in schools in 

Memphis and Shelby County, as well as in Arkansas and in Mississippi, made use of 

DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S services. 

b. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 

DEFENDANT MUMFORD directed teachers or individuals aspiring to be teachers to 

provide DEFENDANT MUMFORD with their driver's' licenses, often through the United 

States mail. DEFENDANT MUMFORD paid co-conspirators JB, FK, CS and SS and 

other individuals to take tests on behalf of the teachers or aspiring teachers (hereinafter 

"test-takers"), and obtained the test-takers' driver's licenses as well. DEFENDANT 

MUMFORD then created fraudulent driver's licenses with the information of a teacher or 

aspiring teacher and a superimposed or otherwise attached photograph of a test-taker. 

c. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 

DEFENDANT MUMFORD gave the teachers or aspiring teachers instructions regarding 

when and where to register for the PRAXIS examination for which the teacher or 

aspiring teacher sought a passing score. Sometimes DEFENDANT MUMFORD 

completed the registration for the teacher or aspiring teacher. The registration was done 

online. DEFENDANT MUMFORD sometimes used his credit card or otherwise 

instructed the teacher or aspiring teacher to use his credit card to pay the registration fee 

for the teacher or aspiring teacher. DEFENDANT MUMFORD also sometimes used his 

electronic mail address or otherwise instructed the teacher or aspiring teacher to use his 

electronic mail as the contact electronic mail address during the PRAXIS registration 
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process. 

d. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 

the teacher or aspiring teacher's social security number was used in the PRAXIS 

registration process. Often, DEFENDANT MUMFORD instructed teachers or aspiring 

teachers to send him the teacher's or aspiring teacher's social security number along 

with the teacher's or aspiring teacher's driver's license, if the driver's license did not 

contain a social security number. The score reports mailed by ETS contained the social 

security numbers of the teachers or aspiring teachers. 

e. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 

DEFENDANT MUMFORD directed the teacher or aspiring teacher to pay him for his 

services. Payments fell in ranges varying from approximately $1,500 per test to 

approximately $3,000 per test, depending on what test and the time frame in which the 

test was taken. The payments were sometimes in the form of cash and, more often, in 

the form of cashier's checks or money orders. Sometimes the payments were hand 

delivered, but most often DEFENDANT MUMFORD directed the teacher or aspiring to 

teacher to send the payment via United States mail. DEFENDANT MUMFORD obtained 

tens of thousands of dollars from teachers and aspiring teachers during the course of the 

conspiracy. 

f. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 

DEFENDANT MUMFORD paid the test-takers for their services. 

g. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that test-takers would 

appear at the test sites, which were located in Arkansas, Mississippi and Tennessee, 

and falsely identify themselves as individuals in whose names the registrations for the 

tests were completed. 
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h. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that the test-taker, posing 

as the individual in whose name the registration for the test was completed, would then 

sign the confidentiality statement in the name of the person whose name and address 

was used in the application process. 

i. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that, once the 

examination was processed, the results were mailed to a location controlled by 

DEFENDANT MUMFORD or to one of his co-conspirators in Arkansas, Mississippi or 

Tennessee. 

OVERT ACTS IN FURTHERANCE OF THE CONSPIRACY 

5. At all times hereinafter mentioned, during the pendency of the conspiracy, the 

following overt acts were engaged in, in the Western District of Tennessee and elsewhere, at 

least one of which furthered and effected the goals of said combination, conspiracy, 

confederation and agreement: 

a. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "eM" include 

the following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

1 01.12.2008 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
eM or someone acting on eM's behalf registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on 
January 12, 2008 in eM's name by a test-taker sent 
by DEFENDANT MUMFORD. The registration 
involved the use of eM's social security number. 

2 01.12.2008 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD obtained J8 and eM's 
driver's licenses. DEFENDANT MUMFORD used the 
driver's licenses to create a false identification with 
eM's name and identifying information, and J8's 
photograph. 
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3 01.12.2008 JB took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of CM. To 
take the examination, JB presented a driver's license 
with his own picture and CM's name and identifying 
information. 

b. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "DA" include 

the following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

4 01.20.2009 

5 04.25.2009 

6 04.25.2009 

7 12.07.2009 

8 12.29.2009 

9 01.09.2010 

10 01.09.2010 

DA obtained a cashier's check in the amount of 
$2,700.00 that was provided to DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD and deposited into DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

DA or someone acting on DA's behalf registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on April 
25, 2009 in DA's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD. The registration involved 
the use of DA's social security number. 

A test-taker hired by DEFENDANT MUMFORD took a 
PRAXIS examination on behalf of DA. 

DA obtained a bank check in the amount of $1,500.00 
that was provided to DEFENDANT MUMFORD and 
deposited into DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust 
bank account. 

DA sent a mailing to DEFENDANT MUMFORD. 

Sometime in approximation to but before this date, DA 
or someone acting on DA's behalf registered online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on January 9, 
2010 in DA's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD. The registration involved 
the use of DA's social security number. 

Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD obtained FK and DA's 
driver's licenses. DEFENDANT MUMFORD used the 
driver's licenses to create a false identification with 
DA's name and identifying information, and FK's 
photograph. 
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11 01.09.2010 FK took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of DA. To 
take the examination, FK presented a driver's license 
with her own picture and DA's name and identifying 
information. 

12 02.03.2010 DA obtained a Commercial Bank personal money 
order in the amount of $200.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

13 02.03.2010 DA obtained a bank check in the amount of $1,300.00 
that was provided to DEFENDANT MUMFORD and 
deposited into DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust 
bank account. 

c. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "JH" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

14 01.26.2009 

15 04.25.2009 

16 04.25.2009 

17 04.25.2009 

JH obtained a bank check in the amount of $2,700.00 
that was provided to DEFENDANT MUMFORD and 
deposited into DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust 
bank account. 

JH or someone acting on JH's behalf registered online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on April 25, 
2009 in JH's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD. The registration involved 
the use of JH's social security number. 

Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD obtained SS and JH's 
driver's licenses. DEFENDANT MUMFORD used the 
driver's licenses to create a false identification with 
JH's name and identifying information, and SS's 
photograph. 

SS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of JH. To 
take the examination, SS presented a driver's license 
with her own picture and JH's name and identifying 
information. 
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1B 12.14.2009 JH obtained a bank check in the amount of $1,500.00 
that was provided to DEFENDANT MUMFORD and 
deposited into DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust 
bank account. 

19 12.30.2009 JH mailed her driver's license, social security number, 
and PRAXIS admission ticket to DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD. 

d. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "FJ" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

20 11.0B.200B Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD obtained SS and FJ's 
driver'S licenses. DEFENDANT MUMFORD used the 
driver's licenses to create a false identification with 
FJ's name and identifying information, and SS's 
photograph. 

21 11.12.200B On or about this date, SS attempted to take a PRAXIS 
examination on behalf of FJ, but test monitors 
detected that SS was not FJ. The phone number 
listed on the registration forms was DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD'S phone number. The registration was 
paid for with DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S credit card 
number. 

22 01.02.2009 FJ or someone acting on FJ's behalf registered online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on January 10, 
2009 in FJ's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD. The registration involved 
the use of FJ's social security number. 

23 01.10.2009 A test-taker hired by DEFENDANT MUMFORD took a 
PRAXIS examination on behalf of FJ. 

24 02.27.2009 FJ prepared a personal bank check in the amount of 
$500.00 that was provided to DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD and deposited into DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

25 04.10.2009 FJ sent a mailing to DEFENDANT MUMFORD. 

e. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "JS" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 
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26 04.25.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD obtained CS and JS's 
driver's licenses. DEFENDANT MUMFORD used the 
driver's licenses to create a false identification with 
JS's name and identifying information, and CS's 
photograph. 

27 04.25.2009 JS or someone acting on JS's behalf registered online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on April 25, 
2009 in JS's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD. The registration involved 
the use of JS's social security number. 

28 04.25.2009 CS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of JS. To 
take the examination, CS presented a driver's license 
with his own picture and JS's name and identifying 
information. 

29 04.25.2009 CS took a second PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
JS. To take the examination, CS presented a driver's 
license with his own picture and JS's name and 
identifying information. 

30 06.13.2009 JS or someone acting on JS's behalf registered online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on June 13, 
2009 in JS's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD. DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD'S credit card was used to pay for the 
registration. The registration involved the use of JS's 
social security number. 

31 06.13.2009 CS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of JS. To 
take the examination, CS presented a driver's license 
with his own picture and JS's name and identifying 
information. 

f. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as liES" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 
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32 06.13.2009 EB or someone acting on EB's behalf registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on June 
13, 2009 in EB's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD. DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD'S credit card was used to pay for the 
registration. The registration involved the use of EB's 
social security number. 

33 06.13.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD obtained CS and EB's 
driver's licenses. DEFENDANT MUMFORD used the 
driver's licenses to create a false identification with 
EB's name and identifying information, and CS's 
photograph. 

34 06.13.2009 CS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of EB. To 
take the examination, CS presented a driver's license 
with his own picture and EB's name and identifying 
information. 

35 06.13.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD assisted and provided 
instructions to EB in registering for a PRAXIS 
examination to be taken at Arkansas State University 
in Session I, June 13, 2009. The registration involved 
the use of EB's social security number. 

36 06.13.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD obtained JB and EB's 
driver's licenses. DEFENDANT MUMFORD used the 
driver's licenses to create a false identification with 
EB's name and identifying information, and JB's 
photograph. 

37 06.13.2009 JB took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of EB. To 
take the examination, JB presented a driver's license 
with his own picture and EB's name and identifying 
information. 

g. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "MT" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 
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38 04.25.2009 MT or someone acting on Mrs behalf registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on April 
25, 2009 in Mrs name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD. The registration involved 
the use of Mrs social security number. 

39 04.25.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD obtained SS and Mrs 
driver's licenses. DEFENDANT MUMFORD used the 
driver's licenses to create a false identification with 
Mrs name and identifying information, and SS's 
photograph. 

40 04.25.2009 SS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of MT. To 
take the examination, SS presented a driver's license 
with her own picture and Mrs name and identifying 
information. 

41 04.25.2009 SS took a second PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
MT. To take the examination, SS presented a driver's 
license with her own picture and Mrs name and 
identifying information. 

42 06.13.2009 MT or someone acting on Mrs behalf registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be taken at 
Arkansas State University in Session I, June 13, 
2009. The registration involved the use of Mrs social 
security number. 

43 06.13.2009 SS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of MT. To 
take the examination, SS presented a driver's license 
with her own picture and Mrs name and identifying 
information. 

44 06.13.2009 MT or someone acting on Mrs behalf registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be taken at 
Arkansas State University in Session II, June 13, 
2009. The registration involved the use of Mrs social 
security number. 
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45 06.13.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD obtained JB and MT's 
driver's licenses. DEFENDANT MUMFORD used the 
driver's licenses to create a false identification with 
MT's name and identifying information, and JB's 
photograph. 

46 06.13.2009 JB took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of MT. To 
take the examination, JB presented a driver's license 
with his own picture and MT's name and identifying 
information. 

h. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "KC" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

4 7 1 0.13.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $650.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

48 10.13.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $1,000.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

49 11.30.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $1,000.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

50 11.30.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $1,000.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

51 11.30.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $500.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD 

52 12.11.2009 KC sent a mailing to DEFENDANT MUMFORD. 

53 01.07.2010 KC sent items to DEFENDANT MUMFORD via Delta 
Bus Lines. 

17 
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54 02.09.2010 KC sent a mailing to DEFENDANT MUMFORD. 

i. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "GK" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

55 01.15.2010 GK obtained a cashier's check in the amount of 
$3,000.00 that he sent to DEFENDANT MUMFORD. 

56 03.12.2010 GK sent a Western Union Money Order in the amount 
of $500.00 that was deposited into DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

57 03.12.2010 GK sent a Western Union Money Order in the amount 
of $250.00 that was deposited into DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

58 03.13.2010 DEFENDANT MUMFORD arranged for an individual 
other than GK to take a PRAXIS examination for GK 
at Rust College in Mississippi. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. 

[nmt 5 yrs, nmt $250,000.00, or both, and nmt 3 yrs supervised release together 
with a mandatory special assessment of $100.00, see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 

18 
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COUNTS 2-6 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p) of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, in the Western District of Tennessee, the 

defendant, 

----------------------------------------- C LAR E N C EMU M FORD -----------------------------------------

did knowingly and without lawful authority produce the identification documents, authentication 

features and false identification documents described below, the production of each of which 

was in and affected interstate commerce and each of which was a driver's license: 

Count Date Item 

2 12.15.2009 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of KC and the photograph of 
JS. 

3 01.02.2010 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license of number of DA and the photograph 
of FK 

4 01.02.2010 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of JH and the photograph of 
SS 

5 04.24.2010 Fraudulent Tennessee driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of TS and the photograph of 
ML 

6 04.24.2010 Fraudulent Tennessee driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of ML and the photograph of 
TS 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1 028(a)(1). 

[as to each count, nmt 15 yrs; $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs supervised 
release, together with a mandatory special assessment of $100, see 18 U.S.C. § 
3013(a)] 

19 
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COUNTS 7-9 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p) of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, in the Western District of Tennessee, the 

defendant, 

------------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORD -------------------------------------------

did knowingly transfer the following identification documents, authentication features and false 

identification documents, knowing that each was produced without lawful authority, each of 

which was in and affected interstate commerce and each of which was a driver's license: 

Count Date Item 

7 12.15.2009 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number KC and the photograph of JS. 

8 01.02.2010 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license of number of DA and the photograph 
of FK 

9 01.02.2010 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of JH and the photograph of 
SS 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(2). 

[as to each count, nmt 15 yrs; $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs supervised 
release, together with a mandatory special assessment of $100, see 18 U.S.C. § 
3013(a)] 

20 
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COUNT 10 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p) of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. Beginning on or about December 15, 2009 and continuing until at least on or about 

September 17, 2010, in the Western District of Tennessee, the defendant, 

------------------------------------------------- CLARE NeE MUM FORO -------------------------------------------

in a manner affecting interstate commerce, knowingly possessed document-making 

implements, that is, a computer, sheets of clear laminate material and squares of laminate 

material cut to the dimensions of a state identification card and driver's license, with the intent 

that such document-making implements be used in the production of false identification 

documents, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(5). 

[nmt 15 yrs; nmt $250,000 fine, or both; nmt 3 yrs supervised release; $100 
mandatory special assessment, see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNTS 11-15 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p) of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, in the Western District of Tennessee, the 

defendant, 

------------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORD -------------------------------------------

did knowingly possess and use in or affecting interstate commerce, without lawful authority, 

means of identification of others, that is, the names and driver's licenses of the individuals 

identified below by their initials, with the intent to commit unlawful activities that constitute 

violations of federal law, that is, mail and wire fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Sections 1341 and 1343, and social security fraud, in violation of Title 42, United States Code, 

Section 408(a)(7)(8), said use affecting interstate commerce and resulting in the obtaining of 

funds in excess of $1,000 for each count: 

Count Date Individual Means of Identification 

11 01.10.2009 FJ Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

12 12.15.2009 KC Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

13 01.02.2010 DA Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

14 01.02.2010 JH Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

15 03.01.2010 GK Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(7). 

[as to each count, nmt 15 yrs; $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs supervised 
release, together with a mandatory special assessment of $100, see 18 U.S.C. § 
3013(a)] 
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COUNTS 16-26 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p) of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, in the Western District of Tennessee, the 

defendant, 

------------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORO -------------------------------------------

did knowingly possess, transfer and use, without lawful authority, means of identification of 

other persons, including names, drivers' licenses, drivers' license numbers, drivers' license 

photographs, identification cards, identification card numbers, identification card photographs 

and social security numbers, as set forth below, of the individuals identified below by their 

initials, during and in relation to the commission of felony violations of Title 18, United States 

Code, Sections 1 028(a)(1); 1028(a)(2); 1028(a)(5); 1028(a)(7); 1341 and 1343; and Title 42, 

United States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(8). 

Count Date Individual Means of Identification 

16 01.12.2008 CM Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

17 01.12.2008 J8 Identification card, containing photograph and 
identification card number 

18 01.10.2009 FJ Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

19 06.13.2009 CS Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

20 12.15.2009 KC Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

21 01.02.2010 DA Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

22 01.02.2010 FK Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

23 
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Count Date Individual Means of Identification 

23 01.02.2010 JH Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

24 01.02.2010 JH Social Security number 

25 01.02.2010 SS Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

26 03.01.2010 GK Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

A" in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1 028A(a)(1). 

[mandatory 2 yrs imprisonment (consecutive to any other term of imprisonment); 
nmt $250,000 fine, or both; nmt 1 yr supervised release; $100 mandatory special 
assessment, see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNTS 27-31 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p), and 

paragraphs 4(a) through and including 4(i) of Count 1 of this Indictment are re-alleged and 

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that DEFENDANT 

MUMFORD, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the aforementioned 

scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by means of false and 

fraudulent pretenses and representations - did on or about each of the following dates 

knowingly cause to be delivered by mail according to the directions thereon the items described 

below, with each mailing a separate count: 

Count Date Description of Mailing 

27 12.29.2009 The defendant caused DA to send him a mailing to 2083 Hornsby 
Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

28 12.11.2009 The defendant caused KC to send him a mailing to 2083 Hornsby 
Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

29 02.09.2010 The defendant caused KC to send him a mailing to 2083 Hornsby 
Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

30 12.30.2009 The defendant caused JH to send him a mailing to 2083 Hornsby 
Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

31 04.10.2009 The defendant caused FJ to send him a mailing to 2083 Hornsby 
Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341. 

[nmt 20 yrs, nmt $250,000 fine, nmt 3 yrs supervised release, and mandatory 
assessment of $100 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3013] 
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COUNTS 32-41 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p), and 

paragraphs 4(a) through and including 4(i) of Count 1 of this Indictment are re-alleged and 

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, for the purpose of executing and attempting to 

execute the aforementioned scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain money by means of 

false and fraudulent pretenses and representations, the defendant, CLARENCE MUMFORD, 

did cause to be transmitted in interstate commerce by means of wire communications, certain 

signs, signals and sounds more specifically described below: 

Count Date Description of Wire 

32 12.21.2007 Internet registration on behalf of CM for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on January 8, 2008 at the University of Mississippi. 

33 01.02.2009 Internet registration on behalf of FJ for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on January 10, 2009 at East Arkansas Community 
College. 

34 03.26.2009 Internet registration on behalf of JH for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on April 25, 2009. 

35 04.02.2009 Internet registration on behalf of DA for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on April 25, 2009. 

36 05.14.2009 Internet registration on behalf of EB for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on June 13, 2009 at Arkansas State University -
Jonesboro. 

37 05.29.2009 Internet registration on behalf of MT for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on June 13, 2009 at Arkansas State University -
Jonesboro. 

38 12.10.2009 Internet registration on behalf of DA for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on January 9, 2010. 

39 12.10.2009 Internet registration on behalf of KC for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on January 9, 2010. 

40 12.10.2009 Internet registration on behalf of JH for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on January 9, 2010. 
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41 02.01.2010 Internet registration on behalf of GK for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on March 13, 2010 at Jackson State University in 
Mississippi. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 

[nmt 20 yrs, nmt $250,000 fine, nmt 3 yrs supervised release, and mandatory 
assessment of $100 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3013] 
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COUNTS 42-45 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p) of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, within the Western District of Tennessee and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

------------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORD -------------------------------------------

being aided and abetted by others known to the Grand Jury, and for the purpose of obtaining 

something of value and for other purposes, knowingly, willfully and with the intent to deceive, 

falsely and fraudulently represented, and caused to be represented the following: 

Count Date Representation 

42 01.12.2008 JB falsely and fraudulently represented on a PRAXIS examination 
form that his Social Security Account Number was xxx-xx-7750 
when, in fact, this Social Security Account Number was assigned 
to CM. 

43 04.25.2009 CS falsely and fraudulently represented on a PRAXIS examination 
form labeled "4452615" that his Social Security Account Number 
was xxx-xx-2606 when, in fact, this Social Security Account 
Number was assigned to JS. 
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I 
44 04.25.2009 CS falsely and fraudulently represented on a PRAXIS examination 

form for a geography test that his Social Security Account Number 
was xxx-xx-2606 when, in fact, this Social Security Account 
Number was assigned to JS. 

45 06.13.2009 CS falsely and fraudulently represented on a PRAXIS examination 
form that his Social Security Account Number was xxx-xx-2606 
when, in fact, this Social Security Account Number was assigned 
to JS. 

All in violation of Title 42, United States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(8) and Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 2. 

[as to each count, nmt 5 yrs, nmt $250,000.00, or both, and nmt 3 yrs 
supervised release together with a mandatory special assessment of $100.00, 
see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 

DATE:. ________________ _ 

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
EDWARD L. STANTON, III 

29 

A TRUE BILL 

FORE PERSON 
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FABIAN 
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 
WESTERN DIVISION 

) 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) Cr. No. 12-CR-20173-A IP 

) 
Plaintiff, ) 18 U.S.C. § 2 

) 18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(2) . 
v. ) 18 U.S.C. § 371 

) 18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(1) 
CLARENCE MUMFORD ) 18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(5) 
DANTE DOWERS and ) 18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(7) 
CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR. ) 18 U.S.C. § 1028A(a)(1J 

) 18 U.S.C. § 1341 
) 18 U.S.C. § 1343 

Defendants. ) 42 U.S.C. § 408(a)(7)(8) 

SUPERCEDING INDICTMENT 

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: 
INTRODUCTION 

1. At all times material herein: 

a. Educational Testing Service ("ETS") was a private nonprofit edu ational testing 

and assessment organization with headquarters in Princeton, New Jersey One series of 

tests written and administered by ETS was the PRAXIS series, componen s of which are 

required by many states for individuals entering the teaching profession r for teachers 

obtaining subject-specific endorsements on their teaching licenses. 

b. Arkansas, Mississippi and Tennessee were among the states that required 

individuals entering the teaching profession and teachers obtaining ubject-specific 

endorsements on their teaching licenses to take and pass PRAXIS exami ations. 

c. In Arkansas, other than certain out-of-state teachers obtai ing reciprocal 

licenses, participants in a temporary non-traditional licensure program, an professionals 

teaching a limited number of classes per day, teachers were required to take and pass 

PRAXIS examinations to be licensed. 



Case 2:12-cr-20173-JTF   Document 25   Filed 08/24/12   Page 2 of 32    PageID 179

d. In Mississippi, other than certain out-of-state teachers obtai ing reciprocal 

licenses, teachers were required to take and pass PRAXIS examinations 0 be licensed. 

In the past, Mississippi has issued temporary transitional/emergency lic nses that did 

not require passage of PRAXIS examinations. 

e. In Tennessee, other than teachers who obtained their licenses prior to 1984, 

certain out-of-state teachers obtaining reciprocal licenses, and t achers using 

transitional licenses, teachers were required to take and pass PRAXIS e ami nations to 

be licensed. 

f. ETS charged fees to individuals who took the PRAXIS examinatio s. The results 

of the examination were relied upon by the Departments of Educatio in Arkansas, 

Mississippi and Tennessee for the issuance of licenses. 

g. Because Tennessee and Mississippi required an individual's ocial security 

number to process educator certification paperwork, individuals t king PRAXIS 

examinations were required to provide their social security numbers to TS as part of 

the PRAXIS registration process. Because Arkansas required the last fo r digits of an 

individual's social security number to process educator certificati paperwork, 

individuals taking PRAXIS examinations were required to provide the la four digits of 

their social security numbers to ETS as part of the PRAXIS registration pr cess. 

h. ETS owned copyrights in the PRAXIS examinations and ques ions, and the 

registered trademark, "PRAXIS," as used on the examinations and scor reports. ETS 

also developed specialized test administration and scoring services fo the PRAXIS 

examinations. To keep its PRAXIS product exclusive, secure and co fidential, ETS 

restricted access to and use of its copyrighted PRAXIS examinations and questions and 

trademarked PRAXIS score reports, as well as its PRAXIS test adm' istration and 

scoring services. 



Case 2:12-cr-20173-JTF   Document 25   Filed 08/24/12   Page 3 of 32    PageID 180

i. Individuals taking the PRAXIS examination tests registered for t tests online. 

The registration process therefore involved wire communications from th computers at 

which registrants registered with ETS in Princeton, New Jersey. 

j. Individuals taking the PRAXIS examination tests signed confidentiality 

statements certifying that the person taking the test was the person wh se name and 

address was used in the application process. In addition, those taking the test agreed to 

maintain the full confidentiality of all test questions and agreed not to re roduce and/or 

disclose any test question to anyone. Individuals unwilling to agree to th se conditions 

would not be permitted to take an examination. Each individual taking PRAXIS was 

also required to present his or her driver's license at the test-taking center. 

k. Once an exam was completed, exam results were wired from the est location in 

Arkansas, Mississippi or Tennessee to ETS in Princeton, New Jersey f r processing. 

The individuals in whose name the exams were registered obtained thei scores either 

via a score report mailed to them by ETS or via interstate wire communi ation through 

use of the internet. 

I. ETS developed substantial goodwill from development and admin stration of the 

PRAXIS examinations, some of which was based on the integrity f the testing 

processes. ETS had property interests in the PRAXIS product, includin (i) materials 

bearing its trademarks, such as the PRAXIS examinations and score eports, (ii) its 

copyrighted materials, such as the PRAXIS examinations and their que tions, and (iii) 

the ETS-specified test administration and scoring services for the PRAXIS examinations. 

ETS also had property interests in the value of its goodwill, which is an as et of ETS and 

is based, in part, on maintaining the integrity of the testing and security pro ess. 

m. Tennessee teachers' licenses, issued by the Tennessee of 

Education, provided licensees with access to substantial economic bene ts. In addition 

to their salaries, Tennessee teachers obtained coverage under th Tennessee 
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Consolidated Retirement System, which provided retirement, disabilit and survivor 

benefits. 

n. Arkansas teachers' licenses, issued by the Arkansas Departme of Education, 

provided licensees with access to substantial economic benefits. In a dition to their 

salaries, Arkansas teachers obtained coverage under the Arkansas Tea er Retirement 

System, which provided retirement, age and service, disability, survivor nd purchasing 

service credit benefits. 

o. Mississippi teachers' licenses, issued by the Mississippi epartment of 

Education, provided licensees with access to substantial economic bene ItS. In addition 

to their salaries, Mississippi teachers obtained coverage under the Pu lic Employees' 

Retirement System of Mississippi, which provides retirement, disabilit, and survivor 

benefits. 

p. Possession of a teacher's license enabled licensees to contra with school 

districts. The school districts' contracts had economic value to the cont acting districts 

and to the teachers who contracted with them. 
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COUNT 1 

THE CONSPIRACY 

1. Beginning in or about January 1995, the exact date being unknown to t e Grand Jury, 

and continuing until at least on or about July 8, 2010, in the Western District of T nnessee, and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

•• ---••.• - ••••••• -----.-•• ----. CLARENCE MUMFORD - •• --••••• --••• _-

did unlawfully, willfully and knowingly combine, conspire, confederate and agree with Memphis 

City Schools employees and/or former employees hereinafter identified as "JB"," K", "CS", and 

"SS", and with other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit 0 enses against 

the United States, that is: 

a. To use and cause to be used the United States mail in furtheranc of a scheme 

and artifice to defraud and for obtaining money and property by mean of false and 

fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, in violation of Ti Ie 18, United 

States Code, Section 1341; 

b. To use and cause to be used interstate wire communications in f rtherance of a 

scheme and artifice to defraud and for obtaining money or property by me ns of false or 

fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, in violation of Ti Ie 18, United 

States Code, Section 1343; 

c. Producing an identification document, authentication featu e, or false 

identification document without lawful authority, in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 1028(a)(1); 

d. Transferring an identification document, authentication featur, or a false 

identification document knowing that the document or feature was pro uced without 

lawful authority, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028( )(2); 



Case 2:12-cr-20173-JTF   Document 25   Filed 08/24/12   Page 6 of 32    PageID 183

e. Producing, transferring or possessing a document-making implement or 

authentication feature with the intent such document-making implement 0 authentication 

feature will be used in the production of a false identification document, in violation of 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(5); 

f. Transferring, possessing or using, without lawful authority, a means of 

identification of another person with the intent to commit, or to aid r abet, or in 

connection with, any unlawful activity that constitutes a violation of Fede al law, or that 

constitutes a felony under any applicable State or local law; in violati n of Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 1028(a)(7); 

g. During and in relation to the commission of violations of Title 18, United States 

Code, Sections 1341, 1343, 1028(a)(1), 1028(a)(2) and 1028(a)( '); knowingly 

transferring, possessing, and using, without lawful authority, a means of i entification of 

another person, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028 

h. Falsely representing a Social Security number to be assigned to person other 

than the person to whom the number is truly assigned, with intent to d ceive, for the 

purpose of obtaining any payment or any other purpose, in violation of itle 42, United 

States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(8). 

OBJECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY 

2. The objects of the conspiracy are set forth as follows: 

a. It was an object of the conspiracy to defraud ETS of property by ob aining access 

to and use of ETS's trademarked materials, copyrighted materials an services, by 

obtaining ETS's official score report, and by obtaining the benefit of, an undermining, 

ETS's goodwill and the value of its trademark and copyright. 

b. It was an object of the conspiracy to defraud the Arkansas, 

Tennessee Departments of Education of licensing materials by falsely r presenting to 

the said Departments of Education that teachers and aspiring teachers s king licenses 
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and endorsements on teaching licenses had, in fact, passed req ired PRAXIS 

examinations when, as DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD then II knew, the 

teachers and aspiring teachers had not passed the required examinations. 

c. It was an object of the conspiracy to defraud local school district in Arkansas, 

Mississippi and Tennessee by falsely representing to the school districts that teachers 

using DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD'S services had pa ed PRAXIS 

examinations and were properly licensed and thereby causing school di tricts to enter 

into contractual relationships with individuals who had 

examinations and were not, in fact, properly licensed. 

d. It was an object of the conspiracy to produce false identificati n documents 

without lawful authority; and to transfer identification documents, authenti ation features 

and false identification documents knowing they were produced without I wful authority; 

and to transfer and possess authentication features knowing they wo Id be used in 

production of a false identification document; and to transfer, possess an use means of 

identification of other persons, knowingly and with intent to commit, and t aid and abet, 

and in connection with activities constituting violations of federal law. 

e. It was an object of the conspiracy for test-takers to use the ocial security 

numbers of individuals who had negotiated with DEFENDAN CLARENCE 

MUMFORD to have tests taken as part of the PRAXIS registrat on process to 

register for the PRAXIS examinations. 

f. It was a principle object and purpose of the conspiracy to ca ry out and to 

execute the above-listed objects of the conspiracy for the ultimate personal gain, 

benefit, profit, advantage, and accommodation of DEFENDAN CLARENCE 

MUMFORD and his co-conspirators. 
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MANNER AND MEANS OF THE 
CONSPIRACY AND SCHEME TO DEFRAUD 

3. The manner and means by which the conspiracy and the scheme and a ifice to defraud 

functioned is more particularly set forth as follows: 

a. It was part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice t defraud that 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD was an individual teachers or 

individuals aspiring to be teachers who were - and/or believed they w re - unable to 

pass PRAXIS examinations could go to arrange for another individual t take PRAXIS 

examinations on behalf of each teacher or aspiring teacher. Teache and aspiring 

teachers in schools in Memphis and Shelby County, as well as in A ansas and in 

Mississippi, made use of DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD'S servi 

b. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice 0 defraud that 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD directed teachers or individuals aspiring to be 

teachers to provide DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD with their dri er's' licenses, 

often through the United States mail. DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUM ORO paid co-

conspirators JB, FK, CS and SS and other individuals to take tests 0 behalf of the 

teachers or aspiring teachers (hereinafter "test-takers"), and obtained t e test-takers' 

driver's licenses as well. DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD then cre ted fraudulent 

driver's licenses with the information of a teacher or aspiring 

superimposed or otherwise attached photograph of a test-taker. 

c. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice 0 defraud that 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD gave the teachers or aspi ing teachers 

instructions regarding when and where to register for the PRAXIS examin tion for which 

the teacher or aspiring teacher sought a paSSing score. Sometimes DEFENDANT 

CLARENCE MUMFORD completed the registration for the teacher or as iring teacher. 

The registration was done online. DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFO 0 sometimes 
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used his credit card or otherwise instructed the teacher or aspiring teac er to use his 

credit card to pay the registration fee for the teacher or aspiring teacher. EFENDANT 

CLARENCE MUMFORD also sometimes used his electronic mail add res or otherwise 

instructed the teacher or aspiring teacher to use his electronic mail a the contact 

electronic mail address during the PRAXIS registration process. 

d. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice t defraud that 

the teacher or aspiring teacher's social security number was used i the PRAXIS 

registration process. Often, DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD inst 

or aspiring teachers to send him the teacher's or aspiring teacher's 

number· along with the teacher's or aspiring teacher's driver's license, if the driver's 

license did not contain a social security number. The score reports 

contained the social security numbers of the teachers or aspiring teachers. 

e. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice 0 defraud that 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD directed the teacher or aspiring eacher to pay 

him for his services. Payments fell in ranges varying from approximately 1,500 per test 

to approximately $3,000 per test, depending on what test and the time 

the test was taken. The payments were sometimes in the form of cash a d, more often, 

in the form of cashier's checks or money orders. Sometimes the payme ts were hand 

delivered, but most often DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD directed the teacher or 

aspiring to teacher to send the payment via United States mail. DEFENDANT 

CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained tens of thousands of dollars from teachers and 

aspiring teachers during the course of the conspiracy. 

f. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice 0 defraud that 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD paid the test-takers for their servi es. 

g. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that te t-takers would 

appear at the test sites, which were located in Arkansas, Mississippi a d Tennessee, 
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and falsely identify themselves as individuals in whose names the ro",iatr'!:IIti/'\n~ for the 

tests were completed. 

h. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that the ',,"~'-'!:II 

as the individual in whose name the registration for the test was com 

sign the confidentiality statement in the name of the person whose and address 

was used in the application process. 

i. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud 

examination was processed, the results were mailed to controlled by 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD or to one of his ,..n_,..nr,~nlr!:ll'n~ in Arkansas, 

Mississippi or Tennessee. 

OVERT ACTS IN FURTHERANCE OF THE CONSPIRACY 

4. At all times hereinafter mentioned, during the pendency of the f'nrH::n,lr!:lr'V, the following 

overt acts were engaged in, in the Western District of Tennessee and elsewhere, at least one of 

which furthered and effected the goals of said combination, conspiracy, 

agreement: 

a. Overt acts related to DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

1 01.12.2008 Sometime in approximation to but hofn .. o 

2 01.12.2008 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUM 
someone acting on his behalf r,,"nic:.t,,"rAlri 
PRAXIS examination to be taken on 
in his name by a test-taker sent by 
CLARENCE MUMFORD. The regi~trl"'tin 

the use of DEFENDANT CLARENC 
JR.'s social security number. 

Sometime in approximation to but hofn .. o this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFO obtained JB 
and DEFENDANT CLARENCE M FORD, JR.'s 
driver's licenses. DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD used the driver's I to create a 
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3 01.12.2008 

4 06.29.2011 

false identification with CLARENCE 
MUMFORD, JR.'s name and InAlnTIT\/llI'In information, 
and JB's photograph. 

JB took a PRAXIS examination 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUM 
the examination, JB presented a 
his own picture and DEFEN 
MUMFORD, JR.'s name and IrlAlntit\lInri 

behalf of 
JR .. To take 
license with 
CLARENCE 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MU FORD and 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUM JR. caused 
the mailing of teacher I application 
documents by the Memphis City sI"'r,n,,,s to the 
Tennessee Department of L.UI.I",c:u~vn regarding 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE JR's 
Tennessee licensing. 

b. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "FT" 

the following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

6 07.08.2010 

FT met with DEFENDANT DANTE and 
provided DEFENDANT DANTE with 
several blank money orders from t-IAITIT!:IIr'A Banking 
Group in a total amount of $3,580 a with FT's 
Social Security Number, date of birth a address. 

FT or someone acting on FT's behalf istered online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken July 8, 2010 
in FT's name by JB, sent by DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD. The rAnIIQtr'Atlr,n involved 
the use of FT's social security number. 

7 07.08.2010 Sometime in approximation to but nATnrA 
provided his driver'S license to 
DOWERS, who provided the d 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MU 

8 07.08.2010 JB took a PRAXIS examination on 
take the examination, JB presented a 
with his own picture and FT's name 
information. 

c. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "DA" 
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the following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

10 04.25.2009 

1.1 04.25.2009 

12 12.07.2009 

13 12.29.2009 

bank account. 

DA or someone acting on DA's registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to taken on April 
25, 2009 in DA's name by a sent by 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE M FORD. The 
registration involved the use of DA's social security 
number. . 

A test-taker hired by DEFENDAN 
MUMFORD took a PRAXIS exami 
DA. 

DA obtained a bank check in the am 
that was provided to DEFENDAN 
MUMFORD and deposited into 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust 

DA sent a mailing to 0 
MUMFORD. 

CLARENCE 
on behalf of 

of $1,500.00 
CLARENCE 

DEFENDANT 

CLARENCE 

14 01.09.2010 Sometime in approximation to but this date, DA 

15 

or someone acting on DA's behalf online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be on January 9, 
2010 in DA's name by a ker sent by 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE RD. The 
registration involved the use of DA's social security 
number. 

01.09.2010 Sometime in approximation to but naT,nr-a this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUM obtained FK 
and DA's driver's licenses. 0 CLARENCE 
MUMFORD used the driver's to create a 
false identification with DA's name identifying 
information, and FK's photograph. 

16 01.09.2010 FK took a PRAXIS examination on nar'~IT 

17 

take the examination, FK presented a 
with her own picture and DA's name 
information. 

02.03.2010 DA obtained a Commercial Bank nlar·c::nr':::II1 money 
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18 02.03.2010 

order in the amount of $200.00 that 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE M 
deposited into DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

DA obtained a bank check in the 
that was provided to DEFEN 
MUMFORD and deposited into 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S Sun Trust 

provided to 
FORD and 

CLARENCE 

of $1,300.00 
CLARENCE 

DEFENDANT 

d. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "J " include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

20 04.25.2009 

JH obtained a bank check in the a 
that was provided to DEFEN 
MUMFORD and deposited into 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust 

JH or someone acting on JH's behalf 
for a PRAXIS examination to be ta 
2009 in JH's name by a 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUM 
registration involved the use of JH's 
number. 

21 04.25.2009 Sometime in approximation to but h""f"r"" this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUM obtained SS 
and JH's driver's licenses. CLARENCE 
MUMFORD used the driver's to create a 
false identification with JH's name identifying 
information, and SS's photograph. 

22 04.25.2009 SS took a PRAXIS examination on 
take the examination, SS presented a 
with her own picture and JH's name 

23 12.14.2009 

information. 

JH obtained a bank check in the 
that was provided to DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD and deposited into 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S Sun Trust 

24 12.30.2009 JH mailed her driver's license, social 
and PRAXIS admission ticket to 
CLARENCE MUMFORD. 

of $1,500.00 
CLARENCE 
EFENDANT 
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e. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as J" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

Sometime in approximation to but naTnl'"lCI this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MU obtained SS 
and FJ's driver's licenses. DEFEN CLARENCE 
MUMFORD used the driver's to create a 
false identification with FJ's name identifying 

26 11.12.2008 

information, and SS's photograph. 

On or about this date, SS attempted to 
examination on behalf of FJ, but 
detected that SS was not FJ. The 
listed on the registration forms was 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S phone 
registration was paid for with 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S credit card 

27 01.02.2009 FJ or someone acting on FJ's behalf 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken 
2009 in FJ's name by a 

28 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MU 
registration involved the use of FJ's 
number. 

01.10.2009 A test-taker hired by DEFEN 
MUMFORD took a PRAXIS examin 
FJ. 

29 02.27.2009 FJ prepared a personal bank check in 
$500.00 that was provided to 

30 

CLARENCE MUMFORD and 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUM'-~.'.LI 
bank account. 

04.10.2009 FJ sent a mailing 
MUMFORD. 

CLARENCE 
on behalf of 

CLARENCE 

f. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as" "include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

31 04.25.2009 Sometime in approximation to but hlCltlnl'"lCI 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMII::"r::·n 
and JS's driver's licenses. DEFEN 
MUMFORD used the driver's 
false identification with JS's name 
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information, and CS's photograph. 

32 04.25.2009 JS or someone acting on JS's behalf reQlsterea 
for a PRAXIS examination to be ta 
2009 in JS's name by a 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE FORD. 
registration involved the use of JS's 
number. 

33 04.25.2009 CS took a PRAXIS examination on 
take the examination, CS presented a 
with his own picture and JS's name 

34 04.25.2009 

35 06.13.2009 

information. 

CS took a second PRAXIS on behalf of 
JS. To take the examination, CS nr~QAnlt~rI a driver's 
license with his own picture and name and 
identifying information. 

JS or someone acting on JS's behalf r~iste~red online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be ta on June 13, 
2009 in JS's name by a r sent by 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MU S credit card 
was used to pay for the registration. registration 
involved the use of JS's social security 

36 06.13.2009 CS took a PRAXIS examination on 
take the examination, CS presented a 
with his own picture and JS's name 
information. 

g. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as" n include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

37 06.13.2009 EB or someone acting on EB's 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be 
13, 2009 in EB's name by a 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MU 
was used to pay for the registration. 
involved the use of EB's social security 

38 06.13.2009 Sometime in approximation to but nATnrA 

DE FEN CLARENCE MUM 
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h. 

and EB's driver's licenses. D 
MUMFORD used the driver's li,..AlnC!,:IC! 
false identification with EB's name 
information, and es's photograph. 

39 06.13.2009 es took a PRAXIS examination on nar'~IT 
take the examination, es presented a 
with his own picture and EB's name 
information. 

40 06.13.2009 Sometime in approximation to but narnra 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MU"~',\D" 

41 

provided instructions to EB in 
PRAXIS examination to be taken at 
University in Session I, June 1 
registration involved the use of EB's 
number. 

06.13.2009 Sometime in approximation to but nAT'nra this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUM obtained JB 
and EB's driver's licenses. DEFEN CLARENCE 
MUMFORD used the driver's to create a 
false identification with EB's name identifying 
information, and JB's photograph. 

42 06.13.2009 JB took a PRAXIS examination on ............. ,. 
take the examination, JB presented a 
with his own picture and EB's name 
information. 

Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

43 04.25.2009 MT or someone acting on MT's registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be on April 
25, 2009 in MT's name by a sent by 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUIMFOR:D The 
registration involved the use of MT's 
number. 

44 04.25.2009 Sometime in approximation to but nPlInn::a 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE ' •. LOnDr 

and MT's driver's licenses. 
CLARENCE MUMFORD used the d 
create a false identification with 
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identifying information, and SS's 

45 04.25.2009 SS took a PRAXIS examination on 
take the examination, SS presented a 
with her own picture andMT's name 
information. 

46 04.25.2009 SS took a second PRAXIS exami on behalf of 
MT. To take the examination, SS a driver's 
license with her own picture and name and 
identifying information. 

47 06.13.2009 MT or someone acting on MT's 
online for a PRAXIS examination 
Arkansas State University in I, June 13, 
2009. The registration involved the use of MT's social 
security number. 

48 06.13.2009 SS took a PRAXIS examination on of MT. To 
take the examination, SS presented a license 
with her own picture and MT's name nd identifying 
information. 

49 06.13.2009 MT or someone acting on MT's 
online for a PRAXIS examination 
Arkansas State University in II, June 13, 
2009. The registration involved the use of MT's social 
security number. 

50 06.13.2009 Sometime in approximation to but 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MU 
and MT's driver's licenses. 
CLARENCE MUMFORD used the d 
create a false identification with 
identifying information, and J8's photog 

51 06.13.2009 J8 took a PRAXIS examination on 
take the examination, J8 presented a 
with his own picture and MT's name 
information. 

i. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as " include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

KC obtained a United States Postal "",glru.r·g 

Order in the amount of $650.00 that 
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j. 

CLARENCE MU and 
deposited into DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

53 10.13.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal :!'oi".n,/II"'" 

Order in the amount of $1,000.00 that 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUIUI~,.\n 

deposited into DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

54 11.30.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal ~O"""I'O 
Order in the amount of $1,000.00 that 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFC)R 
deposited into DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

55 11.30.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal ,...gn,lIrg 

Order in the amount of $1,000.00 that 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE Muu~',\Dn 

deposited into DEFENDANT 
MUMFORD'S Sun Trust bank account. 

56 11.30.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal ~O""/II'O 

57 

Order in the amount of $500.00 that 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD 

12.11.2009 KC sent a mailing to DEFEN 
MUMFORD. 

CLARENCE 

58 01.07.2010 KC sent items to DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD via Delta Bus Lines. 

59 02.09.2010 KC sent a mailing 
MUMFORD. 

Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as 

CLARENCE 

include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

GK obtained a cashier's check in 
$3,000.00 that he sent to DEFEN 
MUMFORD. 

61 03.12.2010 GK sent a Western Union Money Order in the amount 
of $500.00 that was deposited into EFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S Sun Trust 

62 03.12.2010 
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CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust b. nk account. 

63 03.13.2010 DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFOR) arranged for 
an individual other than GK to ta e a PRAXIS 
examination for GK at Rust College in Holly Springs, 
Mississippi. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. 

[nmt 5 yrs, nmt $250,000.00, or both, and nmt 3 yrs supervised release tpgether 
with a mandatory special assessment of $100.00, see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a] 
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COUNTS 2-6 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth h rein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, in the Western District of ennessee, the 

defendant, 

---------------------------- CLARENCE MUMFORD ------------------- ----------

being aided and abetted by each other and by others known and unknown to t e Grand Jury, 

did knowingly and without lawful authority produce the identification documents, authentication 

features and false identification documents described below, the production of each of which 

was in and affected interstate commerce and each of which was a driver's licens : 

COldit Dah~ item 

2 12.15.2009 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of KC and the J hotograph of 
JS 

3 01.02.2010 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containin.g the name, 
address and driver's license of number of DA and th ~ photograph 
of FK 

4 01.02.2010 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of JH and the J hotograph of 
SS 

5 04.24.2010 Fraudulent Tennessee driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of TS and the ~ hotograph of 
ML 

6 04.24.2010 Fraudulent Tennessee driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of ML and the ~ hotograph of 
TS 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(1). 

[as to each count, nmt 15 yrs; $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs sup. ~rvised 
release, together with a mandatory special assessment of $100, see 18 U S.C. § 
3013(a)] 
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COUNTS 7-9 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth h rein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, in the Western District of ennessee, the 

defendant, 

------------------------------- CLARENCE MUMFORD --------------

being aided and abetted by each other and by others known and unknown to t e Grand Jury, 

did knowingly transfer the following id.entification documents, authentication fea ures and false 

identification documents, knowing that each was produced without lawful aut ority, each of 

which was in and affected interstate commerce and each of which was a driver's I cense: 

COUllt ( late: itt:: Il 

7 12.15.2009 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containin~ the name, 
address and driver's license number of KC and the I photograph of 
JS 

8 01.02.2010 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containin.~ the name, 
address and driver's license of number of DA and th Ie photograph 
ofFK 

9 01.02.2010 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containin~ the name, 
address and driver's license number of JH and the I hotograph of 
SS 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(2). 

[as to each count, nmt 15 yrs; $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs sup ~rvised 
release, together with a mandatory special assessment of $100, see 18 U .S.C. § 
3013(a)] 
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COUNT 10 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth h rein. 

2. Beginning on or about December 15, 2009 and continuing until at lea t on or about 

September 17,2010, in the Western District of Tennessee, the defendant, 

---------------------------- CLARENCE MUMFORD -----------------

in a manner affecting interstate commerce, knowingly possessed do ument-making 

implements, that is, a computer, sheets of clear laminate material and squar s of laminate 

material cut to the dimensions of a state identification card and driver's license, with the intent 

that such document-making implements be used in the production of fals identification 

documents, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(5). 

[nmt 15 yrs; nmt $250,000 fine, or both; nmt 3 yrs supervised relea ; $100 
mandatory special assessment, see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNTS 11-16 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth h 

2. On or about each of the following dates, in the Western District of ennessee, the 

defendant, 

--------------------------- CLARENCE MUMFORD ---------------

being aided and abetted by each other and by others known and unknown to t e Grand Jury, 

and, where indicated being aided and abetted by DEFENDANT DANTE 

knowingly possess and use in or affecting interstate commerce, without lawful a thority, means 

of identification of others, that is, the names and driver's license numbers of he individuals 

identified below by their name or initials, with the intent to commit unlawful activities that 

constitute violations of federal law, that is, mail and wire fraud, in violation of itle 18, United 

States Code, Sections 1341 and 1343, and social security fraud, in violation of it Ie 42, United 

States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(8), said use affecting interstate commerce and esulting in the 

obtaining of funds in excess of $1,000 for each count: 

CGLli,t L ) ,j: l' I' 1ll 1vld u8 I Mt"311S uf kJt?I'tlf,( ,It,()11 

11 01.10.2009 FJ Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

12 12.15.2009 KC Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

13 01.02.2010 DA Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

14 01.02.2010 JH Driver's license, containing photograph ~nd driver's 
license number 

15 03.01.2010 GK Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

16 07.08.2010 FT Driver's license, containing photograph ~nd driver's 
license number, aided and a petted by 
DEFENDANT DANTE DOWERS 
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All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(7) and, for Count 6, Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 2. 

[as to each count, nmt 15 yrs; $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs su ervised 
release, together with a mandatory special assessment of $100, see 18 .S.C. § 
3013(a)] 
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COUNTS 17-28 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth h 

2. On or about each of the following dates, in the Western District of 

defendant, 

------------------------------- CLARENCE MUMFORD ---------------

being aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, and, here indicated 

being aided and abetted by DEFENDANT DANTE DOWERS, did knowingly po sess, transfer 

and use, without lawful authority, means of identification of other persons, in luding names, 

drivers' licenses, drivers' license numbers, drivers' license photographs, ident fication cards, 

identification card numbers, identification card photographs and social security n 

forth below, of the individuals identified below by their name or initials, during a in relation to 

the commission of felony violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sectio s 1028(a)(1); 

1028(a)(2); 1028(a)(S); 1028(a)(7); 1341 and 1343; and Title 42, United States Code, Section 

408(a)(7)(B). 

CO,illt [-) 1 t, ~ 111(1 Iv Id UcJ, Mc;Clns of IcJelltlflCltlOl1 

17 01.12.2008 DEFENDANT Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
CLARENCE license number 

MUMFORD, JR. 

18 01.12.2008 JB Identification card, containing photc graph and 
identification card number 

19 01.10.2009 FJ Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

20 06.13.2009 CS Driver's license, containing photograph ~nd driver's 
license number 

21 12.1S.2009 KC Driver's license, containing photograph ~nd driver's 
license number 

22 01.02.2010 DA Driver's license, containing photograph ~nd driver's 
license number 
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23 01.02.2010 FK 

24 01.02.2010 JH 

25 01.02.2010 JH 

26 01.02.2010 SS 

27 03.01.2010 GK 

28 07.08.2010 FT 

Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

Social Security number 

Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

Social Security number and drive's license, 
containing photograph and driver's lice se number, 
aided and abetted by DEFENDAI T DANTE 
DOWERS 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028A(a)(1) and, for Coun 28, Title 18, 
United States Code, Section 2. 

[mandatory 2 yrs imprisonment (consecutive to any other term of impriso ment); 
nmt $250,000 fine, or both; nmt 1 yr supervised release; $100 mandatory special 
assessment, see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNTS 29-33 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1(a) through and includi g 1(p), and 

paragraphs 4(a) through and including 4(i) of Count 1 of this Indictment are re-alleged and 

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that DEFENDANT 

CLARENCE MUMFORD, being aided and abetted by others known and unkno to the Grand 

Jury, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the aforemention scheme and 

artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by means of false nd fraudulent 

pretenses and representations - did on or about each of the following dates kno ingly cause to 

be delivered by mail according to the directions thereon the items described be ow, with each 

mailing a separate count: 

COlli It l !Jet; [)t;~Cllptlorl of rvlalillig 

29 12.29.2009 The defendant caused DA to send him a mailing to 2 083 Hornsby 
Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

30 12.11.2009 The defendant caused KC to send him a mailing to 2 083 Hornsby 
Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

31 02.09.2010 The defendant caused KC to send him a mailing to 2 083 Hornsby 
Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

32 12.30.2009 The defendant caused JH to send him a mailing to 2 083 Hornsby 
Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

33 04.10.2009 The defendant caused FJ to send him a mailing to 2 P83 Hornsby 
Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341. 

[nmt 20 yrs, nmt $250,000 fine, nmt 3 yrs supervised release, and mandate ry 
assessment of $100 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3013] 
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COUNTS 34-44 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and includi g 1 (p), and 

paragraphs 4(a) through and including 4(i) of Count 1 of this Indictment are e-alleged and 

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, for the purpose of executing an attempting to 

execute the aforementioned scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain mon y by means of 

false and fraudulent pretenses and representations, DEFENDANT CLARENC MUMFORD, 

being aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, and, here indicated 

being aided and abetted by DEFENDANT DANTE DOWERS, did cause to be transmitted in 

interstate commerce by means of wire communications, certain signs; signals an sounds more 

specifically described below: 

CULInt [ lcHt. Ut:SCllptlOll of Wile 

34 12.21.2007 Internet registration on behalf of DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD, JR. for a PRAXIS examination to I )e taken on 
January 8, 2008 at the University of Mississippi. 

35 01.02.2009 Internet registration on behalf of FJ for a PRAXIS e amination to 
be taken on January 10, 2009 at East Arkansas Community 
College. 

36 03.26.2009 Internet registration on behalf of JH for a PRAXIS e> amination to 
be taken on April 25, 2009. 

37 04.02.2009 Internet registration on behalf of DA for a PRAXIS el amination to 
be taken on April 25, 2009. 

38 05.14.2009 Internet registration on behalf of EB for a PRAXIS el ami nation to 
be taken on January 9, 2010 at Arkansas State University -
Jonesboro. 

39 05.29.2009 Internet registration on behalf of MT for a PRAXIS e) amination to 
be taken on January 9, 2010 at Arkansas State University -
Jonesboro. 

40 12.10.2009 Internet registration on behalf of DA for a PRAXIS e) amination to 
be taken on January 9,2010. 

41 12.10.2009 Internet registration on behalf of KC for a PRAXIS e>< amination to 
be taken on January 9,2010. 
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42 12.10.2009 Internet registration on behalf of JH for a PRAXIS Examination to 
be taken on January 9, 2010. 

43 02.01.2010 Internet registration on behalf of GK for a PRAXIS Examination to 
be taken on March 13, 2010 at Jackson State University in 
Mississippi. 

44 07.07.2010 Internet registration on behalf of FT for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on July 8, 2010, aided and abetted by PEFENDANT 
DANTE DOWERS. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343 and, for Count 44, Ti Ie 18, United 

States Code, Section 2. 

[nmt 20 yrs, nmt $250,000 fine, nmt 3 yrs supervised release, and ma~datory 
assessment of $100 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3013] 
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COUNTS 45-48 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth h rein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, within the Western District of ennessee and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

------------------------------- CLARENCE MUMFORD ---------------

being aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, and r the purpose 

of obtaining something of value and for other purposes, knowingly, willfully and w th the intent to 

deceive, falsely and fraudulently represented, and caused to be represented the f lIowing: 

45 01.12.2008 JB falsely and fraudulently represented on a PRAXIS examination 
form that his Social Security Account Number was xxx-xx-7750 
when, in fact, this Social Security Account Number \~as assigned 
to DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR. 

46 04.25.2009 CS falsely and fraudulently represented on a PRAXIS examination 
form labeled "4452615" that his Social Security Acc:>unt Number 
was xxx-xx-2606 when, in fact, this Social Secl rity Account 
Number was assigned to JS. 

47 04.25.2009 CS falsely and fraudulently represented on a PRAXIS examination 
form for a geography test that his Social Security Acc:>unt Number 
was xxx-xx-2606 when, in fact, this Social Secl rity Account 
Number was assigned to JS. 

48 06.13.2009 CS falsely and fraudulently represented on a PRAXIS examination 
form that his Social Security Account Number was xxx-xx-2606 
when, in fact, this Social Security Account Number v as assigned 
to JS. 

All in violation of Title 42, United States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(B). 

[as to each count, nmt 5 yrs, nmt $250,000.00, or both, and nmt 3 yrs 
supervised release together with a mandatory special assessment of $100.00, 
see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNT 49 

1. Beginning on a date unknown to the Grand Jury but sometime on or fore June 29, 

2011, and continuing at least until on or about June 29, 2011, in the Wes ern District of 

Tennessee, the defendants, 

-------------------------------- CLARENCE MUMFORD ----------------- ------------
and 

-------------------------- CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR. ------------- ---------------

being aided and abetted by each other and by others known and unknown to t e Grand Jury, 

did knowingly devise and intend· to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud e Tennessee 

Department of Education and the Memphis City Schools and to obtain money a d property by 

means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses and representations, knowi g and having 

reason to know that said pretenses and representations were and would be false nd fraudulent 

when made and caused to be made. 

2. The scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property wa in sUbstance 

that DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD arranged for JB to take a "Principl s of Learning 

and Teaching" PRAXIS examination on behalf of DEFENDANT CLARENCE MU FORD, JR. -

a current Memphis City Schools teacher - on or about January 12, 2008 at th University of 

Mississippi. JB passed the examination, which was a necessary prerequisite fo a Tennessee 

professional teacher's license. DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR. ha obtained an 

alternative license on or about December 11, 2008. The alternative license was onverted to a 

transitional license on or about February 2, 2010. DEFENDANT CLARENCE M 

later progressed to an apprentice license on or about December 15, 2010 and ultimately, a 

professional license on or about August 5, 2011. He would not have obtained th professional 

license without the test taken by JB, and arranged for by DEFENDANT CLARENCE 

MUMFORD. Furthermore, without a license, he would not have been eligible fo his Memphis 

City Schools teaching contract and the money and benefits that accompany the co tract. 



Case 2:12-cr-20173-JTF   Document 25   Filed 08/24/12   Page 32 of 32    PageID 209

3. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud and to obt in money and 

property that, on or about June 29, 2011, DEFENDANT CLARENCE M MFORD and 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR., being aided and abetted by eac other, and for 

the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the aforementioned scheme nd artifice, did 

knowingly cause to be delivered by mail according to the direction thereon te cher licensing 

application paperwork sent by the Memphis City Schools to the Tennessee Department of 

Education, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341. 

[nmt 20 yrs.; nmt $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs. supervised release, t gether 
with a mandatory special assessment of $100.00, see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a ] 
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The change of plea hearing in this 

case began on this date , Friday , September '7 , 

2012 , at 2 : 30 o ' clock p . m., when and where 

evidence was introduced and proceedings were had 

as follows : 

THE COURT : All ight. Let ' s see . 

Okay , we h ave all of the parties here . 

MR. FABIAN : 

MR . MCAFEE: 

THE COURT : 

Yes , Your Honor . 

Yes , Your Honor. 

Now I just received Lh e 

In fo rmation in this case . 

Is it sealed? 

MR . FABIAN: The Information , as a 

matter of course , is seal ed , but we aLe not 

req uesting that it rem a in seaJed 

THE COURT: Oh , okay . 

MR . FABIAN: you know , at this time 

that point . 

THE COURT: What do you mean , " as a 

matter of course " it ' s sealed? 
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MR. FABIAN: It's my understanding 

that a ll -- all -- it ' s my understan i ng that al l 

I nfor mat io ns are sealed unt il the first heari ng on 

th e Informati on which is --

THE COURT: 

MR. FABIAN: 

case , Your Ho nor . 

THE COURT : 

they were all sealed . 

Which is today . 

-- this hearing on this 

I didn ' t know that that 

But , be tha t as i. t may , I ' m 

assum i ng thi s is the first appearance on the 

In for mat io n? 

MR. FABIAN : That ' s correct , You r 

Iionor . 

THE COURT: Okay . And the copy of 

that t hat I hav e , let me just go over wi. t h 

Mr . Bowen . 

Can someone give me just a little 

history , hav e we had any process at all? 

The reason we ' re coming u p with the 

Information , was th ere an indictment or anything 

like t hat prior -0 this time? 

MR. FABIAN: Your Honor , there was 

was no indict men t . The TnCormaLion was -- was 

provided t o d efe ns e cou nsel -- to defe n se counsel 

before fi l ing , it wa s , you know , the agreed upon 
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approach . 

THE COURT : Okay . 

Okay . All right . And J.s it just 

today for initial appearance . 

MR. FABIAN: NO , Your li o nor , there j s 

goi n g to be a c hange of plea , guilty plea t o the 

Informati o n this afternoon , Your Hono r . 

THE COURT: All right. I ' m assuming 

there is a plea agreement? 

MR . FABI AN: ThaL ' s correcL , Your 

Honor . 

THE COURT: Okay . Could I ta ke il look 

at it , please? 

MR. MCAFEE: Yes , sir . 

This is the original tha t we hav e 

marked o n. I have ano Lher o ne t h at I have marked 

on for my purposes in going o ve r it wiLh 

Mr . Bowen . 

THE COURT: Okay . Do you have an 

extra copy of the p l ea agree me nt ? 

If you don ' t that ' s okay . 

MR . FABIAN: I do not ha ve a clean 

copy , Yo u r Honor , a blank one . 

MR. MCAFEE: I mi g ht. I think I have 

two in here . 
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This is a clean copy . 

THE COURT: Okay . Apprec i ate j L , [ 

can ge t i t back to you a l ittJ JaLer . 

I ' m sorry , J meant th e pl ea agree me n t , 

not the I nfocmati o n , I have the Inf orma t io n . 

MR. MCAFEE: Which do you need? 

THE COURT : They nee d to keep t haL . 

8 need an extra copy o f t h e pLea agreeme nt . 

9 MR. MCAFEE: Oh , yes , sir , I have 

00 ",10 

1 1. 

12 

t h aL , Loo 

THE COURT: Okay . 

MR. MCAFEE: iL -- i t unfortunaLeJy 

13 ha s some of my marks - -
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THE COURT: No problem. 

MR. MCAFEE: but I ca n mak e do . 

THE COURT: 

n o probl e m . 

MR. MCAFEE: 

respectfully --

THE COURT: 

MR . MCAFEE: 

All right . Th a nk s , it ' s 

Your Honor , 

Go ahead . 

-- I also have this 

document as well , the Wa i ve r of IndictmenL . 

THE COURT: Ok ay . Thi s is Mr. Bowen? 

MR. JOHN BOWEN : Yes . 

THE COURT : Okay . Mr . Bowe n, in just 
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a few minutes after the prosecutor gives me some 

Informat io n about the case and also summarizes Lhe 

plea agreem nt J will need to talk with you about 

th e I n formation , t he change of plea , r.J ghts thaL 

you are waivi n g . We ' re going to have a sentencing 

hea ring out a bout 90 days or so . I just wanL to 

mak e sure you underst a nd ev rything , understand 

the impact o f everything . Okay? 

MR. JOHN BOWEN : Yes , sir . 

THE COURT: Okay . Now you ' ve been 

able to go over th is Information wit h your lawyer? 

MR. JOHN BOWEN: Yes , I have . 

THE COURT: 

terms of it with him? 

You have gone over the 

MR. JOHN BOWEN: Yes , si .e , I have . 

THE COURT: And yo u und erstand 

everything? 

MR. JOHN BOWEN : Yes , s ir . 

THE COURT: Okay . nt th i s tim . I ' m 

going to ask the government , if you would , p le ase , 

to summarize for the record the plea agr ement and 

then provide me with the facts that support the 

case . 

MR. FABIAN: Yes , Your Ii o nor. 

Does Your Honor prefer sort of a 
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summary of t he plea -

TH E COURT : Yes, you do n ' t have to 

read it , just a summary of the terms . 

MR. FABIAN: Okay . Yes , Your lI onor . 

The defendant is agreeing to -- to 

plead g uilty to the o ne -- the one co unt 

indi c tm e n t In formation charg ing h i m wi t h 

conspiracy in violation of Title 18 United States 

Code -- Unit d States Code Sect i on 371 . 

!le ' s waiving his right to challenge 

the voluntariness -- voluntariness of his guilty 

plea on appeal or a n y collatera l attack , t h at is 

except with respect to claims of: in ineffective 

assista nce -- assistance of co un selor 

prosecutorial misconduct . 

The de fen ant is acknowledging his 

rig ht to a p peal . He is knowi ngly and voluntarj l y 

wa i ving thaL right to appeal any sentence imposed 

by the court and the manner i n whi ch the sentence 

is determined . 

!l e ' s -- we ' r e requesting that t he 

cou rt e nt er a sp eific findi ng that the 

defendanL ' s waiver of his right to appeal is 

kn owingly a nd volun tarily . 

He is agree ing t o pay the special 



11 

o 2 , 4 S 1 assessment . 

2 The Un i t e d States agrees to recommend 

3 the maximum possible reduclio n for acceptance of 

4 responsibjlity so long as th e defendanl cont inu es 

o 2 , , 5 5 to demonstrate an acceplance until and including 

6 he time of s nlencing . 

7 The parties agree ~n this case that 

8 the applicable Uni ted Stales Sentencing Guideline 

9 is Section 2 B1 . 1 . And that the defendant ' s 

o 2 : " 6 J 0 relevant conduct is limil ed to a loss value of no 

11 gr.eater than $70 , 000 . 

J 2 The parties agree that the Un ited 

13 Stales ma y f i le a Section ~Kl . l mo tion . 1'he 

14 deE e nd a n t und e r s tands Lh~t at this time n o one has 

o 2 , 4 6 1 5 promised him that such a motion will be made o n 

16 hi s behalf and underst~nds that the determinations 

17 as to whethe r such a moti on would be filed is 

18 solely within the discret io n of the Un i ted S t al es . 

] 9 An the decision to grant such a motion r est 

o 2 , 4 6 2 0 exclusively with the court . 

2 1 The de f en ~nt acknowledges that he has 

22 be e n advised and understands lhal if h e enqages jn 

23 any cri minal offense or any o bstrucLion of jusLice 

2 4 the United Sta t es would be released from its 

o 2 , 4 6 25 obligations under this plea agreeme nt but th e 
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defenda n t would not be released from his guilty 

plea . 

E·inally , t he defendant acknowle ges 

that he has read the agree me n t and/or had it read 

to him and has discussed it with his attorney and 

understands it . 

THE COURT: Okay . 

MR . FABIAN : And as far as the fa cts 

supporting the plea , the government offers th e 

following . if this maLLer had gone to trial it 

would have offered evidence to the following 

facts . 

l\nd if you will excuse me , '(our lI onor , 

j ' s a somewhat lengthy series of Eacts because 

it ' s it ' s a co mp l i cated indic Lment . 

The proof would hav e shown as fo l lows: 

This case cenLers up on a type of 

teacher certification examination called a PRl\XiS 

examination . The examinations are created by a 

company called Educational Testing Services r ETS 

for short which is headquar ered in Princeton , 

New Jersey . Arkansas , Mississippi a n d Tenne ssee 

are among the stales that requite individuals 

e ntering the t eac hing prof ssion and teachers 

seeking endorsements on lhere lLcenses Lo Lake and 
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pass PRAXIS examinations . 

The individuals involved 1n this case 

were seeking to have test taken and passed b cause 

t heir st tes require them to pass these 

exami nations to obtain or retain their teaching 

licenses . 

ETS charged fees for t h e exa minaLi o ns . 

The departments of educa - lon in 

Tennesse e and Mississippi and Arkansas relied upon 

Lhe exa mjnaLi ons in the issuance or Li ce nses . 

Indivjduals taking Lests were required 

to make ce rtain Lhreshold scores in order to 

obtain license or endorsements up on their ex i sLing 

licenses . 

So security numbers were used in the 

register process for Mississ i ppi and because these 

states required the use of Social Security numbers 

to process teacher certif i cation paperwork . 

Arkansas used the lasl [our d i gIts of 

a n i ndivid ual ' s Social Security number . 

ETS owned copyrights and trad e marks in 

the PRAXIS examinations and re stri cted access to 

examinatio n s and qu estions . 

ETS had prope rty interest the PRAXIS 

examinations a n d the good will it generated in 
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developing and administering the exami nat ions . 

Registrants for the exami nations did 

so online and the registrations involved wire 

communi cations to ~TS servers in Delawa r e . The 

wir commu n icatio n s were l.hen l. rans [erred to I';,[,S 

in Princeton, New Jersey where E'rs employees 

accessed the information . 

Individuals taking the examination 

signed co n Ei entiality statements affirming that 

the person taking the test was the person whose 

name and address was u sed in the applica ti e n 

process and agree ing to mai n ta in the 

confidential iLy of all test questions . 

l ndjviduals Laking Lhe examinations 

presented t heir driver's licenses. 

Res ul ts of tests wer e wired f rom test 

ce n ters in Arkansas , Mississippi and Te nn essee to 

ETS seLvers in Delaware and then to I:: 'I' S in 

i?r l nceto n , New Jersey. 

ET S provided test scores to Lhe 

in ividua l s registered for the test by th e e- mail 

and through the Internet . 

Tennessee , Arkansas and Mississ i ppi 

teacher ' s lice n ses con (erred substantia l benerits 

Lo license holders , i n cludi ng salaries, 



1 5 

0 2 , 1 9 1 retirement , disability , survivor and other 

2 benefits. 

3 Possession of a teacher ' s license 

4 enabled license holders to contract wi th school 

0 2 : 5 0 5 districts , and those contracts had economic --

6 economic vaLue to the parties to the contracts . 

7 On o r abo u t June 11th , 2010 the 

8 Tennessee Gureau of Investigatjon re c eived a 

9 request to investigate a network of individuals 

02 : 5 0 10 who were fraudulently taken licens re examinations 

11 for t eachers employed or hoping to be employed in 

1 2 the Memphis city schools , Shelby County sc hools 

13 and in school distric ts in Misslss i ppi and 

14 Arkansas . 

o 2 , 5 0 15 Th e requests for investigation arose 

16 out of an incident that occurred at Ar kansas State 

17 Un i versity in Jonesboro , Arkans s o n or abouL June , 

18 13th , 2009 . 

19 On or about that date exa min ations 

o 2 , 5 0 20 were being co ndu cted of teachers seeking to obtain 

21 teaching certifications. A lady in a pink ball 
• 

22 cap took an exa min ation in a female ' s name during - ::. 
23 the first session of tests on that da te . The 

2 4 pr. octor for this female Session I exami nation sa w 

o 2 , 5 1 25 the female ' s nam e on the list for one of the 
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second session tests . This proctor entered the 

ro om wh ere the secon session LesL wa s being Lak en 

but did not see the lady in the pink ball cap , 

instead there was a man tak i ng the test i n th 

female ' s name . 

lnvestlgat ors La Ler learned thaL this 

man name -- this man was the defendant who has 

been a substitute teacher in the Memphis city 

s c ho ols . 

- The proctor then foun the lady in the 

pink ball cap in another room . She asked f or the 

lady ' s 1 . D. but the lady refused and walked o uL . 

The lady in t he pink ball cap was 

taking the second sesslon test in another 

ind i vidual ' s name . 

The proctor , another proc tor then 

examined the seating charts for the examinations 

taken o n that date . They de ermined that the man 

ta king th test in the female ' s nam e durin l: he 

second session , that is the defendant , had taken a 

test during the first sessio n in a different 

pe rso n ' s name. 

They found LhaL yeL anoLher person was 

testing in that male ' s name , the name the 

defendant used in the first session during the 

201605
Text Box

201605
Text Box

201605
Text Box



02 : , 2 1 

2 

3 

~ 

o 2 : , 2 5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

0 2 : 5 ~ 10 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

o ~ : 5 2 15 

J 6 

17 

J 8 

19 

o 2 ; 5 2 20 

21 

22 

23 

2 ~ 

o 2 : ~ 3 25 

11 

se c ond sess io n . 

Th ey also found that that individual 

ha d t es t ed in t he nam e of yet another person 

d uri ng th e f ir s t session . 

The proctor then appr oac hed thi s 

individ ual and aske d for hi s 1 . 0 . sayi ng that s h e 

nee ded t o check on somethi ng . Thi s ma n asked if 

h e cou ld geL a drink of water and was told no , but 

did so anyway . He nev er r et urn d . 

'r he o Lh er test-take rs left l eaving he 

d efe nda n t b e hind . He admitted t o un ivers ity 

police t h at he had be e n paid t o take tes ts o n 

b e half of other pe o pl e . 

After this incid e n t ETS conducted an 

i nvesti gaLi on and i nf or med the Tennessee 

Department of Educatio n whi c h la t er referred Lh e 

i nves tig ation t o the Tenn es see Bu reau o f 

Investigati o n . 

The inv esti gators inte r viewe d oze n s 

of individu I s a nd obtained bank l oa n a nd testing 

records to i de tify p ar- i ipants in the sc h eme . 

Th e d efe nd a nt was inte r viewed mu ltip l e 

Lim es and admiLted that he had met Clare nce 

Munfo rd during the 1994 to 1 995 sch ool year whe n 

Munford was th e assi stanL princi.pal at Ilumes II i gh 
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School and t he defendant was a substiLuLe teach e r . 

Munford asked if he was skil l ed taking 

tests . When the defendant replied that he was , 

Munford of Eered him $200 per test t o ta ke PRAXIS 

examinat io ns. 

The defendant stated that he had taken 

PRAXIS examinations off and on between 1995 and 

2000 , and from 2 000 to 2010 he had taken about 

three or four tests per years . A1Lhough he was 

original l y paid tw hundred dollars per test , he 

wa s late r paid five hundred dollars for two hour 

tests a nd s i x hundred dollars for three hour 

tests . 

The defendant stated that as part of 

the scheme he gave his i e ntifi cation to Munford 

so that MunEord could create altered 

identifications for the test . 

The defendant said he had observed 

MUflford alteri ng an 1 . 0 . by drawing a picture of a 

test -- a picture of a test-Laker under the 

laminate o f the i enliii c ation of the person [or 

whom the tesl -t aker was taking the tesL . 

He stated that Munford would collecl 

money and an identification from the person pay i ng 

for the test a nd then give the defendant an 
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1 altered 1 . 0 . and payment in an envelope before the 

2 test . 

3 Mun ford often mailed the I . D. ba c k Lo 

4 the Leacher or aspiri ng Leacher after the Lest was 

5 ta ken . 

6 The defendant sta t ed that he 

7 original l y took examinations at the Un iversi ty of 

8 Memphis but later began taking tesLs at different 

9 

10 

11 

12 

1 3 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

] 9 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

locatio ns in Mi ssissippi , Arkansas and Tennessee 

to better avoid detecLion fro m individuals LhaL 

were or may have been fam ili ar with him . 

Investigators executed a search 

warrant at Munf ord ' s house in Memphis in September 

2010 a nd found various identification docume nL s 

includi n g copies oE the defenda nL ' s identificaL ion 

cards and multiple driver licenses with the 

photograph of the defendant upon the driver ' s 

license of ot her individuals . 

They found a co mput er and a prlnLer, 

la min ating s heets c ut to the si ze of a driver ' s 

license , cash , ETS PRAXIS documenta -io n. Letters 

to Munford from pe ople who had paid him for tests 

and han written notes wiLh idenLlfi caLion daLa 

such as Social Security nlJmbers . 

After the search warranL the 



o 2 , 5 5 1 

2 

3 

4 

0 2 : 5 5 5 

6 

'7 

8 

9 

o 2 : ~ ') 10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

02 : 5 5 15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

o 2 , 5 6 20 

21 

22 

2 3 

24 

o 2 : 5 6 25 

20 

investigation continued . InvestigaLors l e arned 

that numerous registrations for PRAXIS 

exa minat i ons were associated with Clar.e nce 

Munf ord ' s Memphis city schools electronic ma il 

address . 

They also learned that numerous 

registrations had been made paid wit h Munford ' s 

credit card. 

leads. 

Investigators fo ll owed up o n those 

Th ~) y learned tha t a femaJ.e whose initials 

are AM was registered for a PRAXJ.S examinaLion on 

or about Mar.ch l~ th , 2008 , a nd that the defendant 

took t h e test on AM ' s behalf u sing an 

id e n tification created by Munford wi th AM ' s 

identification i nformation a nd Dowe n ' s pict ur e . 

Th e fi r st name of the fema l e ' s name 

was altered to make i t look more like a male name . 

The also learned that an individual 

wh ose ini ti.als ace LE was registered Eor a pl\AXrS 

examination on or about May 13th , 2 008 , and thaL 

the defendant took the tes o n LE ' s behalf using 

an identification created by Munford wiLh LE ' s 

identifi c aLion information and Bo wen ' s pjctu r e . 

Th ey l ear n ed that a n individual wh ose 

initials are LH was registered for a PRAX I S 
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exa mination or for PRAXIS exa minat i ons on or abouL 

May 20t h , 2 008 and June 20th , 2009 , and thiJl: Lhe 

defendant took those tests o n Lit ' s behalf using an 

identif i cation created by Munford wi. t h [, 11 ' s 

identjficaLion and Bowen ' s picture . 

The first -- this was a female whose 

first name was altered Lo make it look mo~e like a 

male name. 

Al.so a rl individual whose initials are 

TW was registered for a PRAXIS exa minati o n on or 

abo u t July 3J st , 2008 . The defendant took the 

test on 1W ' s behalf using an identificat i o n 

cr-eiJLed by Munford wjLh TW ' s idenl.iLicLlLlon 

in[ormat jo n and Bowen ' s pJC l.ure . 

An individ u al whos e initiLlls are VH 

THE COURT: Excuse me , Mr . Fabian . 

How many examples d o you hav e there? 

MR. FABIAN : These are -- Lhere are 

t h ree mor Lo go , Your lI onor . Th ese are Lhe 

named the listed overt a cts i n the Inf ormatio n . 

A femal whos in i tials are VII was 

registered for PRAXIS examination on April 25L h , 

2009 . Th e defendant took the tes t on VII ' s behLl l ( 

us i ng idenLification creaLed by Mun fotd with her 

i n for mati o n a nd Bowen ' s picture. 
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o 2 , 5 7 1 The last two al l egations are identical 

2 and the initials in -- in these cases are VM and 

3 EB. The PRAXIS examination da tes are May 19 th , 

4 2009 [or VM and June 13th , 2009 for ~B . Both 

o ? : 5 1 
,-
;) involved the u se of a fraudulent identification , 

6 the same as mentioned previously . 

7 And that wou l conclude the 

II government ' s offer of proof, Your Ii onor . 

9 THE COURT : Tha nk you . 

o 2 , 5 6 10 Mr . McAfee , can you s t ipulate as t o 

11 the facts? 

12 MR. MCAFEE: Your Honor , I 

13 respectfully stipulate that there is a factual 

H basis , that that would have been the proof that 

a 2 : 5 B 15 the government w08ld have offered at D trial . 

16 respectfully ask the co urt Lo accept th i s 

17 negotiated plea . 

18 THE COURT: All right . Thank you . 

19 Mr . Bowen, I don ' t know if I put you 

o 2 : 5 8 20 und r oath . If [ --

21 MR . MCAFEE : I do not b e l i ve you d i d. 

22 THE COURT: If you wo u ld raise your 

23 rig hL han d , please . 

2 4 Do you solemnly swear or affirm , under 

o :~ : 3 8 25 the penalti es oE perjury , the testlmony Lha L you 
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1 are about to provid the court in this matter will 

2 be the truth , be the truth , the whole truth and 

3 
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nothing buL the truth , so help you God? 

THE WITNESS: Yes , sir . Okay . 

can put your hand down . 

You 
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JOHN BOWEN, 

was ther e up o n cal l ed as a witness o n be h al f. o f the 

Cour t , and having been f i rst duly swor n , 

was ex am i n ed and testiEied as f ollo ws: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. Okay . You ' re John Bowen? 

A. Yes , sir . 

Q. Okay . Mr . Flow e n , h ow old a r e yO ll, sir? 

A. 1 will be 64 on SepLember the 18th . 

Q. How far did yOll go in school? 

A. I ha ve a master ' s , a M. A. from the Ohio St a te 

Un i versiLy . 

Q . Okay . College educaLed? 

A. Yes , s i r . 

Q. So YOll can read an d writ e and understand 

everyt hin g that's going on? 

A. Ye s , sir . 

Q. No me dications that yo u are o n r j g ht no w or 

anything Lh at would clo ud your underSLanding? 

A. No , sir . 

Q. All right. Did you hear th e facts th L the 

prosocuLor gave me? 

A. Ves , I d id . 

Q. Were you involv d in that consp i racy and did 
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y ou do those things? 

A. Yes , sir , 1 did . 

Q . You ' re ~eady to p lead guilty then? 

A. Yes , si.~ . 

Q. All right . I need to go over with you the 

ri ht s that you are waiving , the ag~eement that you 

are entering into , 1 just need Lo make sure that you 

u nderstand everything . 

A. Okay . 

Q. Okay . [,irst off, your firsL right , you hav" an 

absol ut e right to h ave this case presented Lo th e 

g~and ju ry . In [act , I ca n ' L eve n proceed today 

un less you waive your right to ha ve iL presented to 

t h e grand jury . 

I thi nk what your la wyer ha s there , Mr . McAfee 

has , is a waiver o f indic Lment and presentment there . 

I Lhlnk you ' re l ooking at that documen L now . 

A. Yes , sir. 

Q . Have you had opportu n ity to read it? 

A. Yes , I have. 

Q . Do y o u underst nd it? 

A . Yes , si.r , 1 do . 

Q . And have you discuss ed it th oro ugh ly wiLh your 

lawyer? 

A . Yes , I h ave . 
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Q. And d i d you sign lh e d oc ument? 

A. Yes , 1 did . 

Q. An also Mr . Mc Af ee signed il? 

A. Yes , sir. . 

Q. I s t h at how you want to proceed today? 

A. Yes , sir . 

Q. Okay . Yo u ca n sit that down now . 

And next the plea agree me n t , we wi 11 go over 

that in just a few minutes , bu t the o th er rights that 

you have , you have an absol ut e rig h t to hav e a jury 

lrial in t hi s case . I und erstand yo u arc pleading 

guilty , we ' re going to have a se nt e n ci n g h ea rin g o ut 

several months [rom n o w, but at Lhis poin l you do h avo 

the rjght to h ave a jury t ri al? 

A. I un dersta nd . 

Q. I f you told me lhat you want a tr ial , I would 

se t a trial date and ca l l for a jury . The juro s 

would sit in those chairs rig h t over t h ere a nd li ste n 

to the tes limo n y of a ll t he witnesses . Those 

allegations thal the prosecutor just wenl inLo , the 

pros eulor would h ave t o b 1 n g wJtness s down hor e and 

present all th o e facts to t h e j ury. They would have 

to convince the jury beyond a reaso n abJe doub L of your 

gu il l of the offense . 

You would be prese nt in the courtroom when 
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03: 0 0 1 those wiLnesses testify . Mr . McAtee would be with 

2 you . He would be ab l e to question those witnesses , 

3 cross examine the witnesses. In other words , you have 

4 the right to confront the witn esses . 

o 3 : 0 1 '" :J Do you understand? 

6 A . I understand that , yes , s ir. 

7 Q. After the government presenLod its cases , you 

8 would have an opportunity to present witnesses . If 

9 you had a defense or any other witnesses , your lawyer , 

o 3 : 0 1 1 0 Mr . McAfee , would s u poena those witnesses and geL 

11 them down here Lo testify . 

12 If he had trouble ge tting them down here , i1 

13 they tried to refuse , I would send the marshal ' s 

H service out to go and get those witnesse s and brjng 

o :I = a I 15 them down here to testify . 

16 You also have the right to tesLify . You have., 

17 th e right to remain silent . If you told me Lhat you 

18 did not want to testify , J would instruct the jury 

1 9 accordingly , that they could use tho fact of YOII 

o ) : 0 1 20 remaining sjle nt for no purpose whatsoever in Lhe case 

21 or in their decision . 

22 On t he other hand , i f you wanted to LesLify, 

23 you would be given he opportunity to Lell Lhe jury in 

2 4 your own words whaL happ ened . And 1 would jnstruct 

o ] ! 0 ] 25 the ju ry that Lhey would have La consider your 
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testimony as they would any other witness testimony 

during Lhe Lrial . 

Do you understa nd? 

A. Yes , sir , I underst a nd that . 

Q. Now af t er the -- aft r all the witnesses have 

been called a nd the j ur y was instr ucted as to the law , 

the jury would deci e whether or not yo u we r e guilty . 

Of course , If they fou nd yo u gull t y , wou 'l d 

sente nce you accordi ng Lo the law and yo have Lhe 

righL to app a1 the sentence and the convicLi o n to Lhe 

Court of Appeals . 

Do you und ersta nd ? 

A. Yes , sir , I und erstand t hat. 

Q. As far as th at righL of appea l qO (~ S , you have 

t he right to b e t he represented by co un sel , Mr. McAfee 

woul d han dle t hat , and if for some reason he couldn ' t , 

if you neede d a lawyer , I would appointment o ne fOT 

you . 

Do you understand? 

A. Yes , sir , I undersLand . 

Q. But you see , when you plead guilty , yo u give up 

a l l those rig ht s . The case isn ' t go i ng to be 

presenLed Lo Lhe grand jury . We have this 

In f ormati.on . It ' s not going to be a tria l . [L ' s noL 

going to be a n appeal as far a s the t rial is 
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o L 0 2 1 co ncerned. The only thing is this plea agre m nL that 

2 you ' r entering into . 

3 Do you understand? 

4 A. Yeah , I ' m cle'r' <lbout that , Sir . 

o L 0 2 5 Q. Are you doi.ng this freely and volunLiJri I y? 

6 A. Yes , sir . 

'7 Q. Is anyone forci ng you t o plead gu i lty? 

8 A. No , sir . 

9 Q . Wh o made the decision to plead guilty today? 

o 1 , 0 3 10 A. ] - - I did . 

11 Q . Are yo u satisfied with the representation thaL 

12 your lawyer has given you? 

13 A . Yes , a m. 

11 Q. Okay . Now t he plea agreement , we ' re gojng Lo 

0 3 = 0 ] 15 go over that . 

16 First of all , t he first provision there under 

17 paragraph one is that , of cours , you are v o lunt:<lrily 

18 enteri n g a p l ea of guilty . 

19 You understa nd t hat , don ' t you? 

03,01 20 A . Yes , sir . 

2 1. Q . Okay . Your plea LS free l y and voluntari l y 

22 . " glven. 

2 3 A. Y s , Slr. 

24 Q . Okay . Yo u ' re waivi ng t he rig h t to - - to appeal 

0 3 , 0 J 25 except for any i ss ue as far as i neffective assistan ce 
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of counselor pros ecutorial mis con du ct is concerned . 

Do yo u und e rstand ? 

A . Yes , sir . 

Q. Okay . And I ' m assuming you discussed all o [ 

that with your attorney? 

A. I did . 

Q. Of cou rs e , you ' r e pleading guilLy Lo Lh e 

all egatio n s in the I n for mat i o n a n d we will have a 

sentencing heating in several mo nths i n order to 

d ete rmine Lh e exac t se nt ence involved. 

Now yo u under sta nd this co nspi racy . 

THE COURT: M Fabian , what. js Lhe 

range of punis hment as far as the conspiracy is 

concerned? 

MR. FABIAN: Yo ur Honor , the -- the 

governme nL has not calc ul a t e d that wi th -- wjth 

THE COURT: I ' m n o L La.lk in g about. 

Sentencin g Guidelines , I ' m talk i ng 

about statutory . 

MR. FABIAN: 1 apologi ze , Your Honor. 

The sta u ·or y maximum se nten ce Is n o 

more t han five years , no mo re Lh an a 2 50 , 000 

dollar fin(~ , or both . No more than one yeur of 

supervis ed release , and a ma nda tory special 

ass ess me nL of one hundred do l lars . 

Lho 
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1 THE COURT: 1 neede d to just double 

2 check th at , I t h o ught that ' s way iL was when 1 

3 worked over he re , bu I wasn ' t sure . 

4 

5 

6 

MR. FABIAN: .r apo 'l og i ze lor 

mis understandi n g yo u qu estio n , Your Iionor . 

THE COURT: No problem . 

7 BY THE COURT: 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

12 

13 

1 4 

1 5 

] 6 

17 

18 

19 

20 

2 1 

22 

23 

24 

2~ 

Q. So , Mr . Bowen, do you understand th e staLutory 

range of puni sh ment? 

A. Yes , I do . 

Q. That. you ' re faci.nq up l o [j.ve years 

confinement? 

A. Yes , s ir . 

Q. No w I ' m not saying that ' s wh a t your se nt e nce 1S 

going to be . At the proper time at th e sen t enci ng 

hearing the probatio n off i ce wil l calculate your 

sentencing ra nge . 

Th ey will also present to me your ba ck ground 

informatio n , any c rirnln<:ll hi s t ory , your Cilmlly 

circumstances , aLL the information necess ary . /\nd ill 

t he senLencing hearing is wh en we wi I I ca l c ulat e a l I 

of that . 

Do yo u undersLand? 

A. I understand that. 

Q. Now yo u realize tha t. Lhe United Stales agrees 
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to recommend acceptance of responsjbi.li - y , Lhe full 

thre e point accepta nce of responsibility. 

Do you understa nd that it is ultimately my 

d ecisio n as far as acceptance of responsibiliLy is 

concerned? 

A . Yes , sir , 1 have dis c us sed iL wi Lh my aLLorney . 

Q. Okay . And j E by c hance you don ' L .receive that , 

it ' s not grounds for you to withdraw your plea. 

Do you understand that? 

A. 1 und ers Land . 

Q. Okay . You see you have an agreement as Far DS 

the relevanL conduct is concerned , the v Ju e of Lhe 

loss and it is seL at a maximum of $70 , 000. 

Do you unde r stand thaL? 

A. Yes , sir . 

Q. Okay . And the re ' s a possibili ty as f.r as a 

special or 5K1 and assistance is co ncerned , that LhaL 

is up to the Un i ted States to make that recommendation 

at se nte nci ng . 

Do you unde r stand? 

A . I understand that , sir . 

Q. Okay . And as Ear as I can te 1 l th is i s t he 

full agreeme n t beLween yourselr and Lh e Un iLed SLaLas , 

i.s that co rr ec t? 

A . Ye s , sir . 
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Q. Yo u understa n d th is is a felony Lh aL you are 

pl eadi n g g u ilty to? 

A. Yes , sir , I understa n d . 

Q. I t ' s wh at we cal l yo u ' re re nd e r ed i mfa mous , 

tha t mea n s yo u l ose ce r tai n r i ghts , like t h e r i g h t to 

vote 

A. Yes , sir . 

Q. -- and th e rig h t to s i t o n a jury , and from 

this day forward i l. wi ll be jl l egal for you Lo possess 

a firea r m --

A. I u n dersta nd . 

Q. do yo u und ers t a nd? 

Do you have a n y ques ti o n s about this at a l l? 

A. No , 1. do not . 

Q. I s t h i s h o w y o u wa n t t o p r ocee d? 

A. Yes , sir . 

Q . Okay . 

THE COURT: 

f ro m e ith e r s i de? 

MR. FABIAN: 

Anything I ' ve over l ooked 

Yo u r Ho nor , the o n ly 

thing , I ' m not sure if I did not hear i , but i f 

t h e co ur t made a s p ecific fi ndi n g o f the waiver of 

right to appeal t h e senLenco was kn o wing and 

vo l un tary . 

THE COURT: Okay . I can ask hi m tha t. 
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16 
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18 

19 
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JOH N BOWRN - DIRECT 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. I think 1 asked you if yo u realized tha t you 

were giving up the rig ht to appeal wiLh t he excepLion 

of a n y issues of i neffective assistance o f co unsel --

A. Yes , sir . 

Q. -- or prosecutorial mis co nduct . 

ask you thaL , I wi ll give ask you that 

A . Yes , SJ.lC , I understand. 

I( I didn ' L 

now . 

Q. SO a s Ear as the se nt e nc ing is conce~ n ed , 

un less I fix a senLe nce ouLside the guideljn . range , 

t here is no -- there is no a ppeal ? 

A . I unde r s l.a nd. 

Q. Okay . 

MR . MCAFEE: 

statutory ra nge. 

THE COURT: 

Respectfully , outs i dc') t he 

Yes . 

MR. FABIAN: Thank you , Your Ii o nor . 

THE COURT: All right . Anything e l se? 

MR. FABIAN: No , Your Ho nor . 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. MCAFEE: Th e primary documon Ls . 

THE COURT: Yos , th ey wi I I neod Lo be 

filed wit h t he clerk t here , Lh e Information as 

2 4 wel l as -- rat her th e plea agre ement alld the 

Wa iver of I nd ictment . 
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No w as far a s re leas e is co nce rn ed . 

Okay . I don ' t kn ow j f' you a l l have 

talked abo u t that wheLher there ' s a ny type 0 1 

process . 

MR. FABIAN: Your Ho nor , the de [ e nd a n t 

has bee n o n -- we have not discussed that . The 

deJendanl has bee n complia n t . Th e gov(-) rnrn(~n l 

would have no problem wi th ROR . 

I g uess he -- 1 believ e he is required 

t o report to the ma rs hal s on the t ent h El oor to be 

processed . 

THE COURT: I think he i s go lng lo 

ha ve to g o to the marshals to be processed . 

MR. FABIAN: Th at ' s cor re c t . But. as 

fa r as release , the govern ment has no -- we wou ld 

p repared ROl<. . 

THE COURT: 

about th ese charges? 

MR. MCAFEE: 

seo . 

THE COURT: 

MR. FABIAN: 

!low lon g ha s h e kno wn 

Oh , my goodness , le t. me 

A number of mon hs , weeks? 

A numb er o f months , ye<lh , 

h e has be e n awa re o[ Lhe invest igatjon [or quile 

sorne - ime , and it ' s Fo r over a yea r . 

MR . MCAFEE: That ' s r.ight . 
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THE COURT: I believe you indicated in 

your statemenL Lhat he gave staLements o f 

admission when he was contacted? 

MR. FABIAN: Tha t ' S correct . 

THE COURT : All. Light . We will go 

ahead and show it on ROR re l ease . 

MR . MCAFEE: Thank you , Your Honor.. 

THE COURT : But he is going Lo have t o 

be processe through the marshals . 

MR. MCAFEE: Ye s , sir . 

THE COURT: Okay . 1 need an address 

and phone number at this time . 

MR. JOHN BOWEN: My address , 4587 

Buffer , B-u - f -f-e-r Drive , 38 128 . 

MR. MCAFEE: Your Honor , because we 

have press In the cour troom , may I approac h wiLh 

his phone number? 

THE COURT : AU right . I\pproach the 

s id ebar . 

(The following proceedlng s had al. Si de - ba r 

bench . ) 

MR. MCAFEE: 748-5072 , I will verify 

wiLh him LhaL 1 s a five buL it is his writing. 

While I am up here could T jusL 

mention so it will save you time laLer? 
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THE COURT : Right , go ahead . 

MR . MCAFEE : I know the co urt ' s policy 

is for us to help probation. I am going to be 

available , I ' ve told them on the last case and it 

will be true on this one , that I ' m available every 

afternoon next week except Thursday afternoon when 

I have a case over here. We are trying to mee t 

with the agents today because t hey may need him 

for grand jury in a week or so , whenever it is . 

And so I can ' t do iL today , but I ' m not going to 

stall them , I can keep up with them . 

THE COURT: I under. sta nd , I don ' t 

think that you are one of the problems . They said 

sometimes it ' s a month before they can get the 

files from the United States and a month befor e 

they can interview folks just because of lawyers 

and their difficulty in this . 

MR. MCAFEE : I ' ve been a probJem 

b e fore but I ' m not right now. 

THE COURT : All right . Thank y o u. 

(The following proce dings were had in 

open court.) 

THE COURT : Anything ls e we ca n deal 

with today? 

MR . FABIAN: No , Your 1I 0nor . 



3 8 

o 3 : 1 1 1 THE COURT : Okay . Thank yo u, 

2 gentlemen . 

3 MR. MCAFEE: Did the court want to set 

4 a se nt e nci ng date? 

o 3 : 1 1 5 THE COURT: Yeah , we do need t o get a 

6 date . 

7 THE CLERK : December the 7th at 10 : 30 . 

8 MR. MCAFEE: When is time t hat 1 sol 

9 fo~ an hour a nd a half ago? 

o 3 : 1 1 10 THE CLERK: Friday at 9 : 30 , the same 

11 date at 9 : 30 . 

12 MR. MCAFEE: 9 : 30 , okay . 

J 3 THE CLERK: Yes . 

14 MR. FABIAN: Did you say 10:30 , Lo ri? 

o 3 : 1 1 15 THE CLERK: 10 : 30 . 

16 MR. FABIAN: Thank you. 

1.7 MR . MCAFEE: 1 think that will wock , I 

18 think I wi 11 be here . 

19 THE COURT : Okay . Thank you . 

o ] : 1 2 20 MR. MCAFEE: Thank you . 

21 MR . FABIAN : Than k you , Your Honor. 

22 (l\djourn men L at 3 : 12 p . m. ) 

23 

2 4 

25 
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I , Lynn DudJey , do hereby certi fy that. 

the foregoing 38 pages are , to th e best of my 

knowledge , skill and ability , a true and a ceur Le 

transcript from my stenotype notes of the cha nge 

of plea hea ri ng on September 7 , 2012 , in th e 
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United tates of America 
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J OHN BOWEN 

Dated thi s 5 h day o f December 20 1 2 . 
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FABIAN 
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 
WESTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

CLARENCE MUMFORD 
SAMUEL CAMPBELL 
DANTE DOWERS 
DARCEL GARDNER 
STEVE HOLMES 
VALERIE HUMPHREY 
CARLO MCCLELLAND 
JACKL YN MCKINNIE 
JADICE MOORE 
CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR. 
SARAH RICHARD 
JERYL SHAW 
KIMBERLY TAYLOR 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Cr. No. 12-CR-20173-An/P 

18 U.S.C. § 2 
18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(2) 
18 U.S.C. § 371 
18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(1) 
18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(5) 
18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(7) 
18 U.S.C. § 1 028A(a)(1) 
18 U.S.C. § 1341 
18 U.S.C. § 1343 
42 U.S.C. § 408(a)(7)(B) 

SECOND SUPERCEDING INDICTMENT 

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: 
INTRODUCTION 

1. At all times material herein: 

a. Educational Testing Service ("ETS") was a private nonprofit educational testing 

and assessment organization with headquarters in Princeton, New Jersey. One series of 

tests written and administered by ETS was the PRAXIS series, components of which are 

required by many states for individuals entering the teaching profession or for teachers 

obtaining subject-specific endorsements on their teaching licenses. 

b. Arkansas, Mississippi and Tennessee were among the states that required 

individuals entering the teaching profession and teachers obtaining subject-specific 

endorsements on their teaching licenses to take and pass PRAXIS examinations. 
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c. In Arkansas, other than certain out-of-state teachers obtaining reciprocal 

licenses, participants in a temporary non-traditional licensure program, and professionals 

teaching a limited number of classes per day, teachers were required to take and pass 

PRAXIS examinations to be licensed. 

d. In Mississippi, other than certain out-of-state teachers obtaining reciprocal 

licenses, teachers were required to take and pass PRAXIS examinations to be licensed. 

In the past, Mississippi has issued temporary transitional/emergency licenses that did 

not require passage of PRAXIS examinations. 

e. In Tennessee, other than teachers who obtained their licenses prior to 1984, 

certain out-of-state teachers obtaining reciprocal licenses, and teachers using 

transitional licenses, teachers were required to take and pass PRAXIS examinations to 

be licensed. 

f. ETS charged fees to individuals who took the PRAXIS examinations. The results 

of the examination were relied upon by the Departments of Education in Arkansas, 

Mississippi and Tennessee for the issuance of licenses. 

g. Because Tennessee and Mississippi required an individual's social security 

number to process educator certification paperwork, individuals taking PRAXIS 

examinations were required to provide their social security numbers to ETS as part of 

the PRAXIS registration process. Because Arkansas required the last four digits of an 

individual's social security number to process educator certification paperwork, 

individuals taking PRAXIS examinations were required to provide the last four digits of 

their social security numbers to ETS as part of the PRAXIS registration process. 

h. ETS owned copyrights in the PRAXIS examinations and questions, and the 

registered trademark, "PRAXIS," as used on the examinations and score reports. ETS 

also developed specialized test administration and scoring services for the PRAXIS 

examinations. To keep its PRAXIS product exclusive, secure and confidential, ETS 

2 
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restricted access to and use of its copyrighted PRAXIS examinations and questions and 

trademarked PRAXIS score reports, as well as its PRAXIS test administration and 

scoring services. 

i. Individuals taking the PRAXIS examination tests registered for the tests online. 

The registration process therefore involved wire communications from the computers at 

which registrants registered with ETS in Princeton, New Jersey. 

j. Individuals taking the PRAXIS examination tests signed confidentiality 

statements certifying that the person taking the test was the person whose name and 

address was used in the application process. In addition, those taking the test agreed to 

maintain the full confidentiality of all test questions and agreed not to reproduce and/or 

disclose any test question to anyone. Individuals unwilling to agree to these conditions 

would not be permitted to take an examination. Each individual taking a PRAXIS was 

also required to present his or her driver's license at the test-taking center. 

k. Once an exam was completed, exam results were wired from the test location in 

Arkansas, Mississippi or Tennessee to ETS in Princeton, New Jersey for processing. 

The individuals in whose name the exams were registered obtained their scores either 

via a score report mailed to them by ETS or via interstate wire communication through 

use of the internet. 

I. ETS developed substantial goodwill from development and administration of the 

PRAXIS examinations, some of which was based on the integrity of the testing 

processes. ETS had property interests in the PRAXIS product, including (i) materials 

bearing its trademarks, such as the PRAXIS examinations and score reports, (ii) its 

copyrighted materials, such as the PRAXIS examinations and their questions, and (iii) 

the ETS-specified test administration and scoring services for the PRAXIS examinations. 

ETS also had property interests in the value of its goodwill, which is an asset of ETS and 

is based, in part, on maintaining the integrity of the testing and security process. 

3 



Case 2:12-cr-20173-JTF   Document 47   Filed 09/19/12   Page 4 of 47    PageID 329

m. Tennessee teachers' licenses, issued by the Tennessee Department of 

Education, provided licensees with access to substantial economic benefits. In addition 

to their salaries, Tennessee teachers obtained coverage under the Tennessee 

Consolidated Retirement System, which provided retirement, disability and survivor 

benefits. 

n. Arkansas teachers' licenses, issued by the Arkansas Department of Education, 

provided licensees with access to substantial economic benefits. In addition to their 

salaries, Arkansas teachers obtained coverage under the Arkansas Teacher Retirement 

System, which provided retirement, age and service, disability, survivor and purchasing 

service credit benefits. 

o. Mississippi teachers' licenses, issued by the Mississippi Department of 

Education, provided licensees with access to substantial economic benefits. In addition 

to their salaries, Mississippi teachers obtained coverage under the Public Employees' 

Retirement System of Mississippi, which provides retirement, disability, and survivor 

benefits. 

p. Possession of a teacher's . license enabled licensees to contract with school 

districts. The school districts' contracts had economic value to the contracting districts 

and to the teachers who contracted with them. 

4 
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COUNT 1 

THE CONSPIRACY 

1. Beginning in or about January 1995, the exact date being unknown to the Grand Jury, 

and continuing until at least on or about July 8, 2010, in the Western District of Tennessee, and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

------------------------------------------------ CLARE N C EMU M FOR 0 --------------------------------------------

did unlawfully, willfully and knowingly combine, conspire, confederate and agree with Memphis 

City Schools employees and/or former employees hereinafter identified as "JB", "FK", "CS", and 

"SS", and with other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenses against 

the United States, that is: 

a. To use and cause to be used the United States mail in furtherance of a scheme 

and artifice to defraud and for obtaining money and property by means of false and 

fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, in violation of Title 18, United 

States Code, Section 1341; 

b. To use and cause to be used interstate wire communications in furtherance of a 

scheme and artifice to defraud and for obtaining money or property by means of false or 

fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, in violation of Title 18, United 

States Code, Section 1343; 

c. Producing an identification document, authentication feature, or false 

identification document without lawful authority, in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 1 028(a)(1); 

d. Transferring an identification document, authentication feature, or a false 

identification document knowing that the document or feature was produced without 

lawful authority, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(2); 

e. Producing, transferring or possessing a document-making implement or 

authentication feature with the intent such document-making implement or authentication 

5 
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feature will be used in the production of a false identification document, in violation of 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(5); 

f. Transferring, possessing or using, without lawful authority, a means of 

identification of another person with the intent to commit, or to aid or abet, or in 

connection with, any unlawful activity that constitutes a violation of Federal law, or that 

constitutes a felony under any applicable State or local law; in violation of Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 1028(a)(7); 

g. During and in relation to the commission of violations of Title 18, United States 

Code, Sections 1341, 1343, 1028(a)(1), 1028(a)(2) and 1028(a)(5); knowingly 

transferring, possessing, and using, without lawful authority, a means of identification of 

another person, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1 028A(a)(1); and 

h. Falsely representing a Social Security number to be assigned to a person other 

than the person to whom the number is truly assigned, with intent to deceive, for the 

purpose of obtaining any payment or any other purpose, in violation of Title 42, United 

States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(8). 

OBJECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY 

2. The objects of the conspiracy are set forth as follows: 

a. It was an object of the conspiracy to defraud ETS of property by obtaining access 

to and use of ETS's trademarked materials, copyrighted materials and services, by 

obtaining ETS's official score report, and by obtaining the benefit of, and undermining, 

ETS's goodwill and the value of its trademark and copyright. 

b. It was an object of the conspiracy to defraud the Arkansas, Mississippi and 

Tennessee Departments of Education of licensing materials by falsely representing to 

the said Departments of Education that teachers and aspiring teachers seeking licenses 

and endorsements on teaching licenses had, in fact, passed required PRAXIS 

6 
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examinations when, as DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD then well knew, the 

teachers and aspiring teachers had not passed the required examinations. 

c. It was an object of the conspiracy to defraud local school districts in Arkansas, 

Mississippi and Tennessee by falsely representing to the school districts that teachers 

using DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD'S services had passed PRAXIS 

examinations and were properly licensed and thereby causing school districts to enter 

into contractual relationships with individuals who had not, in fact, passed PRAXIS 

examinations and were not, in fact, properly licensed. 

d. It was an object of the conspiracy to produce false identification documents 

without lawful authority; and to transfer identification documents, authentication features 

and false identification documents knowing they were produced without lawful authority; 

and to transfer and possess authentication features knowing they would be used in 

production of a false identification document; and to transfer, possess and use means of 

identification of other persons, knowingly and with intent to commit, and to aid and abet, 

and in connection with activities constituting violations of federal law. 

e. It was an object of the conspiracy for test-takers to use the social security 

numbers of individuals who had negotiated with DEFENDANT CLARENCE 

MUMFORD to have tests taken as part of the PRAXIS registration process to 

register for the PRAXIS examinations. 

f. It was a principle object and purpose of the conspiracy to carry out and to 

execute the above-listed objects of the conspiracy for the ultimate personal gain, 

benefit, profit, advantage, and accommodation of DEFENDANT CLARENCE 

MUMFORD and his co-conspirators. 

7 
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MANNER AND MEANS OF THE 
CONSPIRACY AND SCHEME TO DEFRAUD 

3. The manner and means by which the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud 

functioned is more particularly set forth as follows: 

a. It was part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD was an individual to whom teachers or 

individuals aspiring to be teachers who were - and/or believed they were - unable to 

pass PRAXIS examinations could go to arrange for another individual to take PRAXIS 

examinations on behalf of each teacher or aspiring teacher. Teachers and aspiring 

teachers in schools in Memphis and Shelby County, as well as in Arkansas and in 

Mississippi, made use of DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD'S services. 

b. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD directed teachers or individuals aspiring to be 

teachers to provide DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD with their driver's' licenses, 

often through the United States mail. DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD paid co-

conspirators JB, FK, CS and SS and other individuals to take tests on behalf of the 

teachers or aspiring teachers (hereinafter "test-takers"), and obtained the test-takers' 

driver's licenses as well. DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD then created fraudulent 

driver's licenses with the information of a teacher or aspiring teacher and a 

superimposed or otherwise attached photograph of a test-taker. 

c. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD gave the teachers or aspiring teachers 

instructions regarding when and where to register for the PRAXIS examination for which 

the teacher or aspiring teacher sought a paSSing score. Sometimes DEFENDANT 

CLARENCE MUMFORD completed the registration for the teacher or aspiring teacher. 

The registration was done online. DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD sometimes 

8 



Case 2:12-cr-20173-JTF   Document 47   Filed 09/19/12   Page 9 of 47    PageID 334

used his credit card or otherwise instructed the teacher or aspiring teacher to use his 

credit card to pay the registration fee for the teacher or aspiring teacher. DEFENDANT 

CLARENCE MUMFORD also sometimes used his electronic mail address or otherwise 

instructed the teacher or aspiring teacher to use his electronic mail as the contact 

electronic mail address during the PRAXIS registration process. 

d. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 

the teacher or aspiring teacher's social security number was used in the PRAXIS 

registration process. Often, DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD instructed teachers 

or aspiring teachers to send him the teacher's or aspiring teacher's social security 

number along with the teacher's or aspiring teacher's driver's license, if the driver's 

license did not contain a social security number. The score reports mailed by ETS 

contained the social security numbers of the teachers or aspiring teachers. 

e. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD directed the teacher or aspiring teacher to pay 

him for his services. Payments fell in ranges varying from approximately $1,500 per test 

to approximately $3,000 per test, depending on what test and the time frame in which 

the test was taken. The payments were sometimes in the form of cash and, more often, 

in the form of cashier's checks or money orders. Sometimes the payments were hand 

delivered, but most often DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD directed the teacher or 

aspiring to teacher to send the payment via United States mail. DEFENDANT 

CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained tens of thousands of dollars from teachers and 

aspiring teachers during the course of the conspiracy. 

f. It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD paid the test-takers for their services. 

g. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that test-takers would 

appear at the test sites, which were located in Arkansas, Mississippi and Tennessee, 

9 
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and falsely identify themselves as individuals in whose names the registrations for the 

tests were completed. 

h. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that the test-taker, posing 

as the individual in whose name the registration for the test was completed, would then 

sign the confidentiality statement in the name of the person whose name and address 

was used in the application process. 

i. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that, once the' 

examination was processed, the results were mailed to a location controlled by 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD or to one of his co-conspirators in Arkansas, 

Mississippi or Tennessee. 

OVERT ACTS IN FURTHERANCE OF THE CONSPIRACY 

4. At all times hereinafter mentioned, during the pendency of the conspiracy, the following 

overt acts were engaged in, in the Western District of Tennessee and elsewhere, at least one of 

which furthered and effected the goals of said combination, conspiracy, confederation and 

agreement: 

a. Overt acts related to DEFENDANT JACKL YN MCKINNIE include the following 

acts on or about the dates listed below: 

1 10.24.2007 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT JACKL YN MCKINNIE or someone 
acting on her behalf registered online for a PRAXIS 
examination to be taken on November 17, 2007 in her 
name by a test-taker sent by DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD. The registration involved 
the use of DEFENDANT JACKL YN MCKINNIE's 
social security number. 

2 11.17.2007 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained J8's 
and DEFENDANT JACKL YN MCKINNIE's driver's 
licenses. DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD 
used the driver's licenses to create a false 

10 
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identification with DEFENDANT JACKLYN 
MCKINNIE's name and identifying information, and 
JB's photograph. 

3 11.17.2007 JB took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
DEFENDANT JACKL YN MCKINNIE.. To take the 
examination, JB presented a driver's license with his 
own picture and DEFENDANT JACKLYN 
MCKINNIE's name and identifying information. 

b. DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR. include the following acts on or 

about the dates listed below: 

4 01.12.2008 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR. or 
someone acting on his behalf registered online for a 
PRAXIS examination to be taken on January 12, 2008 
in his name by a test-taker sent by DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD. The registration involved 
the use of DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, 
JR.'s social security number. 

5 01.12.2008 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained JB 
and DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR.'s 
driver's licenses. DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD used the driver's licenses to create a 
false identification with DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD, JR.'s name and identifying information, 
and JB's photograph. 

6 01.12.2008 JB took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR .. To take 
the examination, JB presented a driver's license with 
his own picture and DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD, JR.'s name and identifying information. 

7 06.29.2011 DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD and 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR. caused 
the mailing of teacher licensure application 
documents by the Memphis City Schools to the 
Tennessee Department of Education regarding 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR's 
Tennessee licensing. 

II 
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c. Overt acts related to DEFENDANT CARLO MCCLELLAND include the following 

acts on or about the dates listed below: 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

01.18.2008 

01.28.2008 

02.05.2008 

02.14.2009 

02.14.2009 

03.06.2009 

03.06.2009 

An individual referred to hereinafter as LW prepared a 
check in the amount of $1,630.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account 
as payment on behalf of DEFENDANT CARLO 
MCCLELLAND. 

JB took a PRAXIS Pre-Profession Skills Test: Writing 
examination on behalf of CM2. 

LW obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $500.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account 
as payment on behalf of DEFENDANT CARLO 
MCCLELLAND. 

LW obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $450.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account 
as payment on behalf of DEFENDANT CARLO 
MCCLELLAND. 

LW obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $1,000.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account 
as payment on behalf of DEFENDANT CARLO 
MCCLELLAND. 

LW obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $250.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account 
as payment on behalf of DEFENDANT CARLO 
MCCLELLAND. 

LW obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $1,000.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account 
as payment on behalf of DEFENDANT CARLO 
MCCLELLAND. 

12 
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15 03.14.2009 A test-taker sent by DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD took a PRAXIS Special Education 
examination on behalf of DEFENDANT CARLO 
MCCLELLAND. 

16 04.25.2009 A test-taker sent by DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD took a PRAXIS Elementary Education 
examination on behalf of DEFENDANT CARLO 
MCCLELLAND. 

d. Overt acts related to DEFENDANT KIMBERLY TAYLOR include the following 

acts on or about the dates listed below: 

17 

18 

19 

20 

;<!?":\;;;;,qat~):;,1!:!,,:':;r',;~;.·· .< 

01.10.2009 

01.10.2009 

03.14.2009 

03.14.2009 

Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT KIMBERLY TAYLOR or someone 
acting on her behalf registered online for a PRAXIS 
examination to be taken on January 10, 2009 in her 
name by SS. The registration involved the use of 
DEFENDANT KIMBERLY TAYLOR's social security 
number. 

SS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
DEFENDANT KIMBERLY TAYLOR. 

Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT KIMBERLY TAYLOR or someone 
acting on her behalf registered online for a PRAXIS 
examination to be taken on March 14, 2009 in her 
name by SS. The registration involved the use of 
DEFENDANT KIMBERLY TAYLOR's social security 
number. 

SS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
DEFENDANT KIMBERLY TAYLOR. 

e. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "FT" include 

the following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

13 
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Group in a total amount of $3,580 along with FT's 
Social Security Number, date of birth and address. 

22 07.08.2010 FT or someone acting on FT's behalf registered online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on July 8, 2010 
in FT's name by JB, sent by DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD. The registration involved 
the use of FT's social security number. 

23 07.08.2010 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, FT 
provided his driver's license to DEFENDANT DANTE 
DOWERS, who provided the driver's license to 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. 

24 07.08.2010 JB took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of FT. To 
take the examination, JB presented a driver's license 
with his own picture and FT's name and identifying 
information. 

25 09.17.2010 Sometime before this date, DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained FT's and 
DEFENDNAT STEVE HOLMES' driver's licenses. 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD used the 
driver's licenses to create a false identification with 
FT's name and identifying information, and 
DEFENDANT STEVE HOLMES' photograph. 

f. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "DA" include 

the following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

26 01.20.2009 DA obtained a cashier's check in the amount of 
$2,700.00 that was provided to DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust 
bank account. 

27 04.25.2009 

28 04.25.2009 

DA or someone acting on DA's behalf registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on April 
25, 2009 in DA's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. The 
registration involved the use of DA's social security 
number. 

A test-taker hired by DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
DA. 

14 



Case 2:12-cr-20173-JTF   Document 47   Filed 09/19/12   Page 15 of 47    PageID 340

29 12.07.2009 DA obtained a bank check in the amount of $1,500.00 
that was provided to DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD and deposited into DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

30 12.29.2009 DA sent a mailing to DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD. 

31 01.09.2010 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, DA 
or someone acting on DA's behalf registered online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on January 9, 
2010 in DA's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. The 
registration involved the use of DA's social security 
number. 

32 01.09.2010 

33 01.09.2010 

34 02.03.2010 

35 02.03.2010 

Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained FK 
and DA's driver's licenses. DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD used the driver's licenses to create a 
false identification with DA's name and identifying 
information, and FK's photograph. 

FK took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of DA. To 
take the examination, FK presented a driver's license 
with her own picture and DA's name and identifying 
information. 

DA obtained a Commercial Bank personal money 
order in the amount of $200.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD and 
deposited into DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

DA obtained a bank check in the amount of $1,300.00 
that was provided to DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD and deposited into DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

g. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "JH" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

36 01.26.2009 JH obtained a bank check in the amount of $2,700.00 
that was provided to DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD and deposited into DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S Sun Trust bank account. 

15 



Case 2:12-cr-20173-JTF   Document 47   Filed 09/19/12   Page 16 of 47    PageID 341

37 04.2S.2009 JH or someone acting on JH's behalf registered online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on April 2S, 
2009 in JH's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. The 
registration involved the use of JH's social security 
number. 

38 04.2S.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained SS 
and JH's driver's licenses. DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD used the driver's licenses to create a 
false identification with JH's name and identifying 
information, and SS's photograph. 

39 04.2S.2009 SS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of JH. To 
take the examination, SS presented a driver's license 
with her own picture and JH's name and identifying 
information. 

40 12.14.2009 JH obtained a bank check in the amount of $1 ,SOO.OO 
that was provided to DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD and deposited into DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

41 12.30.2009 JH mailed her driver's license, social security number, 
and PRAXIS admission ticket to DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD. 

h. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "FJ" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

42 11.08.2008 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained SS 
and FJ's driver's licenses. DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD used the driver's licenses to create a 
false identification with FJ's name and identifying 
information, and SS's photograph. 

43 11.12.2008 On or about this date, SS attempted to take a PRAXIS 
examination on behalf of FJ, but test monitors 
detected that SS was not FJ. The phone number 
listed on the registration forms was DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S phone number. The 
registration was paid for with DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S credit card number. 

44 01.02.2009 FJ or someone acting on FJ's behalf registered online 
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for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on January 10, 
2009 in FJ's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. The 
registration involved the use of FJ's social security 
number. 

45 01.10.2009 A test-taker hired by DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
FJ. 

46 02.27.2009 FJ prepared a personal bank check in the amount of 
$500.00 that was provided to DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD and deposited into 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust 
bank account. 

47 04.10.2009 FJ sent a mailing to DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD. 

i. Overt acts related to DEFENDANT DARCEL GARDNER include the following 

acts on or about the dates listed below: 

48 04.15.2009 DEFENDANT DARCEL GARDNER registered online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on April 25, 
2009 in DEFENDANT DARCEL GARDNER's name 
by a test-taker sent by DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD. The registration involved the use of 
DEFENDANT DARCEL GARDNER's social security 
number. 

49 04.22.2009 DEFENDANT DARCEL GARDNER obtained a Postal 
Money Order in the amount of $1,000.00 that was 
provided to DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD 
and deposited into DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

50 04.22.2009 DEFENDANT DARCEL GARDNER mailed a $1,000 
Postal Money Order and her driver's license to 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. 

51 04.25.2009 A test-taker sent by DEFENDNAT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
DEFENDANT DARCEL GARDNER 

17 
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j. Overt acts related to DEFENDANT VALERIE HUMPHREY include the following 

acts on or about the dates listed below: 

52 04.25.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT VALERIE HUMPHREY or someone 
acting on her behalf registered online for a PRAXIS 
examination to be taken on April 25, 2009 in her name 
by a test-taker sent by DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD. The registration involved the use of 
DEFENDANT VALERIE HUMPHREY'S social 
security number. 

53 04.25.2009 JB took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
DEFENDANT VALERIE HUMPHREY. To take the 
examination, JB presented a driver's license with his 
own picture and DEFENDANT VALERIE 
HUMPHREY's name and identifying information. 

k. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "JS" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

54 04.25.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained CS 
and JS's driver's licenses. DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD used the driver's licenses to create a 
false identification with JS's name and identifying 
information, and CS's photograph. 

55 04.25.2009 JS or someone acting on JS's behalf registered online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on April 25, 
2009 in JS's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. The 
registration involved the use of JS's social security 
number. 

56 04.25.2009 CS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of JS. To 
take the examination, CS presented a driver's license 
with his own picture and JS's name and identifying 
information. 

57 04.25.2009 CS took a second PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
JS. To take the examination CS nted a driver's 
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license with his own picture and JS's name and 
identifying information. 

58 06.13.2009 JS or someone acting on JS's behalf registered online 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on June 13, 
2009 in JS's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD'S credit card 
was used to pay for the registration. The registration 
involved the use of JS's social security number. 

59 06.13.2009 CS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of JS. To 
take the examination, CS presented a driver's license 
with his own picture and JS's name and identifying 
information. 

I. Overt acts related to DEFENDANT SAMUEL CAMPBELL include the following 

acts on or about the dates listed below: 

60 04.25.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT SAMUEL CAMPBELL or someone 
acting on his behalf registered online for a PRAXIS 
examinations to be taken on June 10, 2009 in his 
name by a test-taker sent by DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD. The registration involved 
the use of DEFENDANT SAMUEL CAMPBELL'S 
social security number. 

61 04;25.2009 JB took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
DEFENDANT SAMUEL CAMPBELL. 

m. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "EB" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

62 06.13.2009 EB or someone acting on EB's behalf registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on June 
13, 2009 in EB's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD'S credit card 
was used to pay for the registration. The registration 
involved the use of EB's social security number. 
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63 06.13.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained CS 
and EB's driver's licenses. DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD used the driver's licenses to create a 
false identification with EB's name and identifying 
information, and CS's photograph. 

64 06.13.2009 CS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of EB. To 
take the examination, CS presented a driver's license 
with his own picture and EB's name and identifying 
information. 

65 06.13.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD assisted and 
provided instructions to EB in registering for a 
PRAXIS examination to be taken at Arkansas State 
University in Session I, June 13, 2009. The 
registration involved the use of EB's social security 
number. 

66 06.13.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained JB 
and EB's driver's licenses. DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD used the driver's licenses to create a 
false identification with EB's name and identifying 
information, and JB's photograph. 

67 06.13.2009 JB took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of EB. To 
take the examination, JB presented a driver's license 
with his own picture and EB's name and identifying 
information. 

n. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "MT" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

68 04.25.2009 MT or someone acting on MT's behalf registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on April 
25, 2009 in MT's name by a test-taker sent by 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. The 
.registration involved the use of MT's social security 
number. 

69 04.25.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained SS 
and MT's driver's licenses. DEFENDANT 
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CLARENCE MUMFORD used the driver's licenses to 
create a false identification with MT's name and 
identifying information, and SS's photograph. 

70 04.25.2009 SS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of MT. To 
take the examination, SS presented a driver's license 
with her own picture and MT's name and identifying 
information. 

71 04.25.2009 SS took a second PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
MT. To take the examination, SS presented a driver's 
license with her own picture and MT's name and 
identifying information. 

72 06.13.2009 MT or someone acting on MT's behalf registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be taken at 
Arkansas State University in Session I, June 13, 
2009. The registration involved the use of MT's social 
security number. 

73 06.13.2009 SS took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of MT. To 
take the examination, SS presented a driver's license 
with her own picture and MT's name and identifying 
information. 

74 06.13.2009 MT or someone acting on MT's behalf registered 
online for a PRAXIS examination to be taken at 
Arkansas State University in Session II, June 13, 
2009. The registration involved the use of MT's social 
security number. 

75 06.13.2009 Sometime in approximation to but before this date, 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained J8 
and MT's driver's licenses. DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD used the driver's licenses to 
create a false identification with MT's name and 
identifying information, and J8's photograph. 

76 06.13.2009 J8 took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of MT. To 
take the examination, J8 presented a driver's license 
with his own picture and MT's name and identifying 
information. 
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o. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "KC" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

77 10.13.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $650.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD and 
deposited into DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

78 10.13.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $1,000.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD and 
deposited into DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

79 11.30.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $1,000.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD and 
deposited into DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

80 11.30.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $1,000.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD and 
deposited into DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

81 11.30.2009 KC obtained a United States Postal Service Money 
Order in the amount of $500.00 that was provided to 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD 

82 12.11.2009 KC sent a mailing to DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD. 

83 01.07.2010 KC sent items to DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD via Delta Bus Lines. 

84 02.09.2010 KC sent a mailing to DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD. 

p. Overt acts related to DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD include the following acts 

on or about the dates listed below: 

85 12.29.2009 DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD obtained a $250 
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Trustmark official check payable to DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD that was deposited into 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust 
bank account. 

86 03.10.2010 DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD obtained a $2,300 
Trustmark official check payable to DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD that was deposited into 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust 
bank account. 

87 03.11.2010 DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD obtained a $450 
Trustmark official check payable to DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD that was deposited into 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust 
bank account. 

88 05.07.2010 A test-taker hired by DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD. 

q. Overt acts related to an individual referred to hereinafter as "GK" include the 

following acts on or about the dates listed below: 

89 01.15.2010 GK obtained a cashier's check in the amount of 
$3,000.00 that he sent to DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD. 

90 03.12.2010 GK sent a Western Union Money Order in the amount 
of $500.00 that was deposited into DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

91 03.12.2010 GK sent a Western Union Money Order in the amount 
of $250.00 that was deposited into DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust bank account. 

92 03.13.2010 DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD arranged for 
an individual other than GK to take a PRAXIS 
examination for GK at Rust College in Holly Springs, 
Mississippi. 

93 09.17.2010 Sometime before this date, DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD obtained GK's and 
DEFENDNAT STEVE HOLMES' driver's licenses. 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD used the 
driver'S licenses to create a false identification with 
GK's name and identifying information, and 
DEFENDANT STEVE HOLMES' photograph. 
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r. Overt acts related to DEFENDANT JADICE MOORE include the following acts 

on or about the dates or ranges of dates listed below: 

94 03.02.2010 DEFENDANT JADICE MOORE obtained a $3,000 
BancorpSouth official check payable to DEFENDANT 
CLARENCE MUMFORD that was deposited into 
DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD'S SunTrust 
bank account. 

95 06.10.2010 A test-taker hired by DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
DEFENDANT JADICE MOORE. 

96 07.29.2010 A test-taker hired by DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD took a PRAXIS examination on behalf of 
DEFENDANT JADICE MOORE. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. 

[nmt 5 yrs, nmt $250,000.00, or both, and nmt 3 yrs supervised 
release together with a mandatory special assessment of $100.00, 
see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNTS 2-8 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p) of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates or ranges of dates, in the Western District of 

Tennessee, the defendant, 

---------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORD ----------------------------------------------

being aided and abetted others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, and, where indicated 

being aided and abetted by DEFENDANT STEVE HOLMES and DEFENDANT JERYL SHAW, 

did knowingly and without lawful authority produce the identification documents, authentication 

features and false identification documents described below, the production of each of which 

was in and affected interstate commerce and each of which was a driver's license: 

Count Date Item 

2 Between on or Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
about address and driver's license number of GK and the photograph of 

12.01.2009 and 
09.17.2010 DEFENDANT STEVE HOLMES, aided and abetted by 

DEFENDANT STEVE HOLMES. 

3 Between on or Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
about address and driver's license number of FT and the photograph of 

12.01.2009 and 
09.17.2010 DEFENDANT STEVE HOLMES, aided and abetted by 

DEFENDANT STEVE HOLMES. 

4 Between on or Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
about address and driver's license number of KC and the photograph of 

10.13.2009 and 
09.17.2010 DEFENDANT JERYL SHAW, aided and abetted by DEFENDANT 

JERYL SHAW. 

5 01.02.2010 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license of number of DA and the photograph 
of FK 

6 01.02.2010 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of JH and the photograph of 
SS 
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Count Date Item 

7 04.24.2010 Fraudulent Tennessee driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of TS and the photograph of 
ML 

8 04.24.2010 Fraudulent Tennessee driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of ML and the photograph of 
TS 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1 028(a)(1) and, for Counts 2 through 4, 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 2. 

[as to each count, nmt 15 yrs; $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs 
supervised release, together with a mandatory special assessment of 
$100, see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNTS 9-12 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p) of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, in the Western District of Tennessee, the 

defendant, 

------------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORD -------------------------------------------

being aided and abetted by each other and by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, 

and, where indicated being aided and abetted by DEFENDANT JACKL YN MCKINNIE, did 

knowingly transfer the following identification documents, authentication features and false 

identification documents, knowing that each was produced without lawful authority, each of 

which was in and affected interstate commerce and each of which was a driver's license: 

Count Date Item 

9 11.17.2007 Fraudulent Tennessee driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of DEFENDANT JACKL YN 
MCKINNIE and the photograph of JB, aided and abetted by 
DEFENDANT JACKL YN MCKINNIE. 

10 12.15.2009 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of KC and the photograph of 
JS 

11 01.02.2010 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license of number of DA and the photograph 
of FK 

12 01.02.2010 Fraudulent Mississippi driver's license containing the name, 
address and driver's license number of JH and the photograph of 
SS 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(2) and, for Count 9, Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 2. 

[as to each count, nmt 15 yrs; $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs 
supervised release, together with a mandatory special assessment of 
$100, see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNT 13 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p) of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. Beginning on or about December 15, 2009 and continuing until at least on or about 

September 17, 2010, in the Western District of Tennessee, the defendant, 

------------------------------------------------- CLARE NeE MUM FORD -------------------------------------------

in a manner affecting interstate commerce, knowingly possessed document-making 

implements, that is, a computer, sheets of clear laminate material and squares of laminate 

material cut to the dimensions of a state identification card and driver's license, with the intent 

that such document-making implements be used in the production of false identification 

documents, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(5). 

[nmt 15 yrs; nmt $250,000 fine, or both; nmt 3 yrs supervised 
release; $100 mandatory special assessment, see 18 U.S.C. § 
3013(a)] 
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COUNTS 14-20 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p) of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates or ranges of dates, in the Western District of 

Tennessee, the defendant, 

------------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FOR D -------------------------------------------

being aided and abetted by each other and by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, 

and, where indicated being aided and abetted by DEFENDANT DANTE DOWERS and 

DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD, did knowingly possess and use in or affecting interstate 

commerce, without lawful authority, means of identification of others, that is, the names and 

driver's license numbers of the individuals identified below by their name or initials, with the 

intent to commit unlawful activities that constitute violations of federal law, that is, mail and wire 

fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 1343, and social security 

fraud, in violation of Title 42, . United States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(B), said use affecting 

interstate commerce and resulting in the obtaining of funds in excess of $1,000 for each count: 

Count Date Individual Means of Identification 

14 01.10.2009 FJ Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

15 12.15.2009 KC Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

16 Between on DEFENDANT Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
or about SARAH license number, aided and abetted by 

12.29.2009 
and RICHARD DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD 

05.07.2010 

17 01.02.2010 DA Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

18 01.02.2010 JH Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 
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Count Date Individual Means of Identification 

19 03.01.2010 GK Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

20 07.08.2010 FT Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number, aided and abetted by 
DEFENDANT DANTE DOWERS 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(7) and, for Count 16 and Count 

20, Title 18, United States Code, Section 2. 

[as to each count, nmt 15 yrs; $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs 
supervised release, together with a mandatory special assessment of 
$100, see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNTS 21-32 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p) of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, in the Western District of Tennessee, the 

defendant, 

------------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORD -------------------------------------------

being aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, and, where indicated 

being aided and abetted by DEFENDANT DANTE DOWERS, did knowingly possess, transfer 

and use, without lawful authority, means of identification of other persons, including names, 

drivers' licenses, drivers' license numbers, drivers' license photographs, identification cards, 

identification card numbers, identification card photographs and social security numbers, as set 

forth below, of the individuals identified below by their name or initials, during and in relation to 

the commission of felony violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1 028(a)(1); 

1028(a)(2); 1028(a)(5); 1028(a)(7); 1341 and 1343; and Title 42, United States Code, Section 

408(a)(7)(8). 

Count Date Individual Means of Identification 

21 01.12.2008 DEFENDANT Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
CLARENCE license number 

MUMFORD, JR. 

22 01.12.2008 J8 Identification card, containing photograph and 
identification card number 

23 01.10.2009 FJ Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

24 06.13.2009 CS Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

25 12.15.2009 KC Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 
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Count Date Individual Means of Identification 

26 01.02.2010 DA Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

27 01.02.2010 FK Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

28 01.02.2010 JH Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

29 01.02.2010 JH Social Security number 

30 01.02.2010 SS Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

31 03.01.2010 GK Driver's license, containing photograph and driver's 
license number 

32 07.08.2010 FT Social Security number and driver's license, 
containing photograph and driver's license number, 
aided and abetted by DEFENDANT DANTE 
DOWERS 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1 028A(a)(1) and, for Count 32, Title 18, 
United States Code, Section 2. 

[mandatory 2 yrs imprisonment (consecutive to any other term of 
imprisonment); nmt $250,000 fine, or both; nmt 1 yr supervised 
release; $100 mandatory special assessment, see 18 U.S.C. § 
3013(a)] 
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COUNTS 33-39 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p), and 

paragraphs 4(a) through and including 4(i) of Count 1 of this Indictment are re-alleged and 

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that DEFENDANT 

CLARENCE MUMFORD, being aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand 

Jury, and, where indicated being aided and abetted by DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD, for 

the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the aforementioned scheme and artifice to 

defraud, and to obtain money and property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses and 

representations - did on or about each of the following dates knowingly cause to be delivered 

by mail according to the directions thereon the items described below, with each mailing a 

separate count: 

Count Date Description of Mailing 

33 12.11.2009 DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD caused KC to send him a 
mailing to 2083 Hornsby Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

34 12.29.2009 DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD caused DA to send him a 
mailing to 2083 Hornsby Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

35 12.29.2009 DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, aided and abetted by 
DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD, caused DEFENDANT SARAH 
RICHARD to send him a mailing to 2083 Hornsby Cove, Memphis, 
Tennessee 38116. 

36 12.30.2009 DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD caused JH to send him a 
mailing to 2083 Hornsby Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

37 02.09.2010 DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD caused KC to send him a 
mailing to 2083 Hornsby Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

38 03.10.2010 DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, aided and abetted by 
DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD, caused DEFENDANT SARAH 
RICHARD to send him a mailing to 2083 Hornsby Cove, Memphis, 
Tennessee 38116. 
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39 04.10.2009 DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD caused FJ to send him a 
mailing to 2083 ~ornsby Cove, Memphis, Tennessee 38116. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341 and, for Counts 35 and 38, Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 2. 

[nmt 20 yrs, nmt $250,000 fine, nmt 3 yrs supervised release, and 
mandatory assessment of $100 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3013] 
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COUNTS 40-54 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p), and 

paragraphs 4(a) through and including 4(i) of Count 1 of this Indictment are re-alleged and 

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, for the purpose of executing and attempting to 

execute the aforementioned scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain money by means of 

false and fraudulent pretenses and representations, DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, 

being aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, and, where indicated 

being aided and abetted by DEFENDANT SAMUEL CAMPBELL, DEFENDANT DANTE 

DOWERS, DEFENDANT VALERIE HUMPHREY, DEFENDANT JACKLYN MCKINNIE, and 

DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD, did cause to be transmitted in interstate commerce by means 

of wire communications, certain signs, signals and sounds more specifically described below: 

Count Date Description of Wire 

40 10.24.2007 Internet registration on behalf of DEFENDANT JACKLYN 
MCKINNIE for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on November 
17, 2007, aided and abetted by DEFENDANT JACKLYN 
MCKINNIE. 

41 12.21.2007 Internet registration on behalf of DEFENDANT CLARENCE 
MUMFORD, JR. for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on 
January 8, 2008 at the University of Mississippi. 

42 01.02.2009 Internet registration on behalf of FJ for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on January 10, 2009 at East Arkansas Community 
College. 

43 03.26.2009 Internet registration on behalf of JH for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on April 25, 2009. 

44 04.02.2009 Internet registration on behalf of DEFENDANT VALERIE 
HUMPHREY for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on April 25, 
2009, aided and abetted by DEFENDANT VALERIE HUMPHREY. 
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45 04.02.2009 Internet registration on behalf of DA for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on April 25, 2009. 

46 05.14.2009 Internet registration on behalf of EB for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on January 9, 2010 at Arkansas State University -
Jonesboro. 

47 05.29.2009 Internet registration on behalf of MT for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on January 9, 2010 at Arkansas State University -
Jonesboro. 

48 06.10.2009 Internet registration on behalf of DEFENDANT SAMUEL 
CAMPBELL for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on June 10, 
2009, aided and abetted by DEFENDANT SAMUEL CAMPBELL. 

49 12.10.2009 Internet registration on behalf of DA for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on January 9, 2010. 

50 12.10.2009 Internet registration on behalf of KC for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on January 9, 2010. 

51 12.10.2009 Internet registration on behalf of JH for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on January 9, 2010. 

52 02.01.2010 Internet registration on behalf of GK for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on March 13, 2010 at Jackson State University in 
Mississippi. 

53 05.05.2010 Internet registration on behalf of DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD 
for a PRAXIS examination to be taken on May 7,2010, aided and 
abetted by DEFENDANT SARAH RICHARD. 

54 07.07.2010 Internet registration on behalf of FT for a PRAXIS examination to 
be taken on July 8, 2010, aided and abetted by DEFENDANT 
DANTE DOWERS. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343 and, for Counts 40, 44, 48, 53 and 

54, Title 18, United States Code, Section 2. 

[nmt 20 yrs, nmt $250,000 fine, nmt 3 yrs supervised release, and 
mandatory assessment of $100 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3013] 

36 



Case 2:12-cr-20173-JTF   Document 47   Filed 09/19/12   Page 37 of 47    PageID 362

COUNTS 55-58 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 (a) through and including 1 (p) of Count 1 of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about each of the following dates, within the Western District of Tennessee and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

------------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORD -------------------------------------------

being aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, , and for the purpose 

of obtaining something of value and for other purposes, knowingly, willfully and with the intent to 

deceive, falsely and fraudulently represented, and caused to be represented the following: 

Count Date Representation 

55 01.12.2008 J8 falsely and fraudulently represented on a PRAXIS examination 
form that his Social Security Account Number was xxx-xx-7750 
when, in fact, this Social Security Account Number was assigned 
to DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR. 

56 04.25.2009 CS falsely and fraudulently represented on a PRAXIS examination 
form labeled "4452615" that his Social Security Account Number 
was xxx-xx-2606 when, in fact, this Social Security Account 
Number was assigned to JS. 

57 04.25.2009 CS falsely and fraudulently represented on a PRAXIS examination 
form for a geography test that his Social Security Account Number 
was xxx-xx-2606 when, in fact, this Social Security Account 
Number was assigned to JS. 

58 06.13.2009 CS falsely and fraudulently represented on a PRAXIS examination 
form that his Social Security Account Number was xxx-xx-2606 
when, in fact, this Social Security Account Number was assigned 
to JS. 

All in violation of Title 42, United States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(8). 

[as to each count, nmt 5 yrs, nmt $250,000.00, or both, and nmt 3 
yrs supervised release together with a mandatory special 
assessment of $100.00, see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNT 59 

1. Beginning on a date unknown to the Grand Jury but sometime on or before June 29, 

2011, and continuing at least until on or about June 29, 2011, in the Western District of 

Tennessee, the defendants, 

---------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORD ----------------------------------------------
and 

-------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORD, JR. ------------------------------------------

being aided and abetted by each other and by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, 

did knowingly devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the Tennessee 

Department of Education and the Memphis City Schools and to obtain money and property by 

means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses and representations, knowing and having 

reason to know that said pretenses and representations were and would be false and fraudulent 

when made and caused to be made. 

2. The scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property was in substance 

that DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD arranged for JB to take a "Principles of Learning 

and Teaching" PRAXIS examination on behalf of DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR. -

a current Memphis City Schools teacher - on or about January 12, 2008 at the University of 

Mississippi. JB passed the examination, which was a necessary prerequisite for a Tennessee 

professional teacher's license. DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR. had obtained an 

alternative license on or about December 11, 2008. The alternative license was converted to a 

transitional license on or about February 2, 2010. DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR. 

later progressed to an apprentice license on or about December 15, 2010 and, ultimately, a 

professional license on or about August 5, 2011. He would not have obtained the professional 
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license without the test taken by JB, and arranged for by DEFENDANT CLARENCE 

MUMFORD. Furthermore, without a license, he would not have been eligible for his Memphis 

City Schools teaching contract and the money and benefits that accompany the contract. 

3. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and 

property that, on or about June 29, 2011, DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD and 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD, JR., being aided and abetted by each other, and for 

the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the aforementioned scheme and artifice, did 

knowingly cause to be delivered by mail according to the direction thereon teacher licensing 

application paperwork sent by the Memphis City Schools to the Tennessee Department of 

Education, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 1341. 

[nmt 20 yrs.; nmt $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs. supervised 
release, together with a mandatory special assessment of $100.00, 
see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNT 60 

1. Beginning on a date unknown to the Grand Jury but sometime on or before June 2, 

2010, and continuing at least until on or about June 9, 2011, in the Western District of 

Tennessee and elsewhere, the defendants, 

---------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORD ----------------------------------------------
and 

---------------------------------------------------- J AD ICE MOO RE --------------------------------------------------

being aided and abetted by each other and by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, 

did knowingly devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the Mississippi 

Department of Education and the Claiborne County School District and to obtain money and 

property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses and representations, knowing 

and having reason to know that said pretenses and representations were and would be false 

and fraudulent when made and caused to be made. 

2. The scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property was in substance 

that DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD arranged for a test-taker to take a PRAXIS "Pre-

Professional Skills Test" in reading and in mathematics on behalf of DEFENDANT JADICE 

MOORE - a current teacher at Port Gibson Middle School - on or about June 10, 2010. 

DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD also arranged for a test-taker to take a PRAXIS "Pre-

Professional Skills Test" in writing on behalf of DEFENDANT JADICE MOORE on or about July 

29, 2010. The examinations, which were necessary prerequisites for a Mississippi teacher's 

license, were passed and submitted to the Mississippi Department of Education. Based in part 

on these scores, the Mississippi Department of Education issued a license to DEFENDANT 

JADICE MOORE to teach physical education on or about June 9, 2011. He would not have 
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obtained the license without the tests arranged for by DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. 

Furthermore, without a license, he would not have been eligible for his Port Gibson Middle 

School teaching contract and the money and benefits that accompany the contract. 

3. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and 

property that, on or about June 9, 2011, DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD and 

DEFENDANT JADICE MOORE, being aided and abetted by each other, and for the purpose of 

executing and attempting to execute the aforementioned scheme and artifice, did knowingly 

cause to be delivered by mail according to the direction thereon a teacher's license sent by the 

Mississippi Department of Education to DEFENDANT JADICE MOORE, in violation of Title 18, 

United States Code, Sections 2 and 1341. 

[nmt 20 yrs.; nmt $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs. supervised 
release, together with a mandatory special assessment of $100.00, 
see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNT 61 

1. Beginning on a date unknown to the Grand Jury but sometime on or before January 15, 

2009, and continuing at least until on or about November 21, 2011, in the Western District of 

Tennessee and elsewhere, the defendants, 

---------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORD ----------------------------------------------
and 

-------------------------------------------------- t(IM~ERL)( TA)(LOR -----------------------------------------------

being aided and abetted by each other and by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, 

did knowingly devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the Mississippi 

Department of Education and the East Tallahatchie School District and to obtain money and 

property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses and representations, knowing 

and having reason to know that said pretenses and representations were and would be false 

and fraudulent when made and caused to be made. 

2. The scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property was in substance 

that DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD arranged for SS to take PRAXIS examinations on 

behalf of DEFENDANT t(IM~ERL)( TA )(LOR, a current teacher at Charleston Elementary 

School in Charleston, Mississippi. On or about January 15, 2009, SS took a PRAXIS "Pre-

Professional Skills Test" in reading and in writing and in mathematics on behalf of DEFENDANT 

t(IM~ERL)( TA)(LOR. On or about March 14, 2009, SS took a PRAXIS examination in 

Elementary Education: Content Knowledge on behalf of DEFENDANT t(IM~ERL)( TA)(LOR. 

The examinations, which were necessary prerequisites for a Mississippi teacher's license, were 

passed and submitted to the Mississippi Department of Education. Based in part on these 

scores, the Mississippi Department of Education issued a license to DEFENDANT t(IM~ERL)( 
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TAYLOR to teach elementary education and social studies on or about November 21, 2011. 

She would not have obtained the license without the tests taken by SS. Furthermore, without a 

license, she would not have been eligible for her Charleston Elementary School teaching 

contract and the money and benefits that accompany the contract. 

3. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and 

property that, on or about November 21, 2011, DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD and 

DEFENDANT KIMBERLY TAYLOR, being aided and abetted by each other, and for the 

purpose of executing and attempting to execute the aforementioned scheme and artifice, did 

knowingly cause to be delivered by mail according to the direction thereon a teacher's license 

sent by the Mississippi Department of Education to DEFENDANT KIMBERLY TAYLOR, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 1341. 

[nmt 20 yrs.; nmt $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs. supervised 
release, together with a mandatory special assessment of $100.00, 
see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNT 62 

1. Beginning on a date unknown to the Grand Jury but sometime on or before January 28, 

2008, and continuing at least until on or about June 21, 2011, in the Western District of 

Tennessee and elsewhere, the defendants, 

---------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FORD ----------------------------------------------
and 

------------------------------------------------ CARLO MCCLELLAND ---------------------------------------------

being aided and abetted by each other and by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, 

did knowingly devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the Mississippi 

Department of Education and the Meridian School District and to obtain money and property by 

means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses and representations, knowing and having 

reason to know that said pretenses and representations were and would be false and fraudulent 

when made and caused to be made. 

2. The scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property was in substance 

that DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD arranged for JB to take a PRAXIS "Pre-

Professional Skills Test" in reading and in writing on behalf of DEFENDANT CARLO 

MCCLELLAND - a current teacher in the Meridian School District - on or about January 28, 

2008. DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD also arranged for a test-taker to take a PRAXIS 

Elementary Education examination on behalf of DEFENDANT CARLO MCCLELLAND on or 

about April 25, 2009 The examinations, which were necessary prerequisites for a Mississippi 

teacher's license, were passed and submitted to the Mississippi Department of Education. 

Based in part on these scores, the Mississippi Department of Education issued a license to 

DEFENDANT CARLO MCCLELLAND on or about June 21, 2011. He would not have obtained 

the license without the tests arranged for by DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. 
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Furthermore, without a license, he would not have been eligible for his Port Gibson Middle 

School teaching contract and the money and benefits that accompany the contract. 

3. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and 

property that, on or about June 21, 2011, DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD and 

DEFENDANT CARLO MCCLELLAND, being aided and abetted by each other, and for the 

purpose of executing and attempting to execute the aforementioned scheme and artifice, did 

knowingly cause to be delivered by mail according to the direction thereon a teacher's license 

sent by the Mississippi Department of Education to DEFENDANT CARLO MCCLELLAND, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 1341. 

[nmt 20 yrs.; nmt $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs. supervised 
release, together with a mandatory special assessment of $100.00, 
see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 
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COUNT 63 

1. Beginning on a date unknown to the Grand Jury but sometime on or before April 15, 

2009, and continuing at least until on or about July 18, 2011, in the Western District of 

Tennessee and elsewhere, the defendants, 

---------------------------------------------- CLARE N C EMU M FOR D ----------------------------------------------
and 

------------------------------------------------- DARCEL C;ARDNER ------------------------------------------------

being aided and abetted by each other and by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, 

did knowingly devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the Mississippi 

Department of Education and the Columbus Municipal District and to obtain money and property 

by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses and representations, knowing and having 

reason to know that said pretenses and representations were and would be false and fraudulent 

when made and caused to be made. 

2. The scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property was in substance 

that DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD arranged for a test-taker to take a PRAXIS 

"Biology: Content Knowledge" examination on behalf of DEFENDANT DARCEL C;ARDNER - a 

current teacher at Columbus High School - on or about April 25, 2009. In furtherance of the 

scheme, DEFENDANT DARCEL C;ARDNER mailed her driver's license and a $1,000 United 

States Postal Money Order to DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. The examination taken 

on behalf of DEFENDANT DARCEL C;ARDNER, which was a necessary prerequisite for a 

Mississippi teacher's license in biology, was passed and submitted to the Mississippi 

Department of Education. Based in part on these scores, the Mississippi Department of 

Education issued a license to DEFENDANT DARCEL C;ARDNER to teach biology on or about 

July 18, 2011. She would not have obtained the license without the tests arranged for by 
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DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD. Furthermore, without the license, she would not have 

been eligible for her Columbus High School teaching contract and the money and benefits that 

accompany the contract. 

3. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and 

property that, on or about July 18, 2011, DEFENDANT CLARENCE MUMFORD and 

DEFENDANT DARCEL GARDNER, being aided and abetted by each other, and for the 

purpose of executing and attempting to execute the aforementioned scheme and artifice, did 

knowingly cause to be delivered by mail according to the direction thereon a teacher's license 

sent by the Mississippi Department of Education to DEFENDANT DARCEL GARDNER, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 1341. 

[nmt 20 yrs.; nmt $250,000; or both, plus nmt 3 yrs. supervised 
release, together with a mandatory special assessment of $100.00, 
see 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)] 

DATE: ________ _ 

EDWARD L. STANTON, III 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
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The change of plea hearing in this 

case began o n thi s da te , Friday , SepLemrJer 2 1 , 

2012 , at. 10 : 15 o ' clock a . m., wh en and where 

ev i dence was introduced and proceedings were had 

as follows : 

THE COURT: All righL . Good morni.ng. 

MR. SHANKMAN: Good mo rning , Your 

Hono , • . 

MR. FABIAN: Good mornIng , Your Ho nor . 

THE COURT: It ' s good to sec everyone . 

Let ' s see , Mr . Turner-Kellogg her~) . 

MR. SHANKMAN: It ' s Mrs . Ke ll ogg. 

THE COURT: Okay , Ms . Okay . 

Come forwa rd , p Ol ease" . 

I undersLand we are proceeding by 

In fo rmation today? 

MR. FABIAN: That ' s correct , Yo ur 

Hon or . 

MR . SHANKMAN: Yes , sir . 
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THE COURT : And t he r e ' s a -- will be a 

change of plea , and see there ' s a plea agreemen - ? 

MR. FABIAN: Yes , You [" Iionor . 

THE COURT : And , al so , do we have a 

Waiver of Indictment? 

MR. FABIAN: We do , Your lI onor . And 

Mr . Shankm,Jn has a copy of i t , iLs been signed . 

THE COURT: 1\11 right. Okay . Why 

don ' t we j ust go ah ea d with th e statement of fac s 

and also summary of the plea agreement for the 

reco [" d , if you wou l d , please , Mr . Fabian . 

MR. FABIAN: Yes , Your Honor . 

The plea agreeme n t may e s ummarized 

as follows : 

Ms . Kellog g agrees to wai ve h - r righL 

to tria l by a ju ry and plead to Tnforma Lion 

c ha rging her with a Sec Lion 37 1 consp ira cy . 

She waive s the right to challe ng e t he 

vol un ta riness of her guilty plea excepL wit h 

respect to clai ms of in e f fecti v e assista nce of 

prosecutorial misconduct . 

I n add iti o n s he wai ves her right Lo 

appeal her se nt ence and request , along wi Lh Lhe 

Unit ed Sta t es , that the court specifically fi nd 

th a t t he waiv er of her riqht to appeal her. 
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se nt ence l s knowing and volun Lary . 

'Ph e Un ited States agrees to rec o mmend 

th e maximum reductio n f o r a cce pLan ce so long as 

she continues to avoid any co ndu ct i nco nsistent 

with accepta nce. 

The pa rties agree that the applicab l e 

gu i delin e sectio n is 2B l. 1 , and t he lost value 

tied to Ms . Kellogg ' s co ndu c L is no g cater than 

$10 , 000 . 

The United SLates may f il e a 

substantial assistance mOLion , but Ms . Ke llog g 

understands tha t no s uc h motio n h as b ee n pr o mis ed 

and that the d ete rmin atio n of whether t o make th e 

motion r est with th e United States a nd any 

de c isi o n to grant the mo t io n rest exc lusively wlth 

the court . 

She ' s aware ha t l E t he United States 

finds Lh aL the she e ngaqes in any addiLional 

criminal conducL or o b9tru c L ~ ju s Li ce Lh e UnlLcd 

States could be re Leased fro m i ts obligat io ns 

under this ag r eeme nt but s he would not be re l eased 

fr om her guilty pJ ea . 

And finally s h ' s rev i e we d Lh e 

agr ee me nL and di s cus sed iL with he r aLt o tney a nd 

understands i t . 
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And that summarizes the p l ea 

agreement , Your: Ii onor . 

THE COURT : All right . Now t his i s a 

371 conspiracy Lhat she ' s pleading guilLy Lo ? 

MR . FABIAN: That ' s c o rrect , Your 

Ii onor . 

THE COURT: If you wou l d , please , 

outline t he range of punishment . 

MR. FABIAN: The maximum punishm e nt is 

no more t han five yea r s , no more Lhan a 

250 , ODD-dollar: fine , or both , no more than one 

year sup rvised release , and a mandatory specin l 

assessment of $100 . 

THE COURT : All right . Thank you . 

And if you would , please , go straight 

i n to a statement of the facts . 

MR. FABIAN: Okay , Yo ur Hon o r. 

If this maLter had g o ne to trial the 

governmenL would have Offered p roof of the 

following : 

As t he c o urt i s awa r e this cas e 

centers upon a t ype of teacher: c e rtiiicaL i on 

examination called a PRAX I S exa mi naLion c r eaL e d by 

Educational Tes t ing Services , or E'l'S for sho r t , 

which is headquar er in Princeton , New Jersey . 
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Arkansas , Mi ssissippi a nd T'enn essee 

a(e among the sta tes that requires enteri ng the 

teaching profession and teachers see king 

endorsements for. their license to take and p ass 

P RAXIS examinations . 

The individuals involved in this case 

were seeking Lo have test taken and passed because 

their states required Lhem to pass these 

examinations to obtai n or r etain teaching 

licenses. 

ETS charged fees for these 

examinations and the Departments o ' Education in 

Tennessee , Mississippi and Arkansas r elied upon jn 

the issuance of licenses and endorsements . 

Social Sec u rity numbers were used i n 

the regIs roLion process fo~ these examinaLjons . 

ETS owned copyrigh Ls and trademarks in Lhe 

examinati ons and restricted access to them and to 

the questions co ntain therein . 

ETS had pr o p er Ly interest in the 

examinations and the good wi L1 examinations 

ge n erated for ETS . 

Regisl.ranLs regisLranLs [or Lhe 

examinations did so online and the registrations 

involved wire commu n i cations thaL crossed state 
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lines. 

I n dividu als tak i n the examinaLions 

signed confidenLiality statements affirming the 

person taking the test was the pecson wh ose name 

a nd address was us ed in the appl i cation process 

and agreeing to ma i n tain t h e confident i ality of 

all test questions . 

Tndividuals taking the examinations 

presented the ir driver ' s li ce nses . 

ResulLs of the Lest were wIred across 

state lines . 

ETS provid e d test scotes to the 

individuals registered for the t est and t o the 

state ' s De partments of Education by th e mail an d 

sometimes through t he In er net . 

The licenses co n fer ted subsLanLlal 

ben e fits to lice nsed holders in cl udi n g saJaries , 

retirement , disability , survivor and oL her 

bene fits . 

Possessjon of a t e a c hers I icerlse 

e n abled lice n sed holders Lo contact the sc h ool 

districts , those contracts h ad economic value to 

t h e parties to the conLracts . 

On or about June 11 , 2010 , the 

Tennesse e Bur eau of InvesLigation received a 
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request to investigate a netwo rk o f individual s 

who were fraudulenLly taking li ce nsure 

examinations for teachers employed or hoping t o be 

employed in Tennessee , Mi ssissippi and Ar kansa s . 

The request for investigat i on arose 

ouL of a n incidenL that occurr ed aL Arkansas SLate 

Univ ersity in Jo nesboro on or abouL J un e 1 3Lh , 

2009 . On or about that date examinat io ns we re 

being condu cted of teachers seeking to obtain 

teach i ng cerLifications . 

A lady in a pink ball cap took an 

examination in a fema le ' s name dur i. ng being Lh e 

first sessi o n of tests on thaL date . 

Th e proctor [or the female ' s [ irsL 

session examinaLions sa w LhaL same female ' s nam e 

on the li s L [or one o f t he second sessio n 

after noon te st . The proc tor e nt ered t he room 

wh ere thaL seco n d session test was being Laken but 

did not see the lady in the ba l l cap . Tns Lead 

ther e was a man taking the test in thaL fema le ' s 

nam e . Th a t man was later ident i fied as John 

Bo we n, a Memphi s ciLY sc hoo l s ubst iLuL e Le ac he r 

who recenL.ly pLed gu j I Ly Lo dn .I.llf or rn aLio n si mi lar 

to the one c harging Ms . Kellogg . 

Further investi gation by the procto r s 



1 2 

I 0 , , 0 1 revealed thaL a number of individuals had Laken 

2 t es·s in different names on that day . 

3 After the in cide nt STS conducLed an 

4 inves igation which was ultimat e ly referred to Lhe 

1 0 , q 0 
,. 
e) Tennessee DeparLment of -- I ' m sorry -- the 

6 Tennessee Bureau of Investigation after 

7 interviewin John Bowen and others involved jn the 

8 Jonesboro testing investigator ob tained a seach 

9 warrallt and searched Munford ' s house i n Memphis ill 

1 0 , , 0 10 SepLember of 2010 . Among other things Lhey found 

11 various identification documents and include 

J 2 among them were a copy of Ms . Kellogg ' s 

13 identification and an identificaLion belongIng Lo 

11 another woman whose initials are Dn wJth 

1 () : 4 0 15 Ms . Kellogg ' s photographs . 

16 Investigators subsequently intervi ewed 

J 7 Ms. Kellogg who has been a school teacher in Lhe 

18 Memphis city schools . She Lold int erviewers LhaL 

J 9 she met Munf ord in May of 2009 . Munf ord Lold her 

J 0 , , I 20 that he k ew teachers who were going to lose their 

21 jobs because they could not pass PRAXIS 

22 examj nati o ns . He said he needed her help and she 

23 agreed to hel p . lie said that he would pay 

24 Ms. Kellogg and that he woul need her driver ' s 

10: ~ 1 25 li cense . 
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Munford wanted Ms . Kello g to take a 

PRAXIS examina Lion in Jonesboro in June 2009 . /Ie 

paid here $1600 cash in one hundred dol I a" b L11.s 

in a plain letLer envelope . That envelope also 

included an altered ide ntification and a PRAXIS 

examinatio n admission tickeL . 

Ms . Kellogg saw on the news that 

people had been caught taking tests in Jonesboro 

and late" told Munford she had not gone that day . 

He Lold her he was glad she did not go and she 

could keep the money , he wanted her to ow e him . 

Ms . Kellogg Lold investiga Lors abouL a 

number o f tests she had t ake , she estimated that 

she made approximately $4 , 000 over a one and a 

half year span tak i ng test for Mun f ord . 

She recalled that in December 2009 sh8 

too k a test at ~ast Arkansas CommuniLY Co llege and 

made $800 f"om Mun f ord . 

On Ja n uary 9th , 2010 Ms . Kellogg Look 

a PRI\XIS e xamination on behal f of person whose 

in i tials a r e DI\ , sh e use d an ident- ifi ca Li o n 

Munford had made with her picture and DI\ ' s 

dr i ver ' s license , a copy of which was found during 

th search warrant . 

Mun f ord had arranged or assisted in 
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arranging for DA ' s registration for the test on or 

about December 15th , 2 009 , that registrati.on 

invo l ved the u se of DA ' s Soci~l Security number . 

Ms. Kellogg sta t ed t h at so meti me ~fter 

investigators executed the se~rc h warrant at 

Munf ord ' s h ouse , Munford t ol d her that her 1 . 0. 

h ad bee n found . He told h r Lh~t jf she was 

contacted by invesLig~tors she shou l d say LhaL he 

was tutoring t eachers for the PRAXlS exa minati ons , 

she told him that she intended Lo tell the truth . 

He told h er not to say anything about him and to 

leave h im out of it . 

And , Yo u r Hon or , tha t wou l d con c l ude 

the government ' s proof . 

THE COURT : Thank you , Mr. Fablan . 

And , Mr . Shankman , ca n you st'ipu l aLe 

that those would have been the f~cts had the 

mattered proce ed to trial? 

MR. SHANKMAN: Thos are -- those 

those arc basically the [acts t h at would be 

presented if the matt er had go n e to t r ja l , Your 

Ho no r. 

THE COURT : AlJ riqhL . Thank you . 

Now need to Lh o speak with Ms . 

it Turner-Kellogg or juSL Kellogg? 

ls 
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MS. TURNER- KELLOGG: Uh-huh , 

Turner-Kellogg . 

THE COURT : Okay . Ms. Turner-Kellogg . 

If yo u would , pleas , I need you to 

raise your right hand. 

Do yo u solemnly swear or affi~m , under 

the penalties of perjury, the testimony that you 

are about to provide the court in this matter will 

be the truth , t h e whole t ruth and nothing but the 

truth , so help you God? 

MS. TURNER-KELLOGG: 1 do. 
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FELIPPIA TURNER-KELLOGG, 

was thereupon called as a wiLness o n behalf of the 

CourL , and having been first duly sworn , 

was examined and testifi ed as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY THE COURT : 

Q. And your: name is F"elippia? 

A. Felippia 

Q. l?e1ippia Turner-Kell ogg? 

A. llh -huh . 

Q . Ms . Turn r-Kellogg , how far did you go in 

school? 

A . 1 have an education special i sL degree . 

Q. Okay . So you can read and wriLe and 

commu nicate and things of that nature? 

A. Yes . 

Q. Arc you unde r the influence of any dr:ugs or 

medication or: anything like LhaL Loday? 

A. No . 

Q. So yo u can understa nd everything that ' s going 

on? 

A . Yes . 

Q. All righL . Now what I ' m going to do i s 1 have 

a series of questions that I need to ask you . 

Basically , I ' m going to go over the plea agreement 
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with you and make sure you unders ta nd everything . An d 

then there are cert ain const itutional jghts that you 

are going to give up pursuant to a plea ag r eemen l; . 

And ag ain , .l just need to make sure you und e r sl.and :i l. . 

Okay? 

A. Yes . 

Q. I? i .rsl o f all , your case was not presented l. o 

the grand jury, we ' re proceed in g by way of 

Information . And o ne of your righLs is t ha L you have 

Lh e right to have your case presented to a grand ju ry , 

and have t hat grand jury return an indictment against 

you , you are gi v ing up that right . 

Do you understand? 

A. Yes . 

Q. Now T belie ve there 1S a form , a waive r o f 

Indictment . 

Do you hav e that there? 

Okay . And has that bee n execute ? 

All right . If you wo u l d , please s how t haL La 

Ms . Turner-Kellogg. 

Th re ' s being shown to you the Waiver of 

I ndic t me n t, and at th e b ot tom there ' s a place f o r yo u 

t o sign . 

Ha ve you signed that ? 

A. Yes , J. have . 
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1 0 : 1 5 1 Q. And I b.1ieve your la wy er , Mr . Shdnkman , also 

2 signed th at , is that correct? 

3 A . Yes , sir . 

4 Q . Did h e go o v e r th dt for m with you? 

10: 1 5 
,. 
;) A. Yes . 

6 Q. Di d yo u get an opportu nity to speak to him and 

7 talk with him about it? 

8 A. Yes . 

9 Q. Di d you read it? 

1 0 :1~ 10 A. Yes , T did . 

LL Q. And do you undersLand it? 

J. 2 A. Yes , T do . 

13 Q . And is that how you want to proceed --

14 A. Yes . 

Q. waive your right to indictment a nd p roceed 

]6 by way of In for mat i on? 

17 A. Yes . 

1 8 Q . Okay . Now the plea agreement , we ' re proceeding 

19 by way of pl ea agr .e ment . And I think you hav e the 

plea ag r eemenL there , t h e orig in al there , 

2 1 Mr. Shankman? 

22 MR. SHANKMAN: Yes , si r . 

23 BY THE COURT: 

24 Q. And the plea agreemenL , did you -- were you 

JO :1 5 25 ab le to discuss t h a with your attor n ey? 
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I 0 : , 5 1 A. Yes . 

2 Q. And he went ove r the terms of it wiLh you? 

3 A. Yes . 

4 Q. And did you have an opportunity to read it? 

I 0 : , 5 '" :J A. Yes , I did . 

6 Q . Did you understand everything? 

7 A . Yes. 

8 Q . Now the very last page of the plea agreement aL 

9 the t h ere ' s several signature bloc ks , the l ast one 

1 0 ; '1 tI 1 0 Lhere is (or you . 

11 Did you sign it there? 

12 A. Yes , I did . 

13 Q. Da t e it? 

11 A. J. did . 

1 0 : 4 6 15 Q . And just above did your iawyor, Mr . Shank man , 

16 also sign it and date it? 

17 A . Yes . 

18 Q. And you und erstood a l l of the terms? 

1 9 A. Yes , s ir. 

I Q : , 6 20 Q. In a few minULe s I am go i ng t o go over the 

21 terms with you just to make sure everyt hing is clear . 

22 But at this time go over with you some other 

23 consLituLional rig ht s that you arc waiving . 

21 Now r realize thaL you are pJead i ng guilLy Lo 

j 0 ; , 6 25 the offense but you do have an absolute right to have 
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a ju~y trial in this case . J E you Lo l d me LhaL you 

changed your mind for some reaso n a nd you wanted to 

have a trial , we would set a trial date . On Lhat date 

the jury would come i n and th jurors would sit in 

th ose chairs right over there . They would li sten to 

all o f the testi mo ny oE all the witnesses . 

You see , the government would hav e t o b~jng 

those witnesses down here to testify against you . You 

would b e -- and h e would hav e to convi nc e the juro rs 

beyon a reasonable doubL of your guilL of Lh e 

allegations . 

You would be present in the courtroom when 

th ose witnesses testified along with your lawy er , 

Mr . Shankman wo uld be wi th you . He wo uld be abJe to 

cross examine those witnesses , ask those wi Lnesses 

qu estions . 1n other words , confront the witnesses. 

Do you understand? 

A . Yes . 

Q. After the government presented j ts case , you 

would have an opportunity to put on proof . If you had 

a defense that you wanted to pres n or oLhe~ 

witnesses Mr . Shankman would subpoena those wiLrl ess es 

and get Lhem down h r Lo testify . I[ he had t roub l e 

getting those witnesses to come down here , r would 

send the mars h al ' s service out to go and get Lhose 
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witnesses and bring them down h r e to testify . 

Do you understand? 

A. Yes . 

Q. You also hav e the right to testily. You hilve 

the tig ht to remain silent . And based on your 

decisio n I would instruct the jury accordingly . If 

you decided you wanted t o testify you woul d be able to 

tell t h jury in your own wor d s what h ad happen ed and 

present your testimony to the m. And I would instru ct 

the jurors that they were to consider your 

credibi l ity , your credibili ty , handle your testimony 

as they would il ny other witness in the trial . 

1)0 you understand ? 

A . Yes . 

Q . On the ot her hand, i E you decided not to 

testify , I wou l d instruct the jurors that they could 

consider thaL for no purpose whatso e v e r , that th ey 

were not to co nsider t he [a c t that you exercised your 

right to remain silent . 

Do you understand? 

A . Y s . 

Q . No w after the ju r y heard the t est imony of illl 

th e witness es , the jur y wo uld decid e if you wer e 

gu i lty or not guilty . If you were found gui lty , of 

course , I wo uld senten ce you accordi n g to the Jaw and 
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1 0 , , 6 1 yo u would have th e right to appeal the sentence and 

2 the co nv ic t io n to the Court of Appeals . 

3 Do yo u und e rstand ? 

4 A. Yes . 

1 0 : , 6 
,-
J Q . Your lawyer wo uld ac Lually h a ndl e yo u r appeal 

6 for you . And if by some reason Mr. Shan kman could n ' t 

7 han dl e iL , I cou ld appoinL an attorney to represenL 

8 yo u assu ming you could no t affo rd an attorn ey . 

9 Do you unde.stand? 

1 0 : '1 tJ 10 A. Yes . 

11 Q. Gut you see , wh e n you plead gu i lty you give up 

12 all of those rights . 

13 A . Uh-huh . 

14 Q . The.e ' s not goi ng to b e a trial , there ' s not: 

1 0 : " 8 ] 5 go ing to be a n appeal, although yOll d o h ave cerla in 

1 6 provi si o n i n lhe p l ea aqree rn e nL about: a n a pp ea l , buL 

17 as la r as the tria l rights are co ncerned you are 

18 giving up your right to appeal . 

19 Do you unde r stand? 

1 0 : 01 q 20 A. Yes . 

2 1 Q . Th e o nl y t h i ng hal ' s l eft is the pleu 

22 agreement and the se nt e nci ng dat e and how we procee d 

23 wiLh sentencing . 

2 4 Do you understa nd? 

1 0 : II q 25 A . Yes . 
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Are you doing this freely and vo lunL arily? 

Yes , I. am . 

Is anyone forcjng you to plead gu i lty? 

No . 

Wh o mad e the decision to plead guilty t oday? 

1 did . 

Are you satisfied with the represenLaLjon your 

lawyer has given y ou? 

A. Yes , I am . 

Q. All ight. Now you understand how we are going 

to proceed Lhen , assuming that J accepL Lhis plea 

agreement we ' re going to seL a sentencing date --

A. Uh-huh . 

Q. -- be a hearing date probably about three 

menths o u t . At that time the probation office i s 

going to prepare a Presentence Repo~t, it will have 

b ack ro u nd information in it , facts of Lhe case , 

crimi nal history , and a calculation of your guidel j ne 

range. 

Do you und e~stand? 

A. Yes . 

Q. And at that time both sides will have an 

opporL uniL y Lo present any testimony ev i dence , yo u 

will have an opportunity to speak i t you choose to, 

and then I ' ll make a decisio n about th e sentence. 
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Do you understand t hat? 

A. Yes , 1 do . 

Q . Now the plea agreemen , 1: wan l lo go ove r tha l 

wtLh yo u just very brieCly . 

A. Yc~s , s.i.r . 

Q. It sets out what constitutes the entire 

agreement between yourself and t h e United States . 

First paragraph , paragraph l-a , j ndj cales what 

you ' re pl eadi ng guilty l. o , the Information , l.hal. is a 

cons p iracy which is a felony . 

Do you u nderstand? 

A. Yes . 

Q. Okay . You ' re pleading guil ty fr ee Jy and 

vo l un tar i 1 y , as 1 asked you beforc'! , iJnd you ilrc a.\ so 

givi n g up certain appeal rights , the r i ght l.o 

challenge the voluntaLiness of this . Of course , you 

always have the right to challenge an appeal , any 

prosecutorial misconduct or anything along those 

lines . 

Is that your understanding? 

A . Ye 

Q. And then also the final decision as far as the 

senLence is concerned , the manner and me Lhod in the 

way that the sentence is determined , you are al so 

giving up your right to appeal that? 
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A . Yes . 

Q . Okay . Let ' s see , and the government indicaLes 

that it is going to agree as far as the acceptance of 

responsibility 1s concerned , assuming the~e ' s no -- no 

facts come to light as far as obstructi o n of justi ce 

is concerned . 

Do you understand? 

A . Yes . 

Q. But t he ultimate decision about acceptan ce o C 

responsibiliLy will be up to the court once I receive 

all the i nfo r mation . 

Do you understand? 

A. Yes . 

Q. Let ' s see , the agreement is that you~ re l evanL 

conduct should be no larger than or g r eaLer Lhan 

$10 , 000 . 

Do you sec tha t? 

A. Yes . 

Q. Okay . And t here ' s a possib i li ty of a motion 

under SKl . 1 substantial assistance , i t ' s up Lo Lhe 

government to make tha decision. l\nd l ' m assuming 

that they wil I make that decision at t he pr o per Lime . 

BuL if Lh e y de ci de not Lo m k Lhat de c ision , then you 

wiil not be able to withdraw your plea and iL wi LL no t 

be an appealable poin t . 
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Do you understand? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay . And i r Lhere Is any obSLrUCLion of 

justice or anythIng along those Jin es Lh e UnlLed 

States wi ll b e released fro m its obligations under 

this plea agreement . 

Do you understand that? 

A . Yes . 

Q. Okay . I believe we ' ve gone over the fact thaL 

you hav read this and you do understand the plea 

agreement and this is the en ti~e plea agreement that 

will. be put in place. 

Do you understand? 

A. Yes . 

Q. As I s aid before this is a felony that you are 

pleading guilty to . When you are convicted of a 

felony you are what we call rendered infamous a rld LhaL 

you lose cer.tai n r ights , li.ke the right to vote , Lhe 

right to s it on a jury , and the right to possess a 

firearm . 

Do you unders and? 

A. Yes . 

Q. And finally the range of puni.shment in this 

case , you understand that the maximum punishment thaL 

you are facing under the staLute is up to five years 
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1 confinement and a fine of -- I ' m sorry , I ' ve forgotten 

2 what that fine i s? 

3 MR . FABIAN: A maximum of $250 , 000 , 

1 Your Ho n or . 

5 

6 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. A $250 , 000 fine and Lhen there is som e 

~ supervised release time that you arc [acing . 
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Do you understand that ' s the range of 

punis hme n t for t h is of f e n se? 

A. Yes . 

Q. BuL you do rea l l ~e that th e pro aLjon o[[J ce 

will calcula t e a se n tencing ra n e a nd we ' ll consider 

that at the se n te ncing h earing . 

Do you un dersta n d? 

A . Yes , uh-huh . 

Q . Do you have any quesLions ab o u L Lhis at all ? 

A . No , I do n ' t . 

Q. Is this how you want to proceed? 

A . Yes . 

Q. Okay . 

THE COURT : 

le f t out anyt h ing . 

Your Honor . 

Mr . Fabian? 

MR . FABIAN : 

J wi l l a sk both si des r r 

Not t h at I can thi n k of , 
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THE COURT : Mr . Shankman? 

MR. SHANKMAN : 1 don ' t think so . 

THE COURT : All r.i.ghL . I\nd proba L j on , 

any t hi ng? 

THE PROBATION OFFICER : Your !-I ono .( , in 

the interest oE expediting t he invest i gation , we 

request t hat the government ptovided Lh e 

invesL.i.ga L.i.ve file as soon as possible as weI I as 

the defense counsel be ava ·j labLe fo .r .i. mmed.i.aL e 

'i nLerv.i.ew . 

THE COURT : Okay . Did you a t ] h(~ar 

that , take care of the interview wi th probaLion 

tOday . 

MR. SHANKMAN : We wi.l t schedule it 

we won ' l be able to do iL today , b u t we will 

sched u le it next: week , I wi 1."1 ta l k wi t h them next 

week and set it up when the next we e k o r so . 

THE COURT: Maybe you can jusL talk 

wi t h Lhe rn now and Lhen gel a tIme nex L wee k when 

you al l can do that . 

MR. SHANKMAN : We will work thal oUL , 

yes , SJ.J:" . 

THE COURT: All righL . And then , 

Mr . Fabian , can you g e t thaL in for mation to them 

today. 
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MR. FABIAN : 1 have spoken to 

Mr . Nazareno and requested t hat bot h - - in l ighL 

of the volume of Lhis particular inv estigaLJo n , if 

he wi II meel wLth me eiJrl y n(~xL week ] wi 'l l be 

able to p~ovide him the E i I.' wj Lh especL Lo Lhi s 

defendant and be able to expedite their process in 

preparing the Presente nce ReporL . 

THE COURT : Okay. Th n we should be 

ab l e Lo lake care oE boLh o[ th ose by the end or 

nexL week? 

MR. SHANKMAN: We ' ll attempL lhat , and 

I s wear to schedul.e , I ' m out part of next week , so 

I ' ll just need to work lhe schedule out . 

THE COURT: Okay . Thill ' s jusL 

something we ' re trying so we can get the process a 

littl.e qujcker . 

MR. SHANKMAN: It will certainly be 

done within two weeks at the most . 

THE COURT: All right. 'T' hank you . 

Assuming there ' s nothing e ls e , aL lhLs 

time we need to get a date Ea r he senlencing , 

about 90 dilYS out . 

THE CLERK : Your I-I onor , thaL will be 

Friday , December the 2 1st at nine a . m. 

MR . SHANKMAN: Your Iionor , I ' m going 
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1 t o be out of the country at that ti me , and so i.£ 

2 we can go to eit her the week afteL th e holidays or 

3 Lh e UrsL week J n Ja nuary. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

THE COURT: Wh en are you l eav ing? 

MR. SHANKMAN: The 1 4 t h , I t h ink and 

get back o n the 22 nd , 23r d . 

THE COURT: Why don ' t we try to do Ie 

8 thal we e k of the Hth? 

9 THE CLERK : Th e 1 3t h ilL n i ne a . m. 

] 0 :5 5 10 MR. SHANKMAN : That will work , okay . 

THE COURT : Okay . Do es that sound 

fLne? 

MR. FABIAN: Yes , Your Ho nor.. 

11 

1 2 

13 

14 

1 0 : 55 15 

THE COURT : Okay . So we ' re goi ng to 

set it December 13th at n ine o ' clock . 

1 6 

17 

Now , Ms . Turner-Kellogg --

Mr. Shankman, J e L me know , was s he 

J. 8 lale getti ng in here today? 

1 9 MR. SHANKMAN: Yes , about five 

10: 5 5 2 0 minut es . 

2 1 

22 again. 

23 

24 

10: 5\ 25 seriously. 

THE COURT: 1\11 righ Don ' t be late 

MS . TURNER- KELLOGG : Yes , s i.r . 

THE COURT: 1 take ti me IlmlLs pr e LLy 

1'he person is lale the f irst time , 
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there ' s a l i ttle waring . 

again . 

Okay . Do n ' t be I ate 

MS. TURNER-KELLOGG: I won ' t . 

THE COURT: Other wise J hav e to 

consider it con t empt of court . Okay . 

MS. TURNER- KELLOGG: I understand . 

THE COURT : All right . Anything else 

we can deal with today? 

MR. FABIAN: Your 1I 0 nor , jus t this.1s 

Ms . Kellogg ' s [irsL appearance on Lhis mall er , so 

the government would be fine with an ROR bond 

pending sentencing. Of course , she wi 11 have to 

report to the marshals today . 

THE COURT: All right . First 

appearances 

MR. SHANKMAN: I wjll be ta king her 

d o wn. 

THE COURT: No ini tial appearance or 

anything , J do n ' t have any prob le m with ROR in 

th is case . 

MR. SHANKMAN: And I ' ll tak her down 

to the marshals office when we le ave . 

THE COURT: Go ahead and do lhat. 

MR . FABIAN: And , Your Honor , i I: 

may , as far a pretrial supervision we wou ld juSl 
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r commend , we don ' L have any special condiLlons we 

request , jusL that s h e report to th e Pretrial 

Services officer and comply with any ~equests that 

they mak e . 

THE COURT : That ' s all right . Okay . 

ROR with supervision . 

Okay . Anything else? 

MR. FABIAN: No , Your Honor. 

THE COURT : I think we ' re d one . 

Thank yo u folks for coming in . 

MR. FABIAN: Thank you , You~ Iionor . 

Thank you . 

(Adjournment . ) 
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1 THURSDAY AFTERNOON 

2 OCTOBER 4, 2012 

3 The change of plea in this case began on thi s 

4 date, Thursday, October 4,2012, at 2:40 o'clock p .m., 

5 when and where evidence was introduced and proceedings 

6 were had as follows: 

7 

8 

9 

10 THE COURT: Are you ready to proceed with 

11 Carlos Shaw? 

12 

13 

MR . JONES: Yes , sir. 

THE COURT: Mr . Jones , why don ' t y ' all step 

14 forward? The parties are present . It ' s an information , 

15 and I believe there ' s a plea agreement that I have in 

16 front of me , also waiver of indictment , it being an 

17 information . I believe we ' re ready to get started, is 

18 this Mr. Shaw? 

1 9 

20 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes . 

THE COURT: And as I normally do , Mr . Fabian , 

2 1 if you would please summarize for us briefly the general 

22 terms of the plea agreement and then also the facts . 

23 MR. FABIAN: Yes , Your Honor . 

24 (This portion of the transcript is sealed.) 

25 MR. FABIAN: As to the proof the government 
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1 would have offered if this matter had gone to trial , the 

2 government would have offered proof of the following: 

3 This case centers upon a type of teacher 

4 certification exami nation ca lled a Practice Examination 

5 created by Educational Testing Service headquartered in 

6 Princeton, New Jersey . Arkansas , Mississippi and 

7 Ten nessee are among t he states requiring teachers who are 

8 seeking to obtain licenses or endorsements on their 

9 licenses to take these examinations . The individuals 

10 involved in this case were seeking to have tests taken and 

11 passed because t he states require them to pass the 

12 examinations to obtain or retain licenses . There are fees 

13 charged for the examinations , and the Departments of 

14 Education in Ten nessee , Mi ssissippi and Arkansas relied 

15 upon these examinations i n the issuance of licenses . 

16 Individuals taking tests were required to make 

17 certain threshold scores to obtain licenses or 

18 endorsements . Social security numbers were used in the 

19 reg i strat i o n process because t he states used t he Social 

20 Security numbers in the processing of licensing documents. 

21 Fees were charged for the exami nations by ETS , and the 

22 Departments of Education relied upon the examinat i ons in 

23 issuing licenses. The registration was -- for these 

24 examinations was done on line and involved interstate wire 

25 communications from t he site of registration to servers i n 



5 

1 Delaware and Princeton , New Jersey. Individuals taking 

2 the examination signed confidentiali ty statements 

3 affirming that the person taking the test was the person 

4 whose name and address was used in the application process 

5 and agreeing to maintain the confidentiality of the test 

6 questions. 

7 The results of the tests were wired from the 

8 test centers to ETS servers in New Jersey and in Delaware. 

9 Scores were then provided to individuals in whose name the 

10 tests were registered by mail and through the internet . 

11 Licenses obtained as a result of these tests confer 

12 substantial benefits, and possession of a l icense enabled 

13 the license holders to contract with school districts and 

14 obtain economic value. 

15 In June of 2010 , t he Tennessee Bureau of 

16 Investigation received a request to investigate a number 

17 of individuals who were fraudulently taking licensure 

18 examinations for teachers emp l oyed or hoping to be 

19 employed in Memphis City Schools, Shelby County Schools 

20 and in Mississippi and Arkansas. The request arose out of 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

an incident that occurred at Arkansas ;~te University in 

Jonesboro on or about June l3th'~' On or about that 

da te , examinat ions were being conducted of teachers 

seeking to obtain certifications. 

A lady in a pink ball cap took an examination 

201605
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1 in a female ' s name during the first session of tests on 

2 that date . The proctor for that examination saw that same 

3 female ' s name on the list for a second set of tests . She 

4 entered the room where that test was being taken , but did 

5 not see the woman who had taken the second test. Instead , 

6 there was a man taking the test in the female's name . 

7 That man was later identified as John Bowen , a Memphis 

8 City School substitute teacher who pled guilty last month . 

9 Proctors learned that Mr. Bowen had taken a morning 

10 examination in a man ' s name . They soon learned that 

11 Mr. Shaw was taking an afternoon examination in the name 

12 of the man for whom Mr. Bowen had tested in the morning . 

13 Further investigation by the proctors revealed 

14 that a number of individua ls had taken tests in different 

15 names on that day . After this accident , ETS conducted an 

16 investigation that was ultimately referred to the 

17 Tennessee Department of Education. After conducting a 

18 number of interviews and reviewing a number of documents , 

19 including bank , phone and other records , the Tennessee 

20 Bureau of Investigation obtained a search warrant for 

21 Mr. Mumford's house. They executed the search warrant in 

22 September of 2010 . During the course of the search 

23 warrant , they found a number of identifications , and 

24 included among t hem were Mr. Shaw ' s identification and an 

25 identification belonging to another man with Mr . Shaw ' s 



1 photograph. Investigators subsequently interviewed 

2 Mr . Shaw who was previously a school teacher in the 

3 Memphis City Schools. He told interviewers that he met 

4 Mumford approxima tely ten years ago when they taught 

5 summer school together . During the course of their 

6 conve rsations , Mumford asked Mr . Shaw if he would be 

7 

7 interested in getting paid to take practice examinations 

8 for people who were unable to pass. After Mumford 

9 repeated this request numerous times , Mr . Shaw agreed. At 

10 that time , he was paid approximately $200 for math 

11 examinations a nd $300 to $350 for world history 

12 examinations. Later Mumford paid him in the $600 to $700 

13 range per test. Mr. Shaw admitted taking approximate ly 10 

14 to 15 tests for Mumford. Mr. Shaw stated that on June the 

15 13th , 2009 , the date proctors d i scovered all the cheating 

16 at Arkansas State in Jonesboro , he met with Mumford in 

17 Harbor Town before taking the test. Mumford paid him $400 

18 per test on that date . Mr. Shaw stated that during one of 

19 the tests, a proctor picked up his answer sheet , and 

20 Mr. Shaw stood up and left the test center. When he 

21 called Mumford to tell Mumford what had happened , Mumford 

22 told Mr . Shaw he had made a mis take with identifications. 

23 Mr . Shaw reviewed practice examination documents and 

24 stated that it was his handwriting and he had taken the 

25 following examinations: 
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1 ~irst , a June 13 , 2009 examination at Arkansas 

2 State University in the name of an individual whose 

3 initials are J.S . 

4 The second on the same date also at Arkansas 

5 State University i n the name of an individual whose 

6 initials are E . B. 

7 ~or each of the tests Mumford ' s credit card was 

8 used to pay for the registration of t he individual , and 

9 each individual ' s Social Security number was used in t he 

10 registration process . 

11 To take the test , Mr . Shaw used identifications 

12 provided by Mumford with Mr. Shaw ' s picture a nd 

13 identifying information of t he i nd ividual for whom the 

14 test was taken , and t hat would conclude t he government ' s 

15 offer of proof , Your Honor . 

16 THE COURT: Thank you , Mr . Fabian. 

17 Mr. Jones , do you stipulate to the facts? 

18 (Mr . Jones conferred with the defendant.) 

19 MR. JONES : Your Honor , we stipulate that those 

20 would be the substantia l facts that would have been 

21 adduced by the government had this matter gone to trial . 

22 THE COURT : Thank you . 

23 This is Carlos Shaw? 

24 

25 

THE DEFENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : If you would please raise your 



1 right hand. Do you solemnly s wear or aff i r m t hat the 

2 testimony you are about to give will be the truth? 

3 THE DEFENDANT: Yes , I do. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 
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EXAMINATION - CARLOS SHAW 

1 CARLOS SHAW, 

2 was thereupon called as a witness on behalf of the 

3 Court , and having been first duly sworn , was 

4 examined and testified as follows : 

5 EXAMINATION 

6 BY THE COURT: 

7 

8 

9 

How far did you go in school? 

My master ' s . 

Your ma ster ' s? 

Yes , s i r . 

So you can read and write and understand? 

Yes , sir . 

10 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Any medications , anything l ike that , any drugs today? 

No , sir. 

You clearly understand what you ' re doing today? 

Yes . 

Q. All right . Did you have ample opportunity to discuss 

everything with your atto r ney? 

A. Yes, sir . 

Q. The plea agreement, the waive r of indictment , 

everything? 

A. Yes , sir . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

So you ' re ready to go a head and proceed? 

Yes . 

The first question to you is were you liste ning to t he 
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1 facts as Mr . Fabian gave them to me? 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

A. 

Q. 

A . 

Yes , I was. 

Did you do those things? 

Yes. 

Q. So you ' re pleading guilty freely and voluntarily and 

you understand everything? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

All right . I need to go over with you the rights that 

9 you ' re waiving and then also talk with you about the plea 

10 agreement. I want to make sure that you understand 

11 everythi ng. The first thing I would like for you to do is to 

12 refer to the plea agreement . I think you have it there in 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

front of you , is that correct? 

A. Yes . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Look at the third page , please , the very last page . 

Signature? 

With all t he signatures. 

Yes . 

19 Q. There ' s one at the bottom of all those signatures , 

20 Carlos Shaw , did you sign there? 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A . 

Yes , I did. 

And I believe you dated it also? 

It is dated , but I did not date it . 

But you did sign it? 

Yes . 
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1 Q. Just above, there ' s a place for your attorney , Mr . 

2 Jones , to sign it, did he sign it? 

3 A. Yes . 

4 Q. And it is also dated there , is that correct? 

5 A. Yes . 

6 Q. SO this is the plea agreement, you have reviewed it and 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

unde rstand it? 

A. Yes . 

Q. We will come back to that shortly . 

Now , there ' s other certai n rights that you are giving 

up and waivi ng today. I ' m going to go over those with you 

now. First of a ll , you have an absolute right to have t h is 

case presented to the grand jury. In fact , I can ' t even 

proceed today unless you waive your right to have it presented 

to the grand jury . That ' s what this is , the first form is a 

waiver of indictment. Do you have that in front of you? 

A. Yes , I do . 

Q. And I believe there ' s a place for you to sign about not 

quite hal f way down that says de fendant ' s signature , did you 

sign it there? 

A. I did . 

Q. And your attorney just below t ha t , did h e sign i t? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes , he did . 

And is it dated? I think it is dated for today. 

Yes , it is . 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 
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Q. Okay . Did you have an opportunity to discuss it with 

Mr . Jones? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

I did . 

Go over it with him? 

Yes. 

Okay . And you read it? 

Yes , sir . 

And is that how you want to proceed , go ahead and waive 

9 your right to having it presented to the grand jury? 

10 A. Yes . 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

Q. Next , I need to want to talk you about you r trial 

rights , and I realize you ' re pleading guilty today , but you do 

have an absolute right to have a jury trial in this case and 

have the jury decide your fate . If you told me you want a 

trial , we would identify t he trial date , we would call for a 

jury , and the jurors would sit right over there in those 

chairs and listen to the testimony of all t he wi tnesses . The 

government would have to bring witnesses down here to testify 

against you , convince the jury beyond a reasonable doubt of 

20 your guilt of this offense . You would be present in t he 

21 courtroom when those witnesses testified , so you would be able 

22 to hear everything they had to say. Mr. Jones would be with 

23 you , and he would be able to ask those witnesses questions , to 

24 cross-examine them , in other words , to confront the witnesses; 

25 do you understand? 
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1 A. I do. 

2 Q. Afte~ the gove~nment presented its case , you would have 

3 an opportunity to put on proof , and if you had a defense you 

4 wanted to present or any other witnesses , Mr . Jones would 

5 subpoena your witnesses and get them down her to testify. If 

6 he had trouble getting them down here , I would send the 

7 marshal out to go and get those witnesses and bring them down 

8 here to testify ; you understand that, don ' t you? 

9 

10 

A . 

Q. 

Yes , I do . 

You also have the right to testify . You have the right 

11 to remain silent , and after you have discussed it with your 

12 attorney thoroughly , you wou l d inform me how you want to 

13 proceed during the trial , if you wanted to testify or not 

14 testify. If you told me you wanted to testify , you would be 

15 able to tell the ju~y in your own words what happened . You 

16 would be subject to cross , and I would instruct the jurors 

17 that they were to hand l e your testimony as t hey would an y 

18 other witness testimony. In othe~ wo~ds , the sames rules of 

19 testing credibility would apply to you as they would to any 

20 other witness ; do you understand? 

21 A. I do . 

22 Q. On the other hand , if you decide to remain silent , you 

23 would not be forced to testify , we couldn ' t fo~ce you to 

2 4 testify , and I would instruct the ju~y that they could 

25 consider that for no purpose whatsoever during the t~ial , they 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 
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could refer to it in no way; do you understand? 

A. Yes , I do. 

Q. After the jury heard the test i mony of all the 

witnesses , the j ury would decide i f you were guilty or not 

guilty. Of course , if they fo und you guilty , I would sentence 

you according to t he law . You would have the right t o appeal 

the sentence and the conviction to the Court of Appeals. 

Act ually , your lawyer would handle your appeal for you , a nd if 

you couldn ' t afford a lawyer to handle your appeal , I would 

appoint one for you ; do you understand? 

A . Yes . 

Q. You realize , though , when you plead guilty , you give up 

all of those rights , there ' s not going to be a trial? There 

will only be a limited way t hat you can plead guilty according 

to t he p l ea agreeme nt . Basically , you have given up your 

right to appeal , the on l y thing left is your plea agreement 

tha t we ' re going to go over in a f e w minutes; do you 

understand? 

A. Yes , sir , I do . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

A. 

Are you doing this freely and voluntarily? 

Yes , I am . 

Is anyone f orcing you to p l ead g uilty? 

No. 

Who made the decision to plead guilty today? 

I made t he ultimate decision. 
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1 Q. Are you satisfied with the representation your lawyer 

2 has given you? 

Yes. 3 

4 

5 

6 

A. 

Q. 

Q. 

Okay . Now , let ' s turn to the plea agreement . 

(This portion of the transcript is s e aled.) 

Now , this is a felo ny offense that you ' re pleading 

7 guilty to . What t hat means is what we call you ' re rendered 

8 infamous , that means you lose rights , l ike the right to vote , 

9 sit on a j ury , and then also from t h i s day forward i t wi ll be 

10 illegal for you to possess a firearm; do you understand? 

I do . 11 

12 

A. 

Q. r t h ink I have gone over with you the process as far as 

13 how the sentenci ng is going to work . 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

gentlemen , 

THE 

Mr . 

MR. 

THE 

MR. 

COURT: 

Jones? 

JONES: 

COURT : 

FABIAN: 

Anyth ing I have 

No , Your Honor . 

Mr. Fabian? 

The only other 

left o u t , 

~ssue would 

19 matter of bond , and if I may , r want to confer with 

be 

20 defense counsel for one moment before we address t hat . 

21 THE COURT: One moment . I will also ask 

22 ~robation if there ' s anything else . 

the 

23 THE PROBATION OFFI CER: We would just like to 

2 4 interview Mr. Shaw today , if possible . 

25 THE COURT: Okay . 



1 MR. FABIAN: Thank you , Your Honor . 

2 THE COURT: Uh- huh . Anything further , any 

3 recommendat i on on bond? 

4 MR. FABIAN: It ' s my understanding that 

5 Mr . Shaw is current l y living and working in Wisconsin . 

6 The government would just recommend that a trave l 

7 restriction would limit him to t he Western District and 

17 

8 to , obviously , Wisconsin , that he can work and live there , 

9 and t hat he coordinate with Pretrial Services in t erms of 

10 any other travel he needs to do . And as with other 

11 defendants , third party not i fica t ion a nd the requirement 

12 that he seek or mai ntain emp l oyment . 

13 THE COURT: Okay . All t hose will be the terms , 

14 it will be ROR with special conditions t hat Mr. Fabian 

15 identified . 

16 What city do you live in in Wisconsin? 

17 THE DEFENDANT: Eagle . 

18 THE COURT : I ' m sorry? 

19 THE DEFENDANT: Eagle . 

20 THE COURT : We will have to determine what 

21 district that is , whatever distr i ct that is in Wiscons i n , 

22 you will be limited to trave l in that d i strict , okay . 

23 Pretrial Services will be able to go over that with you, 

24 and then there will be coordinat i on with Pretrial Services 

25 in Wisconsin , okay? 
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1 THE DEFENDANT: Okay. 

2 THE COURT : I f the~e's nothing else , we nee d a 

3 sentencing date. We ' re going to put it on the same date 

4 as the previous hearing. 

5 THE CLERK: Yes , Your Honor . January 17th, 

6 2013 at 9 : 30 a.m. 

7 

8 

9 

10 January . 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

MR. JONES: That ' s f i ne. 

MR. FABIAN: That ' s great , Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Okay . M~ . Shaw , I will see you in 

THE DEFENDANT : Thank you . 

MR. FABIAN: Thank you Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Thank you , gentlemen. 

(This matter concluded at 2:04 p .m.) 



19 

C E R T I F Ie ATE 

I , Brenda Parker , do hereby certify that the 

foregoing 18 pages , are unredacted , and to the best of my 

knowledge , skil l and ab i lity , a true and accurate 

transcript from my stenotype notes of the change of plea 

on October 4 , 2012 , in the matter of : 

United States of America 

vs . 

Carlos Shaw 

Dated this 1 1th day of December , 2012 . 

S/Brenda Parker 

BRENDA '/;ltt Iv iL 
Official Court Reporter 
United States District Court 
Western District o f Tennessee 



• 

UNREDACTED 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

WESTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

P~aintiff, 

VS. NO. 12- 20246- JTF 

SHANTELL SHAW, 

Defendant. 

CHANGE OF PLEA HEARING 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE JOHN T. FOWLKES, JR., 

OCTOBER 4, 2012 

BRENDA PARKER 
OFFICIAL REPORTER 

SUITE ~~42 FEDERAL BUILDING 
167 NORTH MAIN STREET 

MEMPHI S, TENNESSEE 38103 

1 



A P PEA RAN C E S 

Appearing on behalf of t he Plaintiff : 

UN ITED STATES ATTORNEY'S OFFICE 
SUITE 800 FEDERAL BUILDING 
167 NORTH MAIN STREET 
MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE 38103 
By: JOHN D. FABIAN , ESQ. 

Appearing on behalf of the Defendant : 

MICHAEL EDWIN SCHOLL , ESQ. 
8 SOUTH THIRD STREET 
FOURTH FLOOR 
MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE 38103 

2 
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1 THURSDAY AFTERNOON 

2 OCTOBER 4, 2012 

3 The change of plea in this case began on this 

4 date, Thursday, October 4, 2012, at 2:10 o'clock p .m., 

5 when and where evidence was i ntroduced and proceedings 

6 were had as follows: 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

THE COURT : Mr . Schol l ? 

MR. SCHOLL: Good afternoon, Your Honor. 

THE COURT : Good afternoon . 

MR. FABIAN : Good afternoon. 

THE COURT : Mr . Fabian , good to see you . 

All right, in the matter of -- is it Shantell ? 

MR. SCHOLL: Yes , sir . 

THE COURT: Last name Shaw? 

MR. SCHOLL: Yes , sir. Yes , sir . 

THE COURT: All right . And the i ndication is 

20 that this is going to be a change of plea , there ' s an 

21 information , is that correct? 

22 MR . FABIAN: It is , Your Honor. And we don ' t 

23 need the information under seal, but we ' re going to ask 

24 for the plea agreement to be placed under seal . 

25 THE COURT : I don ' t have any prob l em with that . 
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1 Put the plea agreement under seal . Okay. Why don ' t we go 

2 ahead and proceed. Ms. Fabian , if you would please , I ' m 

3 going to ask that you go ahead and summarize the terms of 

4 the plea agreement and then go into the facts of the case. 

5 (This portion of the trans cript is sealed.) 

6 MR . FABIAN: And Your Honor had this matter 

7 proceeded to trial , the government would have offered 

8 proof of the following . 

9 This , as this court is aware and the court has 

10 been made aware of on similar cases , but unfortunately 

11 since it is alleged in the i n formation , it will have to be 

12 repeated in this case . This case centers upon a type of 

13 teacher certification examination called a practice 

14 examination created by the Educational Testing Service or 

15 ETS for short , which is headquartered in Princeton , New 

16 Jersey. Arkansas , Mississippi and Tennessee are among 

17 states requiring individuals entering the teaching 

18 profession to take and pass practice examinations . The 

19 individuals involved in this case were seeking to have 

20 tests taken and passed because their states required them 

21 to pass the examinations to obtain or retain their 

22 teaching licenses . ETS charged fees for the examinations 

23 and the Departments of Education in Tennessee , Mississippi 

24 and Arkansas rely upon them in the issuance of licenses . 

25 Individuals taking tests were required to make 



1 certain threshold scores in order to obtain licenses or 

2 endorsement . Social Security numbers were used in the 

5 

3 registration process for Mississippi and Tennessee because 

4 the states required the use of t he number to process 

5 certification paperwork. Arkansas used the last four 

6 digits of the number . ETS owned copyrights and trademarks 

7 and intellectual property rights in the examinations , had 

8 property interests in the examinations. The registration 

9 for this was done online , and involved wire communications 

10 to ETS servers in Delaware and in Princeton , New Jersey . 

11 Individua ls taking t he examination signed confidentiality 

12 statements affirming that the person taking the test was 

13 the person whose name and address was used in the 

14 application process and agreeing to maintain the 

15 confidentiality of all test questions . 

16 Individuals taking the examinations presented 

17 drivers ' licenses . Results of the tests were wired from 

18 test centers to ETS servers in Delaware and in Princeton , 

19 New Jersey . ETS provided test scores to the individua l s 

20 registered for the test by the mail and through the 

21 internet. The teachers ' licenses provided by Tennessee, 

22 Arkansas, and Mississippi Departments of Education 

23 confirmed substantial benefits to lice nse holders , 

2 4 i ncluding salaries , retirement and disabil ity and other 

25 benefits . Possession of a teacher ' s license enabled t he 
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1 license ho l ders to contract with school districts . Those 

2 con tracts had economic value to the parties . 

3 On or about J une 11 , 2010 , the Tennessee Bureau 

4 of Investigation received a request to investigate a 

5 network of individuals who were fraudulently taking 

6 licensure examinations for teachers hoping to be employed 

7 in the Memphis City Schools , Shelby County Schools and in 

8 school districts in Mississippi and Arkansas . The 

9 requests for invest igation a rose out of an incident that 

10 occurred at Arkansas State University in Jonesboro on or 

11 about J une 13th , 2009 . On or about t hat date , 

12 examinations were be i ng conducted of teachers seeking to 

13 obtain teac h i ng certifications. A lady in a pink ball cap 

1 4 who was l ater ident i fied as Ms . Shaw took an examination 

15 in a female ' s name during t he first session of tests o n 

1 6 that date. The proctor saw t hat same female ' s name on t he 

17 list for o ne of the second session practice examinat ions . 

18 The procto r entered the room where the second session test 

19 was being taken , but did not see Ms . Shaw in her p i nk ball 

20 cap. Ins tead , there a man taking the test in the femal e ' s 

21 name that later wa s identified as John Bowen, Memphis 

22 school substitute teacher who pled guilty las t month. The 

23 proctor then located Ms. Shaw in a different room testing 

24 under a different name. The proctor asked for Ms . Shaw's 

25 iden t ification , and Ms. Shaw l eft the test i ng center . 



1 After this incident ETS conducted a n 

2 investigation and informed the Tennessee Department of 

3 Education which later referred the investigation to the 

4 Tennessee Bureau of Investigation . Investigators 

5 interviewed dozens of individuals and obtained bank and 

7 

6 phone and testing records to identify participants in the 

7 scheme . After interviewing John Bowen a nd others involved 

8 in the Jonesboro testing , investigators obtained a search 

9 warrant and searched Mumford's house in Memphis in 

10 September of 2010 . Among other things , they found 

11 including copies of the defendant ' s identification cards 

12 and multiple drivers' license , with the photograph of the 

13 defendant upon the drivers ' license of other individuals . 

14 Included a mo ng t he papers they fo und were Ms. Shaw's 

15 identification with parts cut out as well as 

16 identification of another person with Ms. Shaw ' s photo on 

17 the identification . 

18 Investigators subsequently interviewed Ms. Shaw 

19 who has been a school teacher in the Memphis City Schools . 

20 She told interviewers that she met Clarence Mumford in 

21 2008 during student registration at Trezevant High School. 

22 Mumford was a guidance counselor and Ms . Shaw a new 

23 teacher . Ms. Shaw was paired wi th Mumford as a mentor. 

24 Eventually Mumford approached Ms. Shaw and told Ms. Shaw 

25 that he knew a woman who had fa iled the practice 
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1 examination 11 times and needed help so she could keep her 

2 job . Mumford asked Ms . Shaw to take the test for this 

3 woman whose name Ms . Shaw does not recall. Mumford 

4 arranged to introduce the woman to Ms . Shaw , and the woman 

5 told Ms . Shaw she was missing her score by only a few 

6 points . Ms . Shaw had initially refused to take the test , 

7 but after that meeting agreed . She was pa i d $1000 , took 

8 the test at East Arkansas Commu nity College. Mumford t he n 

9 began to make frequent requests for Ms . Shaw to take 

10 practice examinations for money. Sometimes Ms . Shaw 

11 accepted a nd somet i mes she decli ned . Sometimes she looked 

12 like the individual she was testi ng for , so she used the 

13 individual ' s identification unaltered . Others , Mumford 

14 altered t he ID. At one point in November of 2008 , Mumford 

15 sent Ms . Shaw to take a practice exami nation at a testing 

16 examination i n Cordova , Tennessee . Ms . Shaw , who was 36 

17 at the time was t es ting on behalf of a woman who was 55 . 

18 It was obvious to t he proctor that Ms . Shaw was not the 

19 age l isted on the identification and that the 

20 identificatio n had been altered with Ms . Shaw ' s picture . 

21 Ms . Shaw admitted to the proctor that she was not the 

22 woman named on the license and left the testing center. 

23 

24 

25 

The proctor seized the identification . 

Mumford and to ld him what had happe ned . 

calm down and that it was no big deal . 

Ms. Shaw contacted 

He told her to 

Ms. Shaw admitted 
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1 to taking tests in Forrest City , Arkansas, at the 

2 University of Mississippi , at Arkansas State University in 

3 Jonesboro and a testing center in Cordova , Tennessee and 

4 Tupelo , Mississippi. She was generally paid $500 per test 

5 and estimated over a two-year period Mumford paid her 

6 approximately $8000 for taking 12 to 15 tests. They would 

7 meet , and Mumford would provide her cash payment for 

8 taking the practice examination , admission ticket and 

9 identification . 

10 During the course of the investigation , Mumford 

11 contacted Ms. Shaw and told her i t was important not to 

12 say anything to law enforcement. If she did , she would 

13 say all they were doing was tutori ng people. 

14 Fi nally , the investigation revealed that on or 

15 about April 25th , 2009 , Ms. Shaw took a practice 

16 examination on behalf of a woman identified by the 

17 initials J.H. Mumford had arranged in March of 2009 for 

18 the registration for the test and the registration process 

19 involved the use of J . H. ' s Social Security number . 

20 Mumford had created a fraudulent identification with 

21 J.H . ' s identification information and Ms. Shaw ' s picture , 

22 and that wou ld conclude the offer of proof , Your Honor . 

23 THE COURT: Thank you , Mr . Fabian. 

24 And Ms. Shaw, can you stipulate to that? 

25 MR . SCHOLL: We would stipulate those would be 
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1 the facts put f o rward by t he government if the matter had 

2 gone to trial . 

3 THE COURT : Thank you . Ms . Shaw , if you would 

4 please raise your right hand. Do you solemnly swear the 

5 testimony you are about to give the court in this matter 

6 to be the truth , t he whole truth and nothing but the 

7 truth , so help you God? 

8 THE DEFENDANT: Yes , sir . 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 



EXAMINATION - SHANTELL SHAW 

1 SHANTELL SHAW, 

2 was thereupon called as a witness on behalf of the 

3 Court , and having been first duly s worn , was 

4 examined a nd testified as follows : 

5 BY THE COURT: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Ms. Shaw , f irst , how old are you ? 

Forty. 

And how far did you go i n schoo l ? 

I li ke 12 hours from a Ph . D. 

Spea k a l itt l e louder . 

Abou t 1 2 hour s from a Ph . D. 

Oh , I see. 

You ca n read and write and understand? 

14 A . Yes. 

11 

15 Q. And were you able to read the plea agreement in t hi s 

16 case? 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

A . Yes , sir . 

Q. Ha ve you had ample opportun ity to speak with your 

attorney about it? 

A . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

Do you understand the terms of the pl ea agreement? 

Yes . 

Now , are you under t he influence of a ny medications, 

24 drugs or anything like t hat today? 

25 A . No . I mean I have --
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1 (The defendant conferred with Mr. Scholl . ) 

2 BY MR. SCHOLL: 

3 Q. Are you under a ny ki nd of medication , anything l ike 

4 that? 

5 MR. SCHOLL: She takes an a nt idepressant , 

6 Judge. 

7 What he ' s asking i s , is there anything about 

8 those drugs t hat you're taking right now t hat would 

9 i nfluence the way you understand what is going on today? 

10 THE DEFENDANT: NO , I understand. 

11 BY THE COURT: 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

So you can understand everything? 

Yes , sir . 

No problem? 

Yes , sir . 

All right . I need to go over with you -- I will take 

all the time you need , but I need to go over with you the 

rights you ' re waiving as well as the plea agreement . 

A. Okay. 

Q. I need to make s ure that you understand everything . 

A. Okay . 

Q. First of all , were you l i s t ening to the facts t hat t he 

prosecutor gave? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

And were you involved in t hat conspiracy? 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

EXAMINATION - SHANTELL SHAW 

I was . 

Did you do those things? 

Yes , sir. 

You ' re freely admitting your guilt? 

Yes , sir. 

13 

A . 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. Now , the plea agreement I just mentioned, I think you 

7 have it in front of you? 

8 

9 

A. 

Q. 

Yes , sir . 

If you would pull that out , we ' re going to go over 

10 several of the terms of the pl ea agreement . I would like for 

11 you to look at the last page of the plea agreeme nt , if you 

12 would . That ' s the signature blocks t hat are there. The one 

13 on the bottom says Shantell Shaw , that ' s you , is that correct? 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes , 

Did 

Yes , 

And 

Yes , 

And 

sir . 

you sign there? 

I did. 

also date it? 

sir. 

just above there , there ' s a signature block for 

20 your attorney , Mr . Scholl , did he also sign it? 

21 

22 

23 

24 

A. 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

Yes , sir . 

And he also dated it? 

Yes. 

And as I said , you have gone over this with him, you 

25 have had an opportunity to read it , and you do understand it? 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 
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A . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Uh-huh. 

I need you to answer yes or no. 

No. 

Because we ' re recording everything . 

14 

We ' re going to come back to the plea agreement in just 

a few minutes , but I do want to go over with you certain 

rights that you ' re waiving at this time , okay? 

A . Okay . 

Q. First of all , you have a right to have this case 

10 presented to the grand j ury , federal grand jury . In fact , I 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

can' t even proceed unless you waive your right t o have it 

presented to the grand jury . That ' s what the other form is 

that you have there, waiver of i ndictment and presentment . 

Have you had an opportunity to read that? 

A. Yes , sir . 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

Have you gone over it with your attorney? 

Yes , sir. 

Do you understand by signing that document , you are 

19 g i ving up your right to have the case proceed to the grand 

20 jury? 

21 A . Yes , sir. 

22 

23 

24 

Q. NOW , 

signature , 

t he form there where it says defendant ' s 

did you sign that? 

MR . SCHOLL: I waited to have her sign it i n 

25 front of Your Honor. 
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1 THE COURT : Okay. No problem. 

2 BY THE COURT : 

3 Q . And there ' s also a place for your attorney to sign . It 

4 is looking like you have signed it as well as your attorney. 

5 Okay. Pass it to me. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

So do you understand the impact of waiving your right 

to indictment? 

A. Yes , sir . 

Q. 

A . 

And that ' s how you want to proceed? 

Yes , sir . 

Q . Okay . Now , the next thing I need to go over with you 

are your trial rights . 

A. Okay. 

Q . I realize you're pleading guilty today , but you do have 

an absolute right to have a jury trial i n this case . If you 

told me you wanted a trial , we would identify a trial date , 

call for a jury , and the jurors would come in and they would 

sit in those chairs right over t here , they would l i sten to all 

the testimony from all the witnesses . You see , the government 

would be required to prove this case to the satisfaction of 

the jury beyond a reasonable doubt. The government would call 

their witnesses t o testify , they would be under oath , you 

would be present in the courtroom when t hose witnesses 

testified so you could hear what they had to say . Your 

lawyer , Mr . Scholl , would be wi t h you , and he wou l d be able to 
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2 
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cross-examine t hose witnesses , you know, 

in other words, confront the witnesses . 

A. Yes . 

16 

ask them quest ions , 

Do you understand? 

4 Q. After the government presented its case , you would have 

5 an opportunity to put on proof . If you had witnesses you 

6 wanted to testify , if you had a defense you wanted to present , 

7 Mr . Schol l would subpoena your wit nesses and get them down 

8 here to testify . If he had trouble getti ng those witnesses 

9 down here , I would send the marshal out to go and get your 

10 witnesses and bring them down here to testify . Do you 

11 understand? 

12 

13 

A . 

Q. 

Yes. 

Also , you have the right to test ify . You also have the 

14 right to remai n silent. After you discussed it with your 

15 attorney , you would make the decision and let me know what you 

16 wanted to do , if you wanted to testify or remain silent . If 

17 you decided you wanted to testify , you could tell the jury in 

18 your own words what had happened , and I would explain to the 

19 jury , they would have to handle your testimony as they would 

20 any other witness. I use the same rules to test your 

21 credibility as any other witness . On the other hand , if you 

22 decide to remain silent , it would be your absolute right , you 

23 don ' t have to testify , and I would tell the jury that they 

24 could consider your silence for no purpose whatsoever. They 

25 could not consider it . Do you understand? 
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Yes , sir . A. 

Q. Now , after the jury heard the testimony of all the 

3 witnesses, the j u ry would decide if you were guilty or not 

4 guilty. Of course , if t hey found you guilty , I wou ld sentence 

5 you according to t h e law . You would have the right to appeal 

6 the sentence and the conviction to the Court of Appeals. And 

7 if you did appeal, you have the right to be represented by 

8 counsel , Mr. Scholl would represent you on your appeal , and if 

9 you couldn ' t afford an attorney , I would appoint one for you . 

10 Do you understand? 

11 A. Yes , sir. 

12 Q. But you see when you plead guilty , you give up all of 

13 those rights . It ' s not going to be presented to the grand 

14 jury. There ' s not going to be a trial . All those things that 

15 we talked about will be gone after today. The only thing will 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

be this plea agreement and the determination of what your 

sentence is ; do you understand? 

A . Yes , sir. 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

Are you doing this freely and voluntarily? 

Yes , sir. 

Is anyone forcing you to plead guilty? 

No, sir. 

Who made the decision to plead guilty today? 

I did. 

Are you satisfied with the representation your lawyer 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 
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22 

23 

24 

25 

EXAMINATI ON - SHANTELL SHAW 

has given you? 

A. Yes , sir . 

Q. Okay . Now , let ' s go over the plea agreement . 

(Thi s portion of the t ran script is sealed. ) 
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Q. All right. And I believe those are the terms of the 

plea agreement . I think I have asked you , you understand it , 

you have read it? 

A. Yes . 

Q. 

A. 

And thi s is how you want to proceed? 

Yes , sir . 

Q. Now , this is a felony that you ' re pleading guilty to. 

What that means is you are what we ca ll rendered infamous , 

that means you lose certain rights like the right to vote , the 

right to sit on a jury , and from this day forward , it will be 

illegal for you to possess a firearm; do you understand? 

A. Yes. 

Q. The range of punishment on this offense , the 371 

conspiracy is not more than f i ve years confinement with the 

Bureau of Prisons. Now , you understand there will be a 

sentencing range based on your activity, but I have to make 

sure that you understand the range of punishment for the -

under t he statute for this o f fense , t hat ' s not less -- not 

more than five years; do you understand? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes . 

And then also there ' s a possible fine of not more than 
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1 $250 , 000 , okay? 

Okay. 2 

3 

A . 

Q. And we have a lso talked about the special assessment of 

4 $100 , and there will be some time , I th i nk not more than three 

5 years of supervised r el ease ; do you understand? 

6 

7 

A. Yes . 

(Mr. Scholl confer red with the de f e ndant . ) 

8 MR. SCHOLL : I was just explaining to her t hat 

9 was t he maximum range , Judge , and t hat did no t c hange what 

10 I had dis c ussed with he r about my legal estimate o f her 

11 sente nce. 

12 BY THE COURT: 

13 Q. Right , that ' s what I ' m trying to explain . That ' s t he 

14 range of punis hment fo r the statute , but the re wil l be a nother 

15 calculation more s pecifi c to your c onduct , and t hat ' s what we 

16 wi ll b e worki ng with at the sentence hearing . 

17 

18 

1 9 

20 

21 

22 

A. 

Q. 

A . 

Q. 

A . 

Oka y . 

Oka y . Do you have a ny quest ions abou t this at all? 

No. 

Okay . Is th is how you want t o p r oceed? 

Yes. 

THE COURT: Have I left out a nything , 

23 Mr . Scholl? 

24 

25 

MR. SCHOLL: No , You r Ho nor . 

THE COURT: Mr . Fabian? 
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1 MR. FABIAN: No , Your Honor. 

2 THE COURT: Anything from Probation? 

3 THE PROBATION OFFICER: If we could interview 

4 Ms . Shaw today and get the AOSA file , that would be 

5 helpful . 

6 THE COURT : If y ' all can proceed with the 

7 in terview today , that would be helpful . If not, you can 

8 make arrangements as soon as possible ~n the next few days 

9 or so , I would appreciate it . 

10 MR. SCHOLL: We ' re going to go turn her in at 

11 the U. S . Marshal ' s office right this after , J udge , and 

12 she can go after that . I think she has to stop by the U. 

13 S. Attorney ' s off i ce for a moment. 

14 THE COURT: Mr . Fabian , can you share the 

15 information with Probation? 

16 MR. FABIAN: I can . I have not spoken 

17 specifically about this case , but I would request if they 

18 could meet wi th me , that way, I can provide them rather 

19 than give overwhelmi ng materials , just the materia ls that 

20 are specific to this individual that will enable them to 

21 proceed . 

22 THE COURT: I ' m sure y ' all can work t hat out 

23 late r on today or tomorrow . 

24 MR . FABIAN : Absolut e ly , Your Honor . 

25 THE COURT: All right . Anything else? If not , 
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1 then we need t o go ahead and fil e everything , and we need 

2 t o get a sentencing date. Do we have a date? 

3 THE CLERK: Yes , Your Honor . Thursday , January 

4 10th , 2 01 3 at 1 : 30 p.m. 

5 MR. SCHOLL: Judge , can we go maybe a week or 

6 two later than t hat , I think I ' m going to be out of town 

7 that wee k? 

8 THE COURT: Let ' s go to t he next Thursday and 

9 put t hem in t he morning. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Thursday , 

Honor. 

THE CLERK: In the morning , yes , sir . 

January the 17th at 9:00 a.m . 

THE COURT: How does t hat sound? 

MR. SCHOLL: That ' s fi ne , Your Honor . 

MR. FABIAN: It works for the government , Your 

THE COURT: All right , Ms . Shaw , go ahead , and 

17 your attorney has a couple of p l aces to take you. I will 

18 see you in January . 

19 

20 bond? 

21 

THE PRETRIAL OFFICER : Your Honor , real quick , 

MR. SCHOLL: Judge , I think t he parties are 

22 agreeing on a n ROR bond in this situation . 

23 

24 

THE COURT: That ' s no prob l em . ROR. 

MR. FABIAN : Your Honor, just to be clear , the 

25 government would recommend travel restriction to the 



1 Western District of Tennessee , t h ird party notification 

2 and efforts to maintain or seek employment. 

3 THE COURT: Okay . Any objection to any of 

4 that? 

MR. SCHOLL: No , Your Honor . 

THE COURT: Okay . 

(Mr . Scholl conferred with the defendant.) 

MR. SCHOLL: Judge --

22 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 THE COURT: I don ' t have any problem wi t h her 

10 traveling to visit fami l y , I think , in Lou i siana . 

11 MR. SCHOLL: And Mis s i ssippi , Judge . 

12 THE COURT: Bu t you wi ll need to g e t -- notify 

13 and get permission f rom Pretrial. 

14 

1 5 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

2 1 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Ho nor. 

MR. SCHOLL: That ' s f ine . That's f ine , Your 

(This matter concluded at 1:39 p.m.) 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

WESTERN DIVISION 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,       )        
      ) Cr. No.      
 Plaintiff,    )   
      ) 18 U.S.C. § 371  
v.      ) 18 U.S.C. § 1343  
      ) 42 U.S.C. § 408(a)(7)(B)  
CEDRICK WILSON,    )       
      )  
 Defendant.    )  
        

I N D I C T M E N T 
 
THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. At all times material herein: 

a. Educational Testing Service (“ETS”) was a private nonprofit educational testing and 

assessment organization with headquarters in Princeton, New Jersey. One series of 

tests written and administered by ETS was the PRAXIS series, components of which are 

required by many states for individuals entering the teaching profession or for teachers 

obtaining subject-specific endorsements on their teaching licenses. 

b. Tennessee was among the states that required individuals entering the teaching 

profession and teachers obtaining subject-specific endorsements on their teaching 

licenses to take and pass PRAXIS examinations. 

c. In Tennessee, other than teachers who obtained their licenses prior to 1984, certain out-

of-state teachers obtaining reciprocal licenses, and teachers using transitional licenses, 

teachers were required to take and pass PRAXIS examinations to be licensed. 

d. ETS charged fees to individuals who took the PRAXIS examinations. The results of the 

examination were relied upon by the Departments of Education in Arkansas, Mississippi 

and Tennessee for the issuance of licenses. 
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e. Because Tennessee required an individual’s social security number to process educator 

certification paperwork, individuals taking PRAXIS examinations were required to 

provide their social security numbers to ETS as part of the PRAXIS registration process.  

f. ETS owned copyrights in the PRAXIS examinations and questions, and the registered 

trademark, “PRAXIS,” as used on the examinations and score reports. ETS also 

developed specialized test administration and scoring services for the PRAXIS 

examinations. To keep its PRAXIS product exclusive, secure and confidential, ETS 

restricted access to and use of its copyrighted PRAXIS examinations and questions and 

trademarked PRAXIS score reports, as well as its PRAXIS test administration and 

scoring services. 

g. Individuals taking the PRAXIS examination tests registered for the tests online. The 

registration process therefore involved wire communications from the computers at 

which registrants registered with ETS in Princeton, New Jersey. 

h. Individuals taking the PRAXIS examination tests signed confidentiality statements 

certifying that the person taking the test was the person whose name and address was 

used in the application process. In addition, those taking the test agreed to maintain the 

full confidentiality of all test questions and agreed not to reproduce and/or disclose any 

test question to anyone. Individuals unwilling to agree to these conditions would not be 

permitted to take an examination. Each individual taking a PRAXIS was also required to 

present his or her driver’s license at the test-taking center. 

i. Once an exam was completed, exam results were wired from the test location in 

Arkansas to ETS in Princeton, New Jersey for processing. Individuals in whose name 

the exams were registered obtained their scores either via a score report mailed to them 

by ETS or via interstate wire communication through use of the internet.  

j. ETS developed substantial goodwill from development and administration of the PRAXIS 

examinations, some of which was based on the integrity of the testing processes. ETS 
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had property interests in the PRAXIS product, including (i) materials bearing its 

trademarks, such as the PRAXIS examinations and score reports, (ii) its copyrighted 

materials, such as the PRAXIS examinations and their questions, and (iii) the ETS-

specified test administration and scoring services for the PRAXIS examinations. ETS 

also had property interests in the value of its goodwill, which is an asset of ETS and is 

based, in part, on maintaining the integrity of the testing and security process. 

k. Successful passage of PRAXIS examinations was an inducement for the Memphis City 

Schools to hire an individual given that successful passage of PRAXIS examinations is a 

necessary prerequisite to an individual obtaining a license from the Tennessee 

Department of Education. 

COUNT 1 

THE CONSPIRACY 

1. Beginning in or about April 2009, the exact date being unknown to the Grand Jury, and 

continuing until at least on or about January 16, 2010, in the Western District of 

Tennessee, and elsewhere, the defendant, 

--------------------------------------------------- CEDRICK WILSON ----------------------------------------------- 
 
did unlawfully, willfully and knowingly combine, conspire, confederate and agree with Clarence 

Mumford, and with other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenses 

against the United States, that is: 

a. To use and cause to be used interstate wire communications in furtherance of a scheme 

and artifice to defraud and for obtaining money or property by means of false or 

fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, in violation of Title 18, United 

States Code, Section 1343; 

b. Falsely representing a Social Security number to be assigned to a person other than the 

person to whom the number is truly assigned, with intent to deceive, for the purpose of 
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obtaining any payment or any other purpose, in violation of Title 42, United States Code, 

Section 408(a)(7)(B). 

OBJECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY 

2. The objects of the conspiracy are set forth as follows: 

a. It was an object of the conspiracy to defraud ETS of property by obtaining access to and 

use of ETS’s trademarked materials, copyrighted materials and services, by obtaining 

ETS’s official score report, and by obtaining the benefit of, and undermining, ETS’s 

goodwill and the value of its trademark and copyright. 

b. It was an object of the conspiracy to defraud the Memphis City Schools by falsely 

representing to the Memphis City Schools that DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON had 

passed certain PRAXIS examinations to induce the Memphis City Schools to hire 

DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON when DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON had not, in 

fact, passed the PRAXIS examinations he represented that he had passed. These 

PRAXIS examinations were in the subjects Physical Education: Content Knowledge and 

Physical Education: Movement Forms – Analysis and Design. 

c. It was an object of the conspiracy for a test-taker hired by Clarence Mumford to use the 

social security number of DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON to take the  Physical 

Education: Content Knowledge and Physical Education: Movement Forms – Analysis 

and Design PRAXIS examinations. 

d. It was a principle object and purpose of the conspiracy to carry out and to execute the 

above-listed objects of the conspiracy for the ultimate personal gain, benefit, profit, 

advantage, and accommodation of DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON and Clarence 

Mumford. 

 
MANNER AND MEANS OF THE  

CONSPIRACY AND SCHEME  TO DEFRAUD 
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3. The manner and means by which the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud 

functioned is more particularly set forth as follows: 

a. It was part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that DEFENDANT 

CEDRICK WILSON or someone acting on his behalf registered DEFENDANT 

CEDRICK WILSON via the internet for Physical Education: Content Knowledge and 

Physical Education: Movement Forms – Analysis and Design PRAXIS examinations.. 

The registration was paid by use of a credit card in Clarence Mumford’s name. The 

telephone number listed in the registration belonged to Clarence Mumford. 

b.  It was further part of the conspiracy and the scheme and artifice to defraud that 

DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON’s social security number was used in the PRAXIS 

registration process.   

c. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that a test-taker appeared to 

take the PRAXIS examinations at Phillips Community College of the University of 

Arkansas, located in Helena, Arkansas, and falsely identified himself as DEFENDANT 

CEDRICK WILSON. The test-taker used DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON’s social 

security number to take the examinations. 

d. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that the test-taker, posing as 

DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON, signed confidentiality statements in DEFENDANT 

CEDRICK WILSON’s name. 

e. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that the score reports mailed by 

ETS contained DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON’s social security number. 

f. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that DEFENDANT CEDRICK 

WILSON submitted the score reports for the Physical Education: Content Knowledge 

and Physical Education: Movement Forms – Analysis and Design PRAXIS examinations 

taken by the test-taker to the Memphis City Schools in support of an application for 

employment. 
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g. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that DEFENDANT CEDRICK 

WILSON submitted an online “Teacher Track” application to the Memphis City Schools 

on or about January 16, 2010. In a section labeled “Educational Testing,” DEFENDANT 

CEDRICK WILSON represented that he had taken the Physical Education: Content 

Knowledge and Physical Education: Movement Forms – Analysis and Design PRAXIS 

examinations. that were, in fact, taken by a test-taker other than DEFENDANT 

CEDRICK WILSON. 

OVERT ACTS IN FURTHERANCE OF THE CONSPIRACY 

4. At all times hereinafter mentioned, during the pendency of the conspiracy, the following 

overt acts were engaged in, in the Western District of Tennessee and elsewhere, at least one of 

which furthered and effected the goals of said combination, conspiracy, confederation and 

agreement: 

Overt Act No. Date Act 
1 04.08.2009 On or about this date, DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON or 

someone acting on his behalf registered online for Physical 
Education: Content Knowledge and Physical Education: 
Movement Forms – Analysis and Design PRAXIS 
examinations to be taken on April 25, 2009 in his name. 
The registration involved the use of DEFENDANT 
CEDRICK WILSON’s social security number. 

2 04.25.2009 A test-taker took Physical Education: Content Knowledge 
and Physical Education: Movement Forms – Analysis and 
Design PRAXIS examinations on behalf of DEFENDANT 
CEDRICK WILSON. The test-taker listed DEFENDANT 
CEDRICK WILSON’s social security number on the 
examination sheets. 

3 01.16.2010 DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON submitted an application 
to the Memphis City Schools citing the scores for the April 
25, 2009 Physical Education: Content Knowledge and 
Physical Education: Movement Forms – Analysis and 
Design PRAXIS examinations taken by a test-taker sent by 
Clarence Mumford. 

 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. 

COUNT 2 
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1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1(a) through and including 1(k),  and 

paragraphs 3(a) through and including 3(g) of Count 1 of this Indictment are re-alleged and 

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.   

2. On or about April 8, 2009, in the Western District Tennessee and elsewhere, for the 

purpose of executing and attempting to execute the aforementioned scheme and artifice to 

defraud, and to obtain money by means of false and fraudulent pretenses and representations, 

DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON, being aided and abetted by others known and unknown to 

the Grand Jury, did cause to be transmitted in interstate commerce by means of wire 

communications, certain signs, signals and sounds an internet registration on behalf of 

DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON for Physical Education: Content Knowledge and Physical 

Education: Movement Forms – Analysis and Design PRAXIS examinations to be taken on April 

25, 2009 at Phillips Community College of the University of Arkansas, located in Helena, 

Arkansas, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 
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COUNT 3 

1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1(a) through and including 1(k),  and 

paragraphs 3(a) through and including 3(g) of Count 1 of this Indictment are re-alleged and 

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.   

2. On or about April 25, 2009, in the Western District of Tennessee and elsewhere, 

DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON, being aided and abetted by others known and unknown to 

the Grand Jury, for the purpose of obtaining something of value and for other purposes, 

knowingly, willfully and with the intent to deceive, falsely and fraudulently represented, and 

caused to be represented that a test-taker taking a Physical Education: Content Knowledge 

PRAXIS examination on behalf of DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON possessed social security 

number xxx-xx-8466 when, in fact, this social security account number was assigned to 

DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON, in violation of Title 42, United States Code, Section 

408(a)(7)(B). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COUNT 4 
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1. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1(a) through and including 1(k),  and 

paragraphs 3(a) through and including 3(g) of Count 1 of this Indictment are re-alleged and 

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.   

2. On or about April 25, 2009, in the Western District of Tennessee and elsewhere, 

DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON, being aided and abetted by others known and unknown to 

the Grand Jury, for the purpose of obtaining something of value and for other purposes, 

knowingly, willfully and with the intent to deceive, falsely and fraudulently represented, and 

caused to be represented that a test-taker taking a Physical Education: Movement Forms – 

Analysis and Design PRAXIS examination on behalf of DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON 

possessed social security number xxx-xx-8466 when, in fact, this social security account 

number was assigned to DEFENDANT CEDRICK WILSON, in violation of Title 42, United 

States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(B). 

 

       A TRUE BILL: 
 
      
                                                                  
       F O R E P E R S O N  

 
 
 

DATE:______________________ 
 
 
      
EDWARD L. STANTON III 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
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